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China XLX Culture
R EI/OE O
We adhere to the culture of integrity and the corporate spirit of "working

hard to fulfil the needs of our customers" and we are committed to creating
the greatest value for the society with the least resources.

BPEBFHEX M TBCREEM WmERATRI MR -
HARAZRLPNERSEERIERANEE -

Focus on ourselves over the others
Prioritize subjective over objectivity
Value the end result over the process
HECTHERA

HIBTEEE

ERRTERE

Dedicated to hard work
Satisfy the needs of others
BoREEM

W RIATR R

Integrity
HIE
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Company Profile
ARAER

The Company'’s Strategic Positioning and Tactics

N E B T ER R A

“1“ Corporate Vision ﬁ
M]ELERES :

“1” Core Mission

[1] & OMER

“2"” Adherences

[2] EER%
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Operation and Development Goals of the "Three" Major Bases

i [SIAEHSERRER

The Henan base will create a green and efficient benchmark for the coal chemical industry
e The forthcoming three years will be devoted to the “optimization of stock and strengthening incremental assets’, implementation of
\\“'} the strategy of “low-cost + differentiation + efficient operation’, as well as strengthening and refining various “fertiliser and chemical"
products. By leveraging the scale effect of the base, the chemical industry park will become digital and intelligent, and continue
to enhance the efficient operational advantages of “utilizing rooting approach for fertiliser synergy”. We will fully utilize the base’s

RS | potential as a big platform to realize the integrated management upgrade of the park, and support the high-quality development and
j N off-site expansion of the base. i =
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The Jiangxi base will build a modernized chemical demonstration park along the river based on the strategy of “fertiliser as
the foundation, fertiliser and chemical side by side”

Our three-year plan is to combine the park's resources by "strengthening the base and extending the chain" and concentrate on the
growth of our four business sectors, being basic chemicals, high efficiency fertilisers, fine chemicals and new materials. The goal is to
surpass RMB10 billion in revenue for the base and RMB1 million in per capita labor efficiency.
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The Xinjiang base will become the most competitive high resource conversion base in the PRC
The three main goals that we will concentrate on over the next three years are "stabilizing the foundation, strengthening the
chain, and extending the chain’, and integrate internal and external resources to focus on the three major tasks of “increasing
quantity and improving quality of chemical fertilisers, improving the scale and technology of melamine, and premiumization
of new polyformaldehyde materials”. As a result, we will establish three leading brands of chemical fertilisers, melamine, and
polyformaldehyde, and together we will build a 10-billion base that will serve as an important growth pole for the Group as it works
towards its ultimate goal of reaching 100-billion market capitalization.

HEEMEABEAABRTHRBNSERE AL
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Company Profile
REER

Located in the economic and technological industrial cluster of Xinxiang, Henan Province, it endeavours to build a
recycling, economic and chemical industry park with multiple ends, green environmental protection, high efficiency

and energy conservation

R BEERMEXERR ENTE—BZRE SRR  SHOHRARREECIER
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Located in the Jishan Chemical Industrial Park, Jiujiang, Jiangxi Province, it endeavours to build a smart and modern coal
chemical production base with leading techniques in environmental protection and excellent profitability

SINIEE IR TRERE - ENITERREEL - BRI —ROERECRARRETEERD
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Company Profile
REER

I .
B

il
i
|

1Y

Located in the Taxihe Industrial Park, Baojiadian Town, Manas County, Xinjiang Province, it endeavours to build a green
production base with high resource conversion, industrial chain synergy and unique product features

R ER AT HEREEERN LERERER - ENTESEREL  EX#ERR  EnFeRENGeHsE
i
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China XLX was incorporated with limited liability on 17 July 2006 in
Singapore under the Companies Act 1967, with the Group's registered
office at 9 Raffles Place, #26-01 Republic Plaza, Singapore 048619. China XLX
has been listed on the Main Board of the SEHK since 8 December 2009 with
stock code "1866"

The Group'’s headquarters and principal place of business is located in
Xinxiang Economic Development Zone, Henan Province, Taxihe Industrial
Park, Baojiadian Town, Manas County, Changji Prefecture, Xinjiang
Province, and Jishan Industrial Zone, Jiujiang City, Jiangxi Province in the
People’s Republic of China (the "PRC"). The Group is principally engaged in
investment holding. The principal business of the Group’s subsidiaries is the
R&D, production and trading of urea, compound fertiliser, methanol, DMF,
melamine, liquid ammonia, urea solution for vehicle, medical intermediate
and other related differentiated products.

The Group (also known as "XLX Group”) has always been adhering to the
technology-leading development strategy and owns scientific research
platforms such as the “National Enterprise Technology Centre’,"Postdoctoral
Research Station” and “Henan Provincial Fertiliser Production System
Energy Saving and Engineering Technology Research Centre” while actively
responding to the national development strategies of “cut fertilisers and
increase efficiency” and “soil testing and formula fertilization”. The Group
took the lead in proposing the brand positioning of “Chinese high-
efficiency fertiliser advocator” among the industry, and jointly developed
and promoted high-efficiency fertiliser products with the Chinese Academy
of Sciences and other scientific research divisions, so as to achieve
differentiation and refine the layout for fertiliser products.
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Company Profile
REER

- Nitrogen Fertiliser efficient
utilization innovation center and
National Enterprise Technology
Centre

- RIES A BEIFTH O

B SR 1 SRR AR

- Awarded “Standard Enterprise
for Synthetic Ammonia
Efficiency Leaders” by the
China Petroleum and Chemical
Industry Federation for twelve
consecutive years

- BET_FRETEH
AHA b 22 TSR
BBRE &R
FEEREEE
BT

—
()
A

- Water manure integration
engineering technology research
center

- JKRE— B L AR AFE A 0

&)

China XLX 2023 Annual Report

- Post-doctoral Research Station

- BB TIE

LA
O
=)o

- New/High Tech Enterprise in the
PRC (enjoying preferential income
tax rate of 15%)

- MESHREMEE(ZR15%8
BEMEHRE)

=>

- First producer mastering the
controlled release urea production
patented technology in the PRC

- FEE-REBEBERRELE
ERIRMTEY A E R

- State-level green factory

- BRI

>
]

- First state-level nitrogen fertiliser
research center and national
efficient agriculture service center
in the PRC

- BEBRRKR RSO
EEMESBRERE T L

- All our production facilities adopt
new coal gasification technology

- AERESHBERAFEERL
A




Scale advantage of our nationwide
production bases layout

2EEMHRNRIEERS

3 ,

Our obvious industry leading and cost
effective advantage

TREER  RAREEBHR

()

Our advantage in differentiated
products strategy

ER{CERBIRES

o

"

“Flexible adjustment between products
production mode

[—SRZE FUEREGH] OEERN

°

Our dominant brand and sales network

58 A B B R A 8 5 A8 AR

o

Strong and healthy operating cash flow
R RAEER N

o

Stable, experienced management team
and highly loyal employees
FEBTRERLYENEEEN
KeEEHET

09

Continuously improving corporate
governance and internal supervision

P EMEEE RMARRE
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Corporate Information
AEEHR

BOARD
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YAN Yunhua
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LI Shengxiao
ONG Wei Jin
LI'Hongxing
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Corporate Information
AEEHR

HEADQUARTERS

Xinxiang Economic Development Zone
Henan Province
PRC 453731

STOCK CODE

Hong Kong Stock Code: 1866

CORPORATE WEBSITE

www.chinaxlx.com.hk
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Financial Highlights

MBEHE
RESULTS PERFORMANCE EERR
(RMB million) (AR¥BRET)
2022 Change (%)
ZEICFE 5] b 418 (%)
Revenue WA 23,475 23,072 17
Cost of sales SHEKA (19,288) (18,723) 3
Gross profit EH| 4,187 4,349 3.7)
Profit before tax KA BT &R 1,940 2,181 an
Income tax expense Fr{SEF 2 (302) (372) (19)
Net profit Rl 1,637 1,808 (©)
Owners of the parent S e bE 1,187 1326 (10)
Basic and diluted earnings per share AR EEAR K #E 2 7| 96.95 109.67 (11.6)
(RMB cents) (ARES)
Dividend per share (RMB cents) BRIRE(ARESD) 24 25 )
I
REVENUE BREAKDOWN BY SEGMENT TEEmBA

FY2023
—ECCHBREE
® Urea @ Compound Fertiliser
K& EEE
@ Urea Solution For Vehicle @ Melamine
HRRFRAR =BEKR
® Other
EAfih

FY2022

_%_-
—=

—_HMREFE

© Methanol
iz

@ Medical Intermediate
Be b fEEg

® Liquid Ammonia
RE

@ DMF
AR

MELED T FER
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Major Events in 2023
“EI=FEKRER

1 H JANUARY

Jiangxi XLX has successfully passed the
assessment and became a national high-tech

enterprise.
LFLE LK BBRTE - ARSI
=

2 H FEBRUARY

Henan Black Ecological Technology Co., Ltd. has been
successfully commenced its fulvic acid product upgrade
project with an annual output of 50,000 tons.

A REERERRARARFE BMEREERARER
e

3 H MARCH

The commencement ceremony of Xinjiang
XLX's polyformaldehyde project was
successfully held.

Fo8OuE O B EE 1 B B TEUER 81T -

The Ministry of Industry and Information
Technology announced the 2022 Green
Factory list, and Jiangxi XLX was recognized
as a“National Green Factory’”.

B ZX T3 A {5 S b B0 A 5 2022 FF [E 4R 2 2
fﬁ%jﬁ OIADELERER [BERBAERE
T o
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4ﬁ APRIL

Jiangxi XLX was awarded the 2022 Benchmark Unit of
“Raw Material Fuel and Power Consumption” Industry
for coal-to-methanol.
IAELELRERGRE S - —FF [ RSN
A TR AL -

5)% MAY

Jiangxi XLX's Phase | 20,000-ton Mannheim potassium
sulfate project has successfully commenced and
produced qualified products.
TEbEL—H28WMSEEMEINER - KYFHE
I R ZE H AR Em

7 &

175 0 0 A 2 Tl Ay B2 wi)
“20224F JEBURL A EESD T W ECA ol & b
BRAE B CHE T PR )

6ﬁ JUNE

Xinjiang XLX was approved to establish a National
Post-Doctoral Scientific Research Workstation to carry
out post-doctoral recruitment and training.

e O EOBERER . 2 B e B Tt - REE
TRBERETE-

Henan XLX carried out the first largest-scale medium
overhaul in history.
AEOEOHRESL FEREARERE

RELED — T —FER
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Major Events in 2023
“ERI=FEARSER

7 B suy

In 2023, the Fortune China 500 list was
released. China XLX Fertiliser Ltd. was included
in the list for the first time.

—Z = = F(HE )P B 50058 B TS B - R
DEMEEBR A R EIX ARG TES -

China XLX 2023 Annual Report

8 H AUGUST

The XLX Group was awarded the honorary title of “2022
Henan Rural Revitalization in Xinxiang City cum "99 Giving
Day” Activity Caring Unit”and donated RMB1 million to the
“99 Giving Day" activity in 2023 to support rural revitalization.
DNE DR B ERE [ AR TH 2022 SE AR BUR R 52 [ 99 N am
B1EBEOEN | BB WAZZE_=F 99 mA )&
/K100 ETT - Bh AR EL




9 H SEPTEMBER

The XLX Group has achieved synthetic ammonia efficiency for twelve
consecutive years with a comprehensive energy consumption
of 1,175 kilograms of standard coal for every ton of ammonia.
Jiangxi XLX was recognised as the benchmark enterprise of the
“Synthetic Ammonia Efficiency Leader” with a comprehensive energy
consumption of 1,269 kilograms of standard coal for every ton of
methanol. Two products of the Company, namely synthetic ammonia
and methanol, for the first time, achieved “dual leadership”in terms of
energy efficiency.

SEOEBAMBRAREGEERE 175 TRIZE - BRAKAER | T 2&
| TFLE A ANE R EZAR S RERE 1,260 TR - AT /R P B AR
WEFTRE  RABRERANE - PEMEE iR [EER] -

1 O H OCTOBER

The urea project, a green manufacturing initiative, has
effectively began operations, with a planned output
capacity of 700,000 tons annually. It used the cutting-
edge Stamicarbon 5XX ultra-low energy consumption
process, which offers numerous benefits in terms of
energy savings.

GEREIEARETRAERY) - RETEE 70BN F

RA ST HTE R RESSXGER R BEFE L &L © ERALEER AR o

hBLOED — T - —FFIR
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Major Eventsin 2023
“ERI=FEARSER

1 1 H NOVEMBER

The 2023 Navel Orange Industry High-Quality
Development and Water and Fertiliser Integration
Technology Exchange Conference, jointly organized
by the National Agricultural Technology Extension
Center of the Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Affairs
of the PRC, the Ningdu County People’s Government,
and the XLX Group was held in Ningdu County,
Jiangxi to help farmers save water and fertiliser, as
well as improve quality and increase production.
HERREENBEBEEERMHERERL - ZEHEA
EB(JH SHELEEERBBN20BEREXSES

REKE—RBIERTRARSEIAEHHESE
?ﬁ C BBRFERUKEL - SREIRE
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1 2 H DECEMBER

Henan XLX was elected as the vice-chairman unit
of the Green Ammonia and Green Alcohol Industry
Alliance.

RS BB R AR I E I B EIR R AL o

In Tianmen, Hubei, the marketing transformation
project launch meeting for the XLX Group was
conducted with great success. We have the guts to
“pave a new way" by inventing, overcoming obstacles,
and exploring novel models and techniques based
on organizational system transformation in order to
create a marketing transformation path that works
for the Company.

SELEEEHEAIE B X B e et RPIIER B
- EEBZSREENER - BREIN - TR
B DA TEAILBCES | (B RIREIES - F470% - R
HES DEO & HER 2 K -




Chairman’s Statement
FERE

iy L4
oUE- 410V
LIU Xingxu 2| &g
Chairman of the Board

BEEeLE e

£y,

RS VIR BN

Dear Shareholders,

| would like to express my gratitude for your confidence in, and support to XLX Group.

HEDED —T_=FFH 19
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Chairman’s Statement
FERE

Serve with Heart and Operate Steadily

The fertiliser industry started to pick up again in 2023, while chemical products seemed to be slowing down because of the
general slump in the economy. For the first time, the Company has achieved dual energy efficiency leadership in synthetic
ammonia and methanol by controlling its pace, reducing debt, and maintaining its low-cost edge. We expanded our scale
and optimized our management, moreover, with the completion and commencement of projects such as fulvic acid upgrade
project of Henan Black Technology, Jiangxi DMF Phase I, Jiangxi Mannheim Potassium Sulfate, Henan 700,000-ton urea, etc.,
We further increased product variety and scale. We upheld and valued innovation in science and technology as well as product
R&D. Our products achieved exceptional competitiveness since we established an advanced scientific research platform and an
R&D system. In order to establish a strong basis for high-quality development and pursue consistent, long-term operation, we
will endeavor to innovate our marketing models, extend the chain of fine chemicals, and improve management.

Serve with Heart and Uphold Firm Belief

The fertiliser industry has maintained its growth momentum despite a challenging economic climate thanks to its advantages
of large market capacity, long life cycle, and rigid demand. It still has immense potential to accomplish great things in the
high-end market in the future. As the scale of land transfer within China continues to expand and increase, the Company will
continue to step up its efforts to promote water manure integration and obtain a thorough grasp of user needs in order to
expedite the high-quality development of modern agriculture.

We will stick to the “fertiliser as the foundation”approach while also focusing more on the R&D and promotion of high-efficiency
fertilisers with an aim to provide better products for farmers for producing higher quality crops with less fertiliser. We will also
stick to the “fertiliser and chemical side by side” strategy to cultivate new products with an edge and profit growth points,
strengthen both fertiliser and chemical products, achieve “two-path development”and create complementary advantages,
thereby building core competitiveness.

China XLX 2023 Annual Report



Serve with Heart and Forge Ahead

Our one-of-a-kind competitive edge is base development. With large bases serving as the core, we will use large bases as the
engine and radiate to small bases to create synergy. This will enable us to strike a balance between low cost and differentiation
and explore a superior development path that is exclusive to XLX. The Company’s three main bases—Henan, Xinjiang, and
Jiangxi—will be strengthened and improved in 2024. Based on the security, dependability, and extended life cycle of our bases,
we will keep refining the structure of our products and enhancing the caliber and competitiveness of our business operations.
In order to further increase our production capacity and sales network, we will also construct small compound fertiliser bases in
regions with high market demand and carry out a nationwide layout.

Serve with Heart and Create Better Future

We genuinely appreciate the investors’ ongoing interest in and support of us. Through close communication and mutual
understanding, we seek to expand our network of like-minded contacts in the capital market and collaborate towards the
development and creation of a better future. We will prudently manage the investment pace in the meantime and seize
development opportunities. We will also persist in upholding the fundamental principle of creating value for society and wealth
for shareholders, and we will honor our shareholders’ trust by delivering exceptional results. Without doubt, tomorrow will be
better!

LIU Xingxu
Chairman of the Board

RELED — T —FER
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Chairman’s Statement
FERE
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEE WD T
(I BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2023, global economic recovery was sluggish, acute supply and
demand mismatched, international energy and global food prices
fluctuated widely, which negatively affected fertiliser prices and
overall industry performance, resulting in a year-on-year (“YoY")
decline in the prices of the Group's coal chemical-related products.

The 700,000-ton urea project of the Group’s Xinxiang base and
the second phase of the DMF project of the Jiangxi base were
successfully put into operation, high-quality production capacity has
been further released. It has not only enhanced production capacity
and product sales, but also reduced consumption and the average
cost of the production base. The energy consumption indicators of
the Group reached the industry-leading level. This ensures that the
Group can still achieve stable revenue growth despite completing
planned maintenance.

REVENUE

Revenue increased by RMB403 million or approximately 2% from
RMB23,072 million in the financial year ended 31 December 2022
("FY2022") to RMB23,475 million in the financial year ended 31
December 2023 ("FY2023").

FINISHED UREA PRODUCTS

Revenue derived from the sales of urea increased by approximately
RMB44 million or approximately 1% from RMB6,830 million for
FY2022 to approximately RMB6,874 million for FY2023. The increase
in revenue was mainly due to a combination of an increase in sales
volume by 9% YoY, and a decrease in the average selling price by
approximately 7% YoY. In the fourth quarter, the new production
capacity of the Xinxiang base was fully released, driving overall
sales growth. At the same time, the Group actively expanded its
international trade business and penetrated into overseas markets
such as Brazil and India, driving urea export volume to increase by
112% YoY.

China XLX 2023 Annual Report

(m

EBEE

TECF REREEERS
HETFBERL - BREREREIKE
EERALE  FEEEREEIE
% BEXIAHER  BHAE
B THRBERERRLEMT

3E,
/B °

BEEAREBE M EM70E MR =
HAE RIAEM —HDMFIE B Y
IEF|I%E - FriGBEERE—TE
B BRSO T AERE N RAE®R
HE 0 XK TIHERFEIMA
FETAEETITEMNEREELT
il o FERAEBEEIEF A aT 214
ERETRT @ DERERNIETEIE
Eo

A

Hez_Z2_=ZF+-_RA=+—
Bt BERE(IZZFZ=K
FEDASEERKALODAR
¥ 23,4750000007C * B & = &
T+ A=+ HILBEBRFE
([ZZ2Z—HBREEDNOAR
5 23,072,000,000 7T 18 H1 49 A R ¥
403,000,000 JTCE 4 2% ©

P& fm PR 2

FREMEEWABR T - —BK
FEHH A R ¥ 6,830,000000 7T 1
& A R ¥ 44,000,000 7T 8% £ 1%
ET-HBRFENHARE
6,874,000,0007C ° YW A g N E B =
HERIER 9% T2 - BZIERD
DI EBRILL TBE 7% FTEH o
FUEE - BEEFBEITILES
MFEDER - TEEBHEEEE
A AEEBRGTHEBRRES ¥
% ORABRR - HIEZEITE -
HERENOERLIZR 112% ©



Gross profit margin of urea of the Group increased by approximately
1 percentage point to approximately 29% for FY2023 from
approximately 28% for FY2022. The increase was mainly due to the
relatively loose supply and demand pattern of coal and the decline
in raw material prices, which resulted in the Group's average sales
cost of urea falling by 9% YoY.

UREA SOLUTION FOR VEHICLE

Revenue derived from the sales of urea solution for vehicle
decreased by approximately RMB109 million or approximately 20%
from approximately RMB543 million for FY2022 to approximately
RMB434 million for FY2023. The decrease in revenue was mainly
due to the decrease in average selling price and sales volume of
the Group by approximately 9% and 12% YoY respectively. In a
market environment where raw material cost support is weakening,
in order to increase profit margin, the Group has optimized the
profitability of each region, by selectively abandoning orders that
have long transportation distances, high costs and low profits, and
simultaneously reducing the production volume of automotive urea
solutions by 17% YoY, which lowered sales volume.

Gross profit margin of sales of urea solution for vehicle increased
by approximately 6 percentage points from approximately 22% for
FY2022 to 28% for FY2023. This is mainly due to the decline in raw
material prices. The average cost of sales of urea solution for vehicle
decreased by 15% YoY, which was higher than the decrease in
selling prices.

AEEWREZEFERA-_T -8
HEEMNL28% EFHET D
EZEMBFEMNL29% ° 7%
ENEEZEREFEBEEER
FE RHERTITERASEERK
E T HEXAFILL TBE 9% FTEK ©

BERAREZEAR

BEARZABRMESERAR
TEZBHBREENHOAR
¥ 543,000,0007T B 2 4 A R &
109,000,000 7T 8% £J20% &= — T — =
B I 4 A R # 434,000,000
TG o WARR AV EEHRAEEF
HEEBRHEE D BIFRIL T 9% &
120 FT B o 72 R B AN 232 8T 55 19
MIZRET © ARAFEZER - K
SEBBEHSRIRZFENETR
B EEMMEERER  KAS -
FIEEMETE - RS BRGEERR
ERREERLTHRI7% 2
2R e

—EC_CURFEEARARERARN
HEEFER T - _BHRFEN
#9229% 12 IN47 6 B A 7 BHZE 28% © £
ZHRRERERTE  ERKRES
BE) S ERK AR L TP 15% -
ZRIEE R EEREE

RELED —T=FER

25



26

Management Discussion and Analysis
EEE WD T

COMPOUND FERTILISER

Revenue derived from the sales of compound fertilisers increased
by approximately RMB14 million or approximately 0.2% from
approximately RMB6,116 million for FY2022 to approximately
RMB6,130 million for FY2023. The slight increase in revenue was
mainly due to a 16% YoY increase in sales volume and a 13% YoY
decrease in average selling price. In FY2023, the sales volume of
compound fertilisers increased to 2,305,000 tons, of which the
sales volume of high-efficiency compound fertilisers increased by
25% YoY. Relying on the advantages of multiple bases, the Group
focused on the core geographical circle of each base, strengthened
channels and brand building, developed traditional channels and
supported sales growth. In addition, the prices of raw materials
potassium fertiliser and phosphate fertiliser fell by 25% and 11% YoY
respectively. Cost supports were weak, which negatively affected
compound fertiliser prices.

Gross profit margin of compound fertilisers of the Group remained
stable at 13% in FY2023.

METHANOL

Revenue derived from the sales of methanol increased by
approximately RMB56 million or approximately 2% from
approximately RMB2,283 million for FY2022 to approximately
RMB2,339 million for FY2023. The increase in methanol sales was
driven by a 9% YoY sales volume increase and a 6% YoY decrease
in average selling prices. In order to maximize marginal benefits,
the Group extends the industrial chain to downstream fine
chemicals such as DMF and dimethyl ether to increase the internal
consumption of methanol. The flexible adjustment by converting
alcohol to ammonia resulted in a decrease in the output of self-
produced methanol by 29% YoY. However, in order to maintain
sales channels, the Group expanded its trading business and further
expanded the southern market to increase sales.
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Due to insufficient support from coal prices in the first half of the
year, the selling price of methanol fell, which affected the gross
profit margin of methanol to a negative 0.6%. The Group has always
focused on innovation and R&D for methanol energy saving and has
continuously carried out optimization of methanol distillation which
effectively reduced steam consumption by 120,000 tons per year. At
the same time, the Jiangxi base took the lead in methanol energy
efficiency. Total energy consumption per ton of methanol was 9.3%
lower than the industry average, which provide support for the
average cost of sales of methanol to decrease by 6% YoY.

MELAMINE

Revenue derived from the sales of melamine decreased by
approximately RMB183 million or approximately 19% from RMB967
million for FY2022 to approximately RMB784 million for FY2023. The
decrease in revenue was primarily due to an approximately 22% YoY
decrease in average selling prices of melamine, partially offset by a
4% YoVY increase in sales volume. While global economic recovery
slowed down, overseas demand continued to be weak, dragging
down export prices by 33% YoY. The domestic market was under
pressure. Affected by the mismatch between supply and demand
and weak support from raw material costs, melamine prices fell
significantly.

Gross profit margin of melamine of the Group decreased by
approximately 20 percentage points to approximately 29% for
FY2023 from approximately 49% for FY2022. This is mainly due to
the decrease in the average selling price of melamine.
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MEDICAL INTERMEDIATE

Revenue derived from the sales of medical intermediate increased
by approximately RMB176 million or approximately 40% from
approximately RMB440 million for FY2022 to approximately RMB616
million for FY2023. This was due mainly to the increase in average
selling price and sales volume of this segment by approximately
14% and 23% YoY respectively. The Group combined market
demand and took advantage of existing resources to carry out
technological transformation of the original production line. The
increase in output led to a significant increase in sales. In addition,
the Group increased marketing of adenine, which has a higher unit
price, and its market share increased to more than 50%, driving
selling price growth in this segment.

Gross profit margin of medical intermediate decreased by
approximately 4 percentage points from approximately 13% for
FY2022 to 9% for FY2023. As the nucleoside project located in
the Xinjiang base is in the trial production stage, the equipment
performance is relatively unstable, which affects the production
cost of this segment to increase by 8% YoY. Through continuous
adjustments, this indicator has gradually improved.

LIQUID AMMONIA

Revenue derived from the sales of liquid ammonia increased
by approximately RMB54 million or approximately 3% from
approximately RMB2,037 million for FY2022 to approximately
RMB2,091 million for FY2023. The increase was mainly due to the
17% YoY sales growth. The Group made flexible adjustments to the
methanol production line and increased the production of liquid
ammonia, which has relatively higher gross profit margin. This led to
an increase in the Group's liquid ammonia sales. However, affected
by factors such as falling coal prices, loose supply and demand,
and import shocks, liquid ammonia prices fluctuated downward,
resulting in a 13% YoY decrease in average selling price. As a result,
the gross profit margin of the Group’s liquid ammonia decreased by
11 percentage points YoY to 18% in FY2023.
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DMF

In FY2023, DMF achieved sales revenue of approximately RMB1,047
million. Since the second phase of DMF was put into operation at
the beginning of the year, the production has been relatively stable,
and the consumption of steam per ton of DMF has been further
reduced. Meanwhile, taking advantage of its main downstream
consumer market concentration in East China, the sales volume
of DMF exceeded 231,000 tons in FY2023. In addition, the Group
increased development of international markets, such as Vietnam
and South Korea, to further increase market share.

OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

Other income and gains increased by approximately RMB112
million, or approximately 60%, from approximately RMB187
million in FY2022 to approximately RMB299 million in FY2023.
The increase was mainly due to (1) an increase in subsidy income
of approximately RMB97 million; (2) an increase in the Group's
net profit from sales of by-products, water, electricity and steam
of approximately RMB8 million; and (3) an increase in exchange
income of approximately RMB5 million, in FY2023.

SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION EXPENSES

Selling and distribution expenses increased by approximately
RMB89 million or approximately 17% from RMB529 million in FY2022
to RMB618 million in FY2023. The increase was mainly due to: (1)
the Group actively expanded national sales channels and organized
marketing activities, resulting in a YoY increase in loading fees,
warehousing fees, services and promotion fees of approximately
RMB73 million; (2) the Group strengthened the outbound training
and inspection of sales personnel, which resulted in a YoY increase
in travel expenses of approximately RMB6 million; and (3) the newly
added liquid fertiliser intelligent fertilization system, which increased
both depreciation and repair costs by a total of approximately RMB4
million YoY.
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GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

General and administrative expenses increased by approximately
RMB227 million from approximately RMB1,072 million in FY2022 to
approximately RMB1,299 million in FY2023. The increase was mainly

due to:

In accordance with the Group’s national development
strategy, it has increased the talent pool for new bases and
projects. At the same time, it has further promoted high-
quality development, continued to improve R&D efforts, and
recruited experienced senior R&D personnel, resulting in an
increase in remuneration of approximately RMB112 million
YoY;

As the Group's assets and business scale continue to
grow, various taxes, safety and environmental charges,
depreciation and maintenance fees have increased, resulting
in an increase of approximately RMB44 million YoY;

In order to enhance corporate visibility and improve
management skills, publicity fees and travel expenses
increased by approximately RMB34 million YoY;

The Group accelerated towards digitalization and
intelligence automation, external experts were engaged to
provide consulting services to the Group, which led to an
increase in service fees of approximately RMB19 million; and

the Group focused on staff welfare, in order to enhance the
sense of belonging and cohesion of employees coming
from remote locations, welfare expenses increased by
approximately RMB14 million.
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FINANCE COSTS

Finance costs decreased by approximately RMB82 million or
approximately 12% from approximately RMB662 million in FY2022
to approximately RMB580 million in FY2023. This is due to the
reduction in interest-bearing borrowings and loans, as well as, with
the decrease in loan interest rates, the Group has carried out high-
interest loan replacements, effectively reducing financing costs.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Income tax expense decreased by approximately RMB70 million or
approximately 19% from approximately RMB372 million in FY2022
to approximately RMB302 million in FY2023.

PROFIT FORTHE YEAR

The profit for the year decreased by RMB171 million or
approximately 9% from approximately RMB1,808 million in FY2022
to approximately RMB1,637 million in FY2023.
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(I FINANCIAL REVIEW
GEARING

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt

divided by the aggregate of total capital and net debt.

()

Bt IR
EXEE

AR A B k(B S
IR IA MR A A R R A 3
ERAR -

2023 2022

—ZE-= —E-F

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR¥ET T AREFTTT

Trade payables B FENFRIE 1,388,617 645,698
Bills payable FER R 939,068 496,618
Contract liabilities BHAE 1,346,124 1,514,349
Accruals and other payables FEETE A K E At BT IR 2,580,452 2,525,832
Other liabilities HpafE 105,526 111,856
Due to related companies FESRBE R B FIE 97,671 71,632
Loans from non-controlling interests R ERER 49,800 48,800

Interest-bearing bank and other FHERITREAER
borrowings 11,633,132 12,335,527
Bonds payable ErES - 299,481
Lease liabilities HEAE 78,669 23,251
Less: Cash and cash equivalents IR NEeEEY (1,162,558) (1,469,765)
Pledged time deposits [REEEER YN (676,073) (595,496)
Net debt BEFRE 16,380,428 16,007,783
Equity attributable to owners of the parent &2 a)# B AFE(L iz 7,687,550 6,386,203
Less: Statutory reserve fund B EERES (863,518) (665,869)
Adjusted capital BB 6,824,032 6,220,334
Capital and net debt BERRBEFE 23,204,460 22,228,117
Gearing ratio BEBEBLE 70.59% 72.02%
]

points YoY from 65.7%.
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INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

S B RITRIEABAE K

Group
rEE
2023 2022
—E-= —EF-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBFIT
Analysed into: DA
Bank loans repayable: AEBRITEN
Within one year or on demand —FRFIRER 4,088,482 4,966,043
In the second year F—F 4,852,770 3,634,656
In the third to fifth years, inclusive FZERF(E) 2,090,970 2,680,099
Beyond five years AFE 49,620 -
11,081,842 11,280,798
Loans from leasing company/ EREERRER BE
finance lease payables: ME :
Within one year or on demand —FRFEIRER 380,143 590,042
In the second year E_F 150,960 362,120
In the third to fifth years, inclusive E=ETF(F) 20,187 102,567
551,290 1,054,729
11,633,132 12,335,527
N
PROSPECTS ) FIRREE

Looking forward to 2024, the global economy is still volatile,
international energy supply is stabilizing, coal prices fluctuated
downward and raw material cost supports are slowing down. In
light of these trends, the prices of chemical fertilisers will likely
fluctuate within a narrow range. In the context of ensuing food
security and supporting economic recovery, the current rigid
agricultural demand and a slight increase in industrial demand
will provide strong support for stable fertiliser prices. At the same
time, the international fertiliser market is recovering steadily, and
the Group will increase international market development to boost
fertilisers exports. In terms of chemical products, as the domestic
economy recovers, supply and demand patterns gradually resume
normalcy, which will promote the recovery of chemical products
market. In particular, the increase in demand for basic chemical
products will be beneficial. It will help the Group’s sales growth in
basic chemical products.
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With the deepening of large-scale development in the agriculture
sector, coupled with the promotion of fertiliser reduction and
efficiency-increasing technologies, the demand for high-efficiency
fertilisers will be further released. As an advocate of high-efficiency
fertilisers in the PRC, the Group will continue to strengthen product
R&D, drive sales model transformation upgrade services, further
enhance brand competitiveness and increase market share. At
the same time, with the trend of large-scale land transfer, farmers
have higher requirements for precise soil fertilisation. The Group's
“water and fertiliser integration” model will not only improve crop
quality and yield, but also increase water and fertiliser utilisation
efficiency, which is in line with the development of modern, green
and intelligent goals, leading to an overall industry upgrade and
realizing the Group’s corporate value in the marketplace.

The Group’s polyformaldehyde project with an annual production
capacity of 60,000 tons at the Manas base in Xinjiang and the first
phase of the compound fertiliser project in Guangxi are progressing
steadily and are expected to be completed and put into production
in the fourth quarter of this year. By then, the Group's strategic
direction of “fertilisers as base, simultaneous development of
fertilisers and chemicals” will be clearer. While the Group’s main
fertiliser business focuses on geographical, large-scale and high-
end developments, the chemicals business's industry chain is being
further refined and differentiated; These form the Group’s “dual
strengths in fertilisers and chemicals” strategy. Meanwhile, the Group
will continue to balance risks and opportunities, development and
shareholder returns. On the premise of ensuring operating cash
flow, based on the strategic planning, the Group thrives to optimize
allocation of capital and foster sustainable development.

PROPOSED FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend of
RMB24 cents per share for the year ended 31 December 2023 (the
“Proposed Final Dividend") (2022: RMB25 cents per share), subject
to the shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company. The Company will further announce
details of the Proposed Final Dividend, the annual general meeting
and the period of closure of the Company’s register of members for
determining the entitlement to the Proposed Final Dividend in due
course.
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(V)

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

1.

OPERATIONAL AND FINANCIAL RISKS

0]

(1

(Iv)

MARKET RISK

The major market risks of the Group include changes
in the average selling prices of key products, changes
in the costs of raw materials (mainly coal) and
fluctuations in interest and exchange rates.

COMMODITY PRICE RISK

The Group is also exposed to commodity price risk
arising from fluctuations in product sale prices and
costs of raw materials.

INTEREST RATE RISK

The major market interest rate risk that the Group
is exposed to includes the Group's long-term debt
obligations which are subject to floating interest
rates.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Group’s revenue and costs are primarily
denominated in RMB. Some costs may be
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, United States
dollars or Singapore dollars.
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INFLATION AND CURRENCY RISK

According to the data released by the National
Bureau of Statistics of China, the consumer price
index of the PRC increased by approximately 0.2%
in the year ended 31 December 2023 as compared
with an increase of approximately 2% in 2022. Such
inflation in the PRC did not have a significant effect
on the Group's operating results.

LIQUIDITY RISK

The Group monitors its risk exposure to shortage
of funds. The Group regularly reviews the maturity
of both its financial investments and financial
assets (e.g., trade receivables and other financial
assets) and projects cash flows from operations. The
Group's objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the
use of bank overdrafts and bank loans. As at 31
December 2023, approximately RMB4,469 million (31
December 2022: approximately RMB5,556 million), or
approximately 38.41% (31 December 2022: 45.04%)
of the Group's debts will mature in less than one
year based on the carrying value of the borrowings
reflected in the financial statements.
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GEARING RISK

The Group monitors its capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders
value. The Group manages its capital structure
and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes
in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the
capital structure, the Group may raise new debt or
issue new shares. No changes were made in the
objectives, policies or processes for managing capital
during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.
The gearing ratio of the Group (calculated as net
debt divided by the aggregate of total capital and
net debt) decreased from approximately 72.02% as at
31 December 2022 to approximately 70.59% as at 31
December 2023.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had no material
contingent liabilities (2022: Nil).

MATERIAL LITIGATION AND ARBITRATION

As at 31 December 2023, the Group was not involved in any
material litigation or arbitration (2022: Nil).
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SCOPE OF WORK OF ERNST & YOUNG

The figures in respect of preliminary announcement of
Group results for the year ended 31 December 2023 have
been agreed by the Group's auditor, Ernst & Young LLP, to
the amount set out in the Group'’s consolidated financial
statements for the year. The work performed by Ernst &
Young LLP in this respect did not constitute an assurance
engagement in accordance with International standards on
Auditing, International Standards on Review Engagements
or International Standards on Assurance Engagements
issued by International Accounting Standards Board and
consequently no assurance has been expressed by Ernst &
Young LLP on the preliminary announcement.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the "Audit
Committee”) has reviewed the accounting principles and
standards adopted by the Group, and has discussed and
reviewed the internal control and reporting matters. The
results for the year ended 31 December 2023 have been
reviewed by the Audit Committee.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
CODE

The Company devotes to best practice on corporate
governance, and has complied with all the code provisions
of the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix
C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the SEHK (the "Listing Rules”) during the year ended 31
December 2023.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS OF LISTED
ISSUER

The Board has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code") as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules and its
amendments from time to time as its own code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the directors of the
Company. The Board confirms that, having made specific
enquiries with all directors of the Company, all directors have
complied with the required standards of the Model Code
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

PURCHASE, SALES OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S SECURITIES

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company
repurchased 9,358,000 issued shares of the Company in total
through the spot market of the SEHK at a total consideration
of HK$39,154,000 (excluding transaction costs), with the
consideration per share ranging from HK$3.41 to HKS$4.5.
The shares repurchased during such period represented
approximately 0.77% of the issued shares as at 31 December
2023. All shares repurchased during the reporting period
have been cancelled by the Company on 18 July 2023. The
repurchase of shares is based on the Company's confidence
on its long-term business prospects and potential growth.
At the same time, the Company believes that actively
optimizing the capital structure through the implementation
of share repurchase will improve the earnings per share, net
assets per share and overall shareholder returns. Details of
the share repurchase as follows:
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10.

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-Z-=F+t-A=t+t—-HLFE

Purchase consideration per share

BREOBERE
Number of Total
Month of shares Highest Lowest consideration
repurchase repurchased price paid price paid paid
e A5 BEROEE e EEER S REERK BRANRE
HKS HKS HKS
ETT ATT ABTT
May
A 8,543,000 4.5 4.0 36,246,000
June
7N A 815,000 3.75 341 2,908,000
Total
FEe 9,358,000 39,154,000
Save as disclosed above, for the year ended 31 December 2023, BTN REZR

neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries have purchased,
sold or redeemed any other listed securities of the Company.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2023, there were 10,390 (2022: 9,313)
employees in the Group. Staff remuneration packages are
determined in consideration of market conditions and the
performance of the individuals concerned, and are subject
to review from time to time. The Group also provides other
staff benefits including medical and life insurance, and
grants discretionary incentive bonuses to eligible staff based
on their performance and contributions to the Group.

DISCLOSURE ON THE WEBSITES OF THE SEHK AND
THE COMPANY

This report is published on the website of the SEHK (http://
www.hkexnews.hk) and on the website of the Company
(http://www.chinaxIx.com.hk).
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Directors, Senior Management and Company Secretaries
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Board members, from left:

BRELt FHESRE IARCERE BIFB L
MS. YAN YUNHUA MR.LIHONGXING ~ MR. ONG WEIJIN MR. LIU XINGXU
FTEREE FERTE REEEE

MR. ONG KIAN GUAN  MR. LI SHENGXIAO  MR. ZHANG QINGJIN
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BOARD
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
MR. LIU XINGXU CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD

Aged 69, is principally in charge of overall strategic planning and business
development of the Group. Mr. Liu was appointed as an executive Director
on 26 July 2006. He is also a member of the NC and a director, who holds
42% of the equity interests of Pioneer Top Holdings Limited, a controlling
Shareholder. Mr. Liu graduated from Xinxiang Broadcasting and Television
University in July 1986 with a Diploma in Arts. In 2006, he completed EDP
(Executive Development Program) from Guanghua School of Management,
Peking University. In 2010, Mr. Liu was awarded the EMBA degree from
Tsinghua University. Mr. Liu has over 20 years of experience in the chemical
fertiliser industry. He is currently the senior vice chairman of China Nitrogen
Fertiliser Industry Association. Mr. Liu was appointed the factory head of
Xinxiang Fertiliser Factory, a state-owned enterprise, in charge of factory
operations in 1994 and then became the chairman and the general
manager of XLX Chem from July 2003 to July 2006. He was the general
manager of Henan XLX from July 2006 to April 2016, and has also been
the chairman of Henan XLX since July 2006. In 2004, he was awarded the
“Henan Province Labour Model (Advanced Worker)” and in 2005, he was
awarded the "Henan Province Outstanding Private Enterprise Entrepreneur”
by the People’s Government of Henan Province. He was also the winner of
“National Labour Day Medal”in 2009 issued by All China Federation of Trade
Unions, and was awarded the “China Petroleum & Chemical Outstanding
Private Enterprises Entrepreneurs Innovation Award” in 2014. He was
awarded the "Henan Economic Celebrity of the year 2014” and "Model
Worker of China"in 2015, and also the “Most Excellent Citizen in Xinxiang"in
2017. He was awarded the 2nd session of Henan Province’s “"Most Beautiful
Environmentalist” in 2018, and also the "Outstanding Member of the
Communist Party in Henan Province”in 2021.
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MR. ZHANG QINGJIN

Aged 57, is principally in charge of the decision making with respect to
overall management and day-to-day business operations of the Group.
Mr. Zhang was appointed as an executive Director on 27 March 2015.
Mr. Zhang graduated from Zhengzhou Engineering College (currently
known as “Zhengzhou University”) in July 1987 with a diploma in chemical
equipment, and obtained the EMBA degree from Tsinghua University in
2009. He has over 20 years of experience in the chemical fertiliser industry.
He is currently the senior advisory of China Nitrogen Fertiliser Industry
Association and the vice president of China Phosphate and Compound
Fertiliser Industry Association. Mr. Zhang joined Xinxiang Fertiliser Factory
in July 1987 and held various positions, including unit head of equipment
and facility department, unit head of production and technical department,
section head of equipment and facility upgrade and department head of
technical upgrade in Xinxiang Fertiliser Factory. Mr. Zhang was appointed as
the manager of the technical centre of XLX Chem from August 2003 to July
2006. He was also the manager of the technical centre of Henan XLX from
July 2006 to November 2006. Mr. Zhang was the deputy general manager
of Henan XLX from November 2006 to July 2011, and was the executive
deputy general manager of Henan XLX from July 2011 to April 2016, and
then he has become the general manager of Henan XLX since April 2016.
In June 2016, he was awarded the "Outstanding Member of the Communist
Party in Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous Region” by the Party Committee
of the Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous Region. In September 2018, he was
awarded the “Outstanding Individual” by China Nitrogen Fertiliser Industry
Association and the “Labour Day Medal of Henan Province”in May 2021.
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MS. YAN YUNHUA

Aged 53, is principally in charge of the decision making with respect to all
financial matters within the Group. Ms. Yan was appointed as an executive
Director on 10 November 2006. She is also a settlor of The Employee Trust,
which holds 211,939,848 Shares of the Company. Ms. Yan graduated from
Xi'an Jiaotong University in July 2003 with a degree in accountancy. Ms.
Yan obtained the EMBA (Executive Master of Business Administration)
degree from Guanghua School of Management, Peking University in July
2009. Ms. Yan has 20 years of accounting and finance experience. Ms. Yan
is currently the executive chairman of the Finance Research Committee
of China Nitrogen Fertiliser Industry Association and the vice chairman
of Henan Provincial Association of CFO. Ms. Yan joined Xinxiang Fertiliser
Factory in December 1997 and held various positions in Xinxiang Fertiliser
Factory, including the deputy head of finance division and the deputy
chief accountant. She was also the chief accountant in charge of finance of
XLX Chem from 2003 to July 2006. She was the deputy general manager
of Henan XLX from July 2006 to April 2016, and has become the vice
chairman of Henan XLX since April 2016. Ms. Yan obtained the "Accountant”
certification from the Ministry of Finance of the PRC in May 1997 and
obtained the “Senior Accountant” certification from Henan Province
Accountant Series Senior Assessment Committee in December 2005. Ms.
Yan was awarded the "Accountants Contribution Award” and "Excellent
Leaders in the Enterprise Information construction of the China Petroleum
and Chemical Industry”in the PRC in 2008, "Advanced Worker in Accounting
of Henan Province” in 2009, “Labour Day Medal of Henan Province” in 2015,
and “National Labour Day Medal”in 2019.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
MR. ONG KIAN GUAN

Aged 56, has been appointed as an independent non-executive Director
since 11 May 2007. He is also the chairman of the AC and a member of both
the RC and the NC. Mr. Ong graduated from the Nanyang Technological
University in Singapore with a Bachelor of Accountancy degree in May
1992. Mr. Ong has more than 20 years of professional experience in financial
audits of multinational corporations and public listed companies from
diverse industries. He is a practising member and a fellow of the Institute of
Singapore Chartered Accountants, and also a partner of Baker Tilly TFW LLP.
He is also an independent non-executive director of Omnibridge Holdings
Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of SEHK) since 15 December
2020. Mr. Ong resigned as an independent director of Alliance Mineral
Assets Limited (a company listed on SGXST) with effect from 17 December
2019. Mr. Ong has ceased to be an independent non-executive director of
RMH Holdings Limited (a company are listed on the GEM of SEHK) on 24
September 2021. He is an independent non-executive director of Eindec
Corporation Limited (a company listed on SGXST) since 23 April 2022. Mr.
Ong is also a committee member of the Singapore Division of CPA Australia.
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MR. LI SHENGXIAO

Aged 62, has been appointed as an independent non-executive Director
since 11 May 2007. He is also the chairman of the NC and a member
of both the AC and the RC. Mr. Li graduated from Hangzhou University
(currently known as Zhejiang University) in July 1987 with a graduation
certificate in politics. He then obtained a master's degree in law from
Hangzhou University in July 1990. Mr. Li has been working in Shaoxing
University since September 1995, and successively served as secretary of
the Party Committee of the Department of Economics and Trade, director
of the Department of Economics and Management, and executive vice
president of the College of Economics and Management. From June 2004
to November 2013, he served as the dean of the School of Economics and
Management and the deputy secretary of the Party Committee, he was
the dean of the Yueshang Research Institute (B #%TFT ) of Shaoxing
University and the director of the Regional Development Research Center of
Shaoxing University and retired in June 2022. Mr. Li has been the instructor
of establishment of small and medium enterprises in Zhejiang Province
since 2006. Mr. Li has been appointed as an independent director of Bank
of Shaoxing Co., Ltd. from November 2013 to June 2020. Mr. Li was an
independent director of Zhejiang China Light & Textile Industrial City Group
Co,, Ltd and Zhejiang Furun Digital Technology Co., Ltd (both companies
are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange) from 2014 to 2020 and from
June 2020 to September 2023 respectively. He was as an independent
director of Anhui Jiangnan Chemical Industry Co, Ltd. (a company listed
on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange) between 2012 and 2018. He is also an
independent director of Kuaijishan Shaoxing Rice Wine Co,, Ltd. (since May
2021) and Zhende Medical Equipment Holding Co,, Ltd. (since July 2022)
(both companies are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange). Mr. Li was

awarded the "high school outstanding youth teacher of Zhejiang Province”

in September 1991.
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MR. ONG WEI JIN

Aged 57, has been appointed as an independent non-executive Director
since 11 May 2007. He is also the chairman of the RC and a member of
both the AC and the NC. Mr. Ong obtained a Bachelor of Laws degree
from the National University of Singapore in 1990, a Master of Business
Administration degree from University of Hull in 1993, and a Master of
Laws degree from the National University of Singapore in 1995. Mr. Ong is a
partner in Harry Elias Partnership LLP (a Singapore law firm).

MR. LI HONGXING

Aged 48, has been appointed as an independent non-executive Director
since 16 May 2018. Mr. Li received a Master of Business Administration
from Australian Graduate School of Management in 2011 and a Bachelor
of Arts in International Business from the Guangdong University of Foreign
Studies in 1997. Mr. Li has been the Managing Director of CDG International
Company Limited since 2016. Mr. Li served as the supervisor in Farasis
Energy (GanZhou) Co., Ltd. (a company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange) from July 2020 to November 2020; and the head of energy,
mining and equipment (corporate finance) in CITIC CLSA Securities from
2010 to 2016; and an equity analyst of HSBC with a focus on Asian oil and
chemicals from 2007 to 2010. Before that, Mr. Li had worked in BP Group,
Dongguan Nokia Mobile Phones Co., Ltd. and PricewaterhouseCoopers
China.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT
MR. SONG WANLEI

Aged 39, is the Chief Executive Officer of the Company since 24 March
2023. Mr. Song graduated from Zhengzhou University in July 2007 with a
bachelor’s degree in management majoring in financial management. Mr.
Song has over 15 years of experience in financial affairs. Mr. Song joined
Henan Xinlianxin Chemicals Group Co., Ltd. in July 2007 and served as a
cashier and accountant of the subsidiary until October 2008. From October
2008 to July 2015, he served as the head in charge of the fund management
in the Finance Department of the Group; from August 2015 to September
2016, he served as the office director of a compound fertiliser company;
from September 2016 to November 2017, he served for the General
Department of the Jiangxi Base Organization Team; from November 2017 to
March 2018, he served as the supervisor in charge of the fund management
in the Financial Management Center; from March 2018 to October 2019,
he served as the deputy manager of the Financial Management Center;
from October 2019 to May 2021, he served as the chief financial officer
of Jiujiang; from May 2021 until now, he has served as the manager of
the Finance Department. In 2010, he was awarded the honorary title of
“Outstanding Member of the China Communist Party”; in 2013, he was
awarded the honorary title of “Outstanding Role Model of XLX"; in 2016, he
was awarded the honorary title of “Outstanding Management Personnel”.

MR. WONG WING WANG

Aged 53, is the Chief Financial Officer of China XLX since 18 March 2019.
Mr. Wong is a member of CPA Australia, and holds a Bachelor degree of
Commerce from Newcastle University in Australia. Mr. Wang has over 20
years of experience in the corporate finance industry in Singapore. Prior
to joining the Group, Mr. Wong has been the managing director of Crowe
Howarth Capital (Singapore) (“Crowe Singapore”) since April 2017, and
was the chief executive officer of Partners Capital (Singapore) Pte Ltd. (a
boutique corporate finance firm with a CMS license from the Monetary
Authority of Singapore, which was acquired by Crowe Singapore in April
2017) from January 2008 to April 2017. He was a partner of SAC Capital
Pte Ltd, a corporate finance advisor in Singapore, from December 2006 to
December 2007.
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MR. WANG PINGBIAO

Aged 53, is the deputy general manager in charge of the safety,
environmental protection, procurement, chemical sales, railway
transportation and engineering management department of Henan
XLX since 29 April 2016. Mr. Wang has more than 20 years of experience
in the chemical fertiliser industry. Mr. Wang graduated from Zhengzhou
Engineering College (currently known as Zhengzhou University) with a
tertiary certificate in June 1992, and obtained a master degree in Executive
Master of Business Administration from Tsinghua University in 2008. Mr.
Wang joined Xinxiang Fertiliser Factory in July 1992 and held various
positions, including the deputy director of technical transformation of
Xinxiang Fertiliser Factory and the deputy head of nitrogen fertiliser plant.
He was the head of Branch Il, Henan XLX Fertiliser Co,, Ltd. from January 2005
to September 2008, the head of Factory Ill, Henan XLX Fertiliser Co., Ltd.
from September 2008 to January 2010 and the head of Branch IV, Henan
XLX Fertiliser Co., Ltd. from October 2010 to April 2016.

MR. REN RONGKUI

Aged 55, he was appointed as the Deputy General Manager of Henan XLX
on 18 March 2019 and in charge of products research and development
and agricultural development. Mr. Ren graduated from Henan Normal
University with a bachelor degree in computer science in June 1992 and
obtained a master’s degree in business administration from Xi'an Jiaotong
University in January 2017. He was qualified as a safety engineer. From
June 1992 to January 1997, Mr. Ren served as a workshop staff member of
Xinxiang Fertiliser Factory. From January 1997 to July 2000, he served as
director of the Instrument Workshop of Xinxiang Fertiliser Factory. From
July 2000 to July 2005, he served as manager of the agrochemical center
of Henan Xinxin Fertiliser Co,, Ltd., and served as deputy director of Factory
I, Henan XLX Fertilizer Co., Ltd. from January to July 2007. He served as
director of Factory I, Henan XLX Fertiliser Co., Ltd. from July 2007 to August
2008, and manager of Branch I, Henan XLX Fertiliser Co., Ltd. from August
2008 to October 2010, and served as the assistant of general manager of
Henan XLX Fertiliser Co,, Ltd. from October 2010 to July 2017.
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MS. SUN HONG

Aged 55, she was appointed as the deputy general manager of Henan
XLX on 18 March 2019 and in charge of human resources and group
informatization. Ms. Sun graduated from Henan Normal University in July
1991 with major in chemistry, and obtained a master’s degree in applied
chemistry from Dalian University of Technology in July 1994. She obtained
a Ph.D. in Business Administration from Huazhong University of Science
and Technology in June 2011. From August 1994 to February 2004, Ms.
Sun worked in Henan Xinfei Electric Appliance Co., Ltd,, as a technician,
the deputy director of the manufacturing department, director, manager
of the advertising department, and deputy manager of the marketing
department, etc. From March 2004 to October 2012, she served as the head
of quality department, deputy general manager of quality department and
general manager of quality department in Henan Xinfei Electric Appliance
Co,, Ltd. In November 2012, she served as assistant to general manager of
Henan XLX Fertiliser Co., Ltd.

MR. JIA XINCHAO

Aged 50, is the deputy general manager in charge of the operation of
black technology and the corporate administration of Henan XLX since
2 November 2020. Mr. Jia obtained a EMBA Master from Zhengzhou
University in April 2013; and obtained a EMBA Master from Tsinghua
University School of Economics and Management in June 2016. Mr. Jia
held various positions in the Group: the corporate management officer of
Xinxiang Fertiliser Factory from August 1996 to August 2003; the director
of supply of Henan XLX Chemicals Co., Ltd. from August 2003 to October
2005; the manager of the purchasing department of from October 2005
to July 2011 Henan XLX Fertiliser Co., Ltd.; the executive deputy general
manager of Compound Fertiliser Branch, Henan XLX Fertiliser Co., Ltd. from
July 2011 to August 2012; the general manager of Compound Fertiliser
Branch, Henan XLX Fertiliser Co,, Ltd. from August 2012 to September 2015;
the general manager of marketing centre of Henan XLX Fertiliser Co,, Ltd.
from September 2015 to April 2016; the assistant of general manager and
general manager of marketing centre of Henan XLX Fertiliser Co., Ltd. from
April 2016 to July 2017; and the assistant of general manager of Henan
Xinlianxin Chemical Group Co,, Ltd. from July 2017 to October 2020.
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MR. GUO ZHENG

Aged 50, is the deputy general manager in charge of the operation
and production of the Xinxiang Ammonia department of Henan XLX
since November 2020. Mr. Guo graduated from Zhengzhou Engineering
College in July 1994 with a major in chemical technology. Mr. Guo held
various positions in the Group: participated in the preparation of building
the first urea device of China XLX on 1 July 1994; the director of the
thermoelectricity workshop and deputy head of Factory I, Henan XLX
Fertiliser Co., Ltd. from 1999 to September 2008; the head of Factory |,
Henan XLX Fertiliser Co., Ltd. from September 2008 to August 2012; the
head of Factory Ill, Henan XLX Fertiliser Co., Ltd. from September 2012 to
March 2014; the deputy general manager of the production department of
Xinjiang Xinlianxin Energy Chemical Co., Ltd. from April 2014 to September
2015, participated in the preparation of constructing Xinjiang 2848 Project;
the executive deputy general manager of Xinjiang Xinlianxin Energy
Chemical Co., Ltd. from October 2015 to March 2016; the assistant of
general manager of Xinjiang Xinlianxin Energy Chemical Co,, Ltd. and the
executive deputy general manager of Xinjiang company from April 2016 to
June 2017; and the assistant of general manager of Henan XLX Fertiliser Co,,
Ltd. and general manager of Xinjiang company from July 2017 to October
2020.
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JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES
MS. LEUNG KWAN WAI

Ms. Leung Kwan Wai was appointed as a joint company secretary of the
Company since 4 July 2019. Ms. Leung is a senior manager of Corporate
Services of Tricor Services Limited (a global professional services provider
specializing in integrated business, corporate and investor services). She has
over 15 years of experience in the corporate secretarial field and has been
providing professional corporate services to Hong Kong listed companies
as well as multinational, private and offshore companies. Ms. Leung is a
Chartered Secretary, a Chartered Governance Professional and an Associate
of both The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and The Chartered
Governance Institute in the United Kingdom.

MS. CHEOK HUI YEE

Ms. Cheok Hui Yee was appointed as a joint company secretary of the
Company since 6 March 2018. Ms. Cheok is a senior manager of Tricor
Singapore Pte. Ltd. (a leading provider of integrated business, corporate
and investor services in Singapore). She has over 15 years of experience in
corporate secretarial practice in Singapore. Her area of exposure includes
advisory and assistance in compliance matters of public and private limited
companies in Singapore, foreign companies registered in Singapore as
well as offshore incorporated companies. She is currently the appointed
company secretary of several public companies listed on the SGX-ST. Ms.
Cheok is a Practising Chartered Secretary and an Associate of The Chartered
Secretaries Institute of Singapore.
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Investor Relations
BREEBZ

In 2023, the Company continued to consistently conduct investor
relations activities, aiming to demonstrate the highlights of the Company,
which improved the reputation of the Company in the capital market,
the Company is able to tie closely with the capital market through our
timely, impartial, fair and accurate information disclosure and our multi-
channel and all-round investor relations activities. The Company also listens
attentively to various suggestions and proposals from the capital market
with regard to the Company’s operations and management in a proactive,
sincere and humble manner, continuously optimize the form and quality
of roadshow activities to attract quality investors and optimize shareholder
structure for the Company, so as to enhance the long-term development
potentials of the Company and achieve rapid development under the new
era of enterprises.

TIMELY, RIGHTEOUS, FAIR AND ACCURATE INFORMATION
DISCLOSURE

The Company has been in strict compliance with the information disclosure
regulations for listed companies by making timely, righteous, fair and
accurate information disclosure, which improve the transparency of the
Company, moreover, establish a smooth communication channel and
enhance its interaction and communication with the capital market. In
2023, 57 publications have objectively and comprehensively disclosed
information regarding the results, operating performance, financial
information, dividend payment, poll results of shareholder meetings and
certain other voluntary disclosures. The Company’s website (www.chinaxIx.
com.hk) is also an important channel for its information disclosure and
important platform for investors to obtain information on the Company.

MULTIPLE-CHANNEL, COMPREHENSIVE INVESTOR
RELATIONS ACTIVITIES

In 2023, the Company continued to consolidate the foundation of investor
relations activities, updated the relevant process and database, and strived
to promote the development of investor relations activities. The Company
continued to conduct comprehensive communication with capital market
through various communication channels including results announcement
conference, roadshow promotion activities, reverse roadshows, one-on-
one investor meetings, press releases and WeChat groups. The Company
were able to timely demonstrate the unique advantages, strategic planning,
development philosophy, and the latest developments and performance of
production and operation activities of the Company to the capital market,
as well as sharing our understanding on the market and our outlook on the
industry. In addition to organizing regular results announcement meetings,
the Group has organized nearly a hundred roadshow promotions through
a combination of online and offline channels to proactively announce and
push notification of favourable news and shared in real time the highlights
of the Company in various communication channels (including official
accounts and WeChat groups), which attracted the attention of numerous
fund companies, securities companies as well as a large number of investors
and industry analysts to the Company.
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Investor Relations
BREEBZ

Affected by the pandemic over the past three years, several investors and
analysts have expressed that they have visited the Company on-site, but
would like to visit the Company again after a long time had passed. In 2023,
the Company organized three large reverse roadshows and arranged for
the investors and analysts to conduct on-site inspections of the Henan,
Jiangxi and Xinjiang bases respectively. In addition, the Group flexibly
and proactively arranged corporate senior management to participate in
numerous online and offline investor relations activities. During 2023, the
Company'’s Chairman of the Board and the management participated in
plenty of investor activities to fully communicate with the capital market,
which realised multi-channelled communications. The Company actively
attended various investor forums organised by a number of investment
banks and funds, conducted one-on-one and one-on-many meetings and
online conferences regularly, and made interactive communication with
around 300 investors and analysts throughout the year, so as to further
provide investors and analysts a better understanding of the business and
operations of the Group.

STEADY AND CONTINUOUS SHAREHOLDER RETURNS

The Company attaches great importance to the Shareholders’ views on
its dividend payout. The Company determines its dividend payout every
year with reference to the Company’s actual financial status, long-term
development needs and potential investment opportunities. For the year
of 2023, the Group proposed dividend of RMB0.24 per Share and a dividend
payout ratio of 24.64% net profit attributable to owners of the parent.
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The situation of the Company’s dividend payment since listing
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Corporate Governance Report
EERRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining a high standard
of corporate governance principles and processes in managing the
business and affairs, so as to improve the performance, accountability,
and transparency of the Group. The Board sets appropriate policies and
implements corporate governance practices appropriate to the conduct
and growth of the Group's business.

The Company has applied the principles as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code") contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board has reviewed its
corporate governance practices and considers that the Company has
complied with all the code provisions as set out in the CG Code. Key
corporate governance principles and practices of the Company are
summarised below.

A. CORPORATE CULTURE

The Board has established the Group’s purpose, values and strategy,
and satisfy itself that these and the Group's culture are aligned. All
Directors must act with integrity, lead by example, and promote
the desired culture. The Board should instil such culture into the
Company and continually reinforces across our Company’s values of
acting lawfully, ethically and responsibly.

A healthy corporate culture set up by the Group, including integrity
and accountability, is vital for the Company to achieve its vision and
mission towards sustainable growth. It is the Board's role to foster
a corporate culture with core principles to guide the behaviours of
its employees, and ensure that the Company’s vision, values and
business strategies are aligned to it.

The Board carries out ongoing comprehensive review of the Group’s
formulation of business strategies and policies, which covers the
Group's position in the major markets and service lines, leading
drivers of change in the industry and markets, and marketing
strategies to seize business opportunities in long run.
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EERRE
B THE BOARD B =y
B1.  RESPONSIBILITIES AND DELEGATION Bl. EEkR#E

The primary role of the Board is taking leadership and
control of the Company to protect and enhance long-term
Shareholders’ value. It sets the corporate strategies of the
Group, and sets directions and goals for the management.
The Board also supervises the management and monitors
performance of these goals to enhance Shareholders’
value. The Board is responsible for the overall corporate
governance of the Group.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation
of the Group are delegated to the executive Directors and
the management. Each executive Director has accumulated
sufficient and valuable experience to hold his/her position
in order to ensure that his/her fiduciary duties can be carried
out in an effective and efficient manner.

The Board has established an internal framework to ensure
that the type of material transactions which required Board's
approval is consistently applied throughout the Group.
Matters requiring Board's approval include:

Overall Group business and budget strategy
ii. Capital expenditures, investments or divestments
exceeding certain material limits

iii. All capital-related matters including capital issuance
and redemption

iv. Significant policies governing the operations of the
Company

V. Corporate strategic development and restructuring

Vi Risk management strategy

Vii. Any major corporate activities involving changes in

Shareholders'rights and risk profile

China XLX 2023 Annual Report
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Regular meetings of the Board are held to deliberate the
strategic policies of the Company including significant
acquisitions and disposals, review and approve annual
budgets, review the performance of the business and
approve the publicly issued periodic financial results.

All Directors are from time to time obtain information
concerning the Company to enable them to be fully
cognizant of the decisions and actions of the Company’s
management. The Board has unrestricted access to the
Company'’s records and information. Any Director may
request for independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company’s expense, upon reasonable
request made to the Board.

Senior management members are available to provide
explanatory information in the form of briefings to the
Directors or formal presentations at Board meetings, or by
external consultants engaged on specific projects.

The Board has formed specialised committees namely the
AC, the RC and the NC (collectively the "Committees”)
to assist in carrying out and discharging its duties and
responsibilities efficiently and effectively. The Committees
function within clearly defined terms of references and
operating procedures, which are reviewed on a regular
basis. The effectiveness of each of the Committees is also
constantly reviewed by the Board.

The company secretary(ies) of the Company (the “Company
Secretary(ies)”) and/or his/her representative(s) attend(s)
all Board meetings and meetings of the Committees to
ensure that Board procedures are followed and applicable
rules and regulations are complied with. Draft minutes of
meetings of the Board and the Committees are circulated to
Directors and the Committees members, as the case may be,
for comments within a reasonable time after each meeting
and the final version of minutes are available for Directors’
inspection.
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TEERBRE
B2.  BOARD COMPOSITION B2. EBEWEM
For the year ended 31 December 2023, the composition of  E T =+ = A

the Board is as follows:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Liu Xingxu (Chairman of the Board and

Member of the NC)

Mr. Zhang Qingjin
Ms.Yan Yunhua

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Ong Kian Guan (Chairman of the AC, Member of
the RC and the NC)

(Chairman of the NC, Member of
the AC and the RC)

Mr. Li Shengxiao

Mr. Ong Wei Jin (Chairman of the RC, Member of

the AC and the NC)

Mr. Li Hongxing (Member of the AC, the RC and

the NC)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board has
met the requirements of Listing Rules 3.10 and 3.10A of
having at least three independent non-executive Directors
(representing at least one-third of the Board) with one of
them possessing appropriate professional qualifications,
accounting and related financial management expertise.

The Board has maintained the necessary balance of skills and
experience appropriate for the business requirements and
objectives of the Group and for the exercise of independent
judgement. The independent non-executive Directors
bring different business and financial expertise, experiences
and independent judgement to the Board and they are
invited to serve on the Committees. Through participation
in Board meetings, taking the lead in managing issues
involving potential conflicts of interests and/or serving on
the Committees, the independent non-executive Directors
have made contributions to the effective direction of the
Company and provided adequate checks and balances
to safequard the interests of both the Group and the
Shareholders.
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The biographical details of the Directors and the relationship
between Board members, if any, are set out in the section
headed “Directors, Senior Management and Company
Secretaries” of this annual report.

The Company has established a Board Independence
Evaluation Mechanism during the year 2023 which sets
out the processes and procedures to ensure a strong
independent element on the Board, which allows the
Board effectively exercises independent judgment to better
safeguard Shareholders'interests.

The objectives of the evaluation are to improve Board
effectiveness, maximise strengths, and identify the areas that
need improvement or further development. The evaluation
process also clarifies what actions of the Company need to
be taken to maintain and improve the Board performance,
for instance, addressing individual training and development
needs of each Director.

Pursuant to the Board Independence Evaluation Mechanism,
the Board will conduct annual review on its independence.
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board
reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the Board
Independence Evaluation Mechanism and the results were
satisfactory.

The Company has received written annual confirmation
from each independent non-executive Director of his
independence pursuant to the requirements of the Listing
Rules. The Company considers all independent non-
executive Directors to be independent in light of the
independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.
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B3.

B4.

W&

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The Company supports the division of responsibility
between the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company in order to ensure a balance of
power and authority and preserve a balanced judgement
of views. During the year under review, Mr. Liu Xingxu is
the Chairman of the Board, focusing on the overall strategic
planning and business development of the Group; whereas
Mr. Song Wanlei is the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company, taking care of the overall management and day-
to-day business operations of the Group. Such separation of
the roles and duties of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
would enable timely management of the Group’s affairs and
further reinforce the Group's development.

In addition, the Directors are of the view that the balanced
composition of executive Directors and non-executive
Directors (including independent non-executive Directors)
on the Board and the existence of AC, RC and NC (comprising
all or a majority of independent non-executive Directors) in
overseeing different aspects of the Company’s affairs would
help to maintain the balance of power and authority.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

The procedures and processes of appointment and removal
of Directors are laid down in the Constitution.

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
contract with the Company, whereas the Company has
issued a letter of appointment to each of the independent
non-executive Directors and non-executive Directors. All
Directors are appointed for a specific term of three years.
They are also subject to retirement and re-election in
accordance with the Constitution at least once every three
years at an AGM.
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B5.

INDUCTION AND CONTINUING DEVELOPMENT FOR
DIRECTORS

Each newly appointed Director receives induction on the
first occasion of his/her appointment, so as to ensure that
he/she has appropriate understanding of the business and
operations of the Group and that he/she is sufficiently aware
of his/her responsibilities and obligations under the Listing
Rules and relevant regulatory requirements.

The existing Directors are continually updated with legal
and regulatory developments, and the business and market
changes to refresh their knowledge and to facilitate the
discharge of their responsibilities. Continuing briefings
and professional development to Directors are arranged
whenever necessary. In addition, reading materials on new
or changes to salient laws and regulations applicable to the
Group are provided to Directors from time to time for their
studying and reference.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Directors
have participated training as follows:

- All Directors (being Mr. Liu Xingxu, Mr. Zhang Qingjin,
Ms. Yan Yunhua, Mr. Ong Kian Guan, Mr. Li Shengxiao,
Mr. Ong Wei Jin and Mr. Li Hongxing) received regular
briefings and updates from the Company Secretaries/
Company’s management on the Group's business,
operations and corporate governance matters.

- All directors attended relevant seminars organised by
professional firms/institutions.

- Mr. Liu Xingxu, Mr. Zhang Qingjin and Ms. Yan Yunhua
read technical bulletins, periodicals and other
publications on subjects relevant to the Group and
on their responsibilities and obligations under the
Listing Rules and relevant regulatory requirements.
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TEERRE
B6.  DIRECTORS' ATTENDANCE RECORDS B6. ESBHERH
The attendance records of each Director at the meetings BFEESEREBEE_ZT ==
of the Board and the Committees and the annual general TZRA=+T—RLEFEARR
meeting of ("AGM") the Company held during the year AIRITNESEg% £8
ended 31 December 2023 are set out below: ggaBRRAEFAE (R
REBAFAE ) WEFLEH
FIEAT
Attendance of Meetings
BEEEAY
Annual
Audit Remuneration ~ Nomination General
Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting
EZ® ENZRe  FHZEE BFZEf RRAFAS
No. of Meetings held 5 5 1 1 1
SENH
Name of Director
EEf?
Executive Directors: HiTEE :
Mr. Liu Xingxu iy 5 - - ! I
Mr. Zhang Qingjin RESEE 4 - - - -
Ms.Yan Yunhua BREEL+ 5 - - - 1
Independent non-executive Directors: B VM TEE -
Mr. Ong Kian Guan TEREE 5 5 1 1 1
Mr.Li Shengxiao FERSAE 5 > I I !
Mr.Ong WeiJin TACEE 5 5 1 1 1
Mr. Li Hongxing £ 5 5 1 1 1
In addition, the Chairman of the Board held a meeting SN REEFERN  EFE
with the independent non-executive Directors without FREBIFNITESRIT
the presence of executive Directors during the year under T—REgH g LWERT
review. EEIE o
While the Board considers Directors’ attendance at the HAEESRAEFLFE

meetings of the Board and the Committees to be important,
it should not be the only criterion to measure the Directors'
contributions. The Board also takes into account the
contributions by Board members in other forms including
periodical reviews, and provision of guidance and advice on
various matters relating to the Group.
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B7.

B8.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code (Appendix C3
to the Listing Rules) as its own code of conduct regarding
Directors'dealings in the Company’s securities. The Company
has made specific enquiry of all the Directors, and the
Directors confirmed that they have complied with the Model
Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2023.

The Company has also established written guidelines on no
less exacting terms than the Model Code (the “Employees
Written Guidelines”), governing securities transactions
by the relevant employees who are likely to possess inside
information of the Company and/or its securities. No incident
of non-compliance of the Employees Written Guidelines by
relevant employees was noted by the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2023.

In case when the Company is aware of any restricted period
for dealings in the Company’s securities, the Company will
notify the Directors and relevant employees in advance.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board as a whole is responsible for performing the
corporate governance functions set out in the code
provision A.2.1 of the CG Code. The Board has reviewed and
monitored the Company’s corporate governance policies
and practices, the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management, the
Company'’s policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance of the
Model Code and the Employees Written Guidelines, and the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in
this Corporate Governance Report.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three Board committees, namely, the
AC, the RC and the NC, for overseeing particular aspects of the
Company’s affairs. All the Committees have been established with
defined written terms of reference, which are available on the
websites of the SEHK (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company (www.
chinaxlx.com.hk). All the Committees should report to the Board on
their decisions or recommendations made.

All the Committees are provided with sufficient resources to
discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to
seek independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances,
at the Company’s expenses.

C1.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The AC currently comprises a total of four members, being
the four existing independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Ong Kian Guan, Mr. Li Shengxiao, Mr. Ong Wei
Jinand Mr. Li Hongxing. The chairman of the AC is Mr. Ong
Kian Guan, who possesses the appropriate professional
qualifications, accounting and related financial management
expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.
None of the members of the AC is a former partner of the
Company’s existing external auditor.

The main duties of the AC are reviewing the financial
information and reports of the Group and considering any
significant or unusual items raised by the financial officers
of the Group or the external auditor before submission to
the Board; reviewing the relationship with and the terms
of appointment of the external auditor and making the
relevant recommendation to the Board; and reviewing the
Company’s financial reporting system, risk management and
internal control systems and internal audit function.

The Company has in place a whistle-blowing policy for
employees of the Group and those who deal with the
Company to raise concerns about possible improprieties
in financial reporting, internal control or other matters.
The AC constantly receives updates from the external
auditor pertaining to the latest changes to the accounting
standards and issues which have a direct impact on financial
statements.
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During the year ended 31 December 2023, the AC has held 5
meetings. Details of individual attendance of each member
at the meetings are set out in section B6 above. The AC has
performed the following major works during the year ended
31 December 2023:

- Review and discussion of the annual financial
statements, results announcement and report for
the year ended 31 December 2022 together with
the Environmental, Social and Governance Report
("ESG"), and the related accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group;

- Review and discussion of the interim financial
statements, results announcement and report for
the six months ended 30 June 2023, and the related
accounting principles and practices adopted by the
Group;

- Review and discussion of the financial results for
the first quarter ended 31 March 2023 and the third
quarter ended 30 September 2023 respectively;

- Consideration and discussion of the major audit
findings (including Key Audit Matters) for the year
ended 31 December 2022 from the external auditor;

- Consideration and discussion of the major internal
audit findings for the year ended 31 December 2022
and the first three quarters ended 31 December 2023
respectively;

- Review of the independence of the external auditor
and recommendation of its re-appointment for the
year ended 31 December 2023;
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- Review and discussion of the continuing connected - ERLAWEBEET
transactions for the year ended 31 December 2023; —=F+=ZA=+—
Bt F R ERE

5
- Review and discussion of the effectiveness of the - ER R wmMBRE
financial reporting system, the risk management & ARER (B
(including ESG risk) and internal control systems and RE @ RERE
the internal audit function; %) M NSRS Z T A
MABEZINENE

R
- Review of the arrangement of whistle-blowing - ERRREENL

policy; and R
- Review and discussion of Ernst & Young LLP's audit - ERRAREKER
plan for the year ended 31 December 2023. MEKABEE_-F
—=Ft-A=1—
HIEFEREZTE -
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the external Hz_Z2-_=4+=HA
auditor has met the AC twice and discussed with the AC on =t+—BIEFE - HMNEBERE
issues arising from the audit and financial reporting matters. MEEEZEZESSEM
R WEREZEZE G ME
B R EHREEEFTE S

fal 8 o

The AC, having reviewed all non-audit services provided BEzZEgEEHARAIN
by the external auditor of the Company, was satisfied that B ANIR P A FE T X
the nature and extent of such services would not affect the R - (ENZEREHME
independence and objectivity of the external auditor. The REEE T g EINBZE
AC recommended that Ernst & Young LLP be nominated for FEB R BB - T
re-appointment as the Company’s external auditor at the ZEgREBEE_T_MNFR
2024 AGM. There is no disagreement between the Board and RBEFRE LIRALKER
the AC regarding the selection, appointment, resignation or =SB RNERTAERR
dismissal of external auditor. AR INEDIZ BRAD - EE

BRZ B SHEINBZEED
HE - RE - BESRBE
WEBRENEG -
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C2.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The RC currently comprises a total of four members, being
the four existing independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Ong Kian Guan, Mr. Li Shengxiao, Mr. Ong Wei Jin
and Mr. Li Hongxing. The chairman of the RC is Mr. Ong Wei
Jin. All aspects of remuneration, including but not limited
to Directors' fees, salaries, allowances, bonuses and benefits
in kind, will be covered by the RC. Each RC member will
abstain from voting on any resolution in respect of his own
remuneration package.

The Company’s remuneration policy is to ensure that the
remuneration offered to employees, including Directors
and senior management, is based on skill, knowledge,
responsibilities and involvement in the Company’s affairs.

The principal responsibilities of the RC include reviewing and
making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
remuneration policy and structure and the remuneration
packages of Directors and senior management (i.e. the
model described in the code provision E.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG
Code is adopted), to review and/or approve matters relating
to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. The
RC is also responsible for establishing transparent procedures
for developing such remuneration policy and structure
to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates will
participate in deciding his/her own remuneration, and
the remuneration will be determined by the Board with
reference to the performance of the individual and the
Company as well as the market practice and conditions.
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In setting remuneration packages, the RC will take into TEHITE S MAS R - FE
consideration the salary and employment conditions in BEgRZERITEANALELRA
comparable companies within the industry. The RC will B A Fr B ANES AR 514 o B
also review the remuneration packages of the independent ZE MR B IERTT
non-executive Directors and the non-executive Director to EENIEMTESFNHFNAE
ensure that they are commensurate with the contributions a0 WHEREENHHEE
and responsibilities of the Directors. Each of the executive EWERIMEEIERE - 3
Directors entered into a service contract with the Company, TEEEEARRGFIBEE
which covers each of their terms of employment. The HERKEGHRBEER - K
Company will submit the quantum of Directors' fees of each NEIBFRERFBERE
year to the Shareholders for approval at each AGM. RRXBFNESHSERE -
PABERR SR B/ o
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the RC has held REBEEZE-_ZT-_=F+=A
1 meeting. Details of individual attendance of each member =t—HILFE FMEE
at the meeting are set out in section A6 above. At the said FERTIRGH - FLBW
meetings, the RC: (i) reviewed the remuneration framework R FEeRFFHINN L
for the Directors, key executive staff, top five highest paid M A6ET e Rt gE L F
employees and employees who are immediate family MEEE : (K2 EREED
members of the Directors for the year ended 31 December RERE B HAKRE
2022 and the remuneration proposal for the year ended 31 AANE T LA A& Bk
December 2023, by reference to the Group's performance FomaeEE—T o oF+ =
and profitability as well as the remuneration level of A=1+—RILFEXEEE F
certain listed corporations within the industry; (ii) reviewed ZITHAE - AR&=HER
the letters of appointment, including the remuneration NEENEZHBENT NGRS
packages, of the Directors appointed during the year under UWEBEZZT=-=%+=A
review, with recommendations to the Board for approval; =+—HIEFERF R
and (iii) reviewed, confirmed and ratified the renewal of (VBT REEEEANERT
service contracts and/or letters of appointment of the EEMEAER - BEFNAE
Directors with recommendations to the Board for approval W MESZERIME:
and ratification. R (i) i 7T ~ HERR KB RRIL (M)

EEEEA I LB RS
BEETT I RELHR,
REE -
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C3.

Pursuant to the code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code,
the annual remuneration of the members of the senior
management by band for the year ended 31 December
2023 is set out below:

RIEDEEASFRISFRNES
FEISG BHE-Z =%
+-A=+—HIFESH
ERENKENTFE T MLE
BB HEHFET -

Remuneration band (RMB) Number of individuals
FEE (ARET) A
1,800,000-2,100,000 3
2,100,001-2,400,000 3

Details of the remuneration of each Director for the
year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in 9 to the
consolidated financial statements contained in this annual
report.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The NC currently comprises a total of five members, being
the Chairman of the Board, namely Mr. Liu Xingxu, and the
four existing independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Ong Kian Guan, Mr. Li Shengxiao, Mr. Ong Wei Jin and
Mr. Li Hongxing. Accordingly, a majority of the members are
independent non-executive Directors. The chairman of the
NC is Mr. Li Shengxiao.

The principal responsibilities of the NC include reviewing
the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board on an annual basis
and recommending any changes to the Board; identifying
qualified and suitable individuals to become Board
members and selecting and making recommendations
to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships; assessing the independence of independent
non-executive Directors; and making recommendations to
the Board on relevant matters relating to the appointment
or reappointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors.

cs.
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The NC has established and implemented processes REZBGENIILHITIE
including taking into consideration the attendance records F(EEZEREEFEREEER
at the meetings of the Board and the Committees for EEMNLFEL) - UER
monitoring and evaluating the performance of the Board MifhES BB RE -
as a whole and effectiveness and contribution of individual BRI RERESDERL ©
Directors.
The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of BEFAMAATREEHE
other significant offices held by them. Where a Director has REFTEEHMEBBRBIEH
multiple directorships, the NC will evaluate whether or not FHIE - MR—BEERED
the Director is able to carry out and has been adequately EFERARNES  BEZE
carrying out his/her duties as a Director. For the year ended Bl tzESEEE
31 December 2023, the Board is satisfied that each Director WEPEBITEEAESNR
has allocated sufficient time and resources to the affairs of B -REEZE_T_=F+_=_
the Company. A=+—BLFEMS &
EEEMZESHOIET R
SR A B R RER IR AR
GIEE S/
The Company has also adopted the Director Nomination RAFIERMEFTRERE
Policy. Such policy, devising the criteria and process of 5o A BRI TE R 8B NETT
selection and performance evaluation, provides guidance to BRI 2 RERERF
the Board on nomination and appointment of directors of MESERHREALZER
the Company. The Board believes that the defined selection NRIEBZES - EEER
process is good for corporate governance in ensuring the R REEBREBMEE
Board continuity and appropriate leadership at Board level, ER UBERESSRHEN
and enhancing better Board effectiveness and diversity NEFEEANEERE
as well as in compliance with the applicable rules and RRESFSNERZHEMNA
regulations. RBrE AR ROER -
The NC and/or the Board may select candidates for REZEER /HEFET
directorship from various channels, including but not limited BEETREERER(RE
to internal promotion, re-designation, referral by other A BEEBAERARLE
member of the management and external recruitment A BEE RN
agents. In selecting and evaluating candidates for SREBEMKENSE - B
directorship, the NC may make reference to certain criteria, IRE T EE FRR AR
such as the Company's needs, the integrity, experience, REZEGAUZ2EETE
skills and professional knowledge of the candidate, and the £ WMARRFZFER - RE
amount of time and effort that the candidate will devote to ARG &% RERE
discharge his/her duties and responsibilities. Each candidate FAMBARREABIZEAE
shall be ranked by order of preference based on the needs THEE RBEENRELRE
of the Company and check by the Company. The NC shall 77 o BAREANAGIRAR AR
report and make recommendation to the Board on the kR ZEEITIEFEES -
appointment of appropriate candidate for directorship for REZEEBENATEEE
decision. EEFREARNESSW
EWIEHHEBRE ©
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The Company also recognises and embraces the benefits
of having a diverse Board and sees increasing diversity at
the Board level as an essential element in maintaining the
Company’s competitive advantage. The Company believes
that greater diversity of directors is good for corporate
governance and is committed to attract and retain
candidate(s) for Board with a combination of competencies
from the widest possible pool of available talents, and
assesses regularly the diversity profile of the Board and the
senior management prepared for Board positions under the
succession planning of the Company and the progress on
achieving diversity objectives, if any. A Board diversity policy
was adopted by the Company, pursuant to which the Board
and the NC is responsible for reviewing and assessing the
Board composition under diversified perspectives (including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, or professional experience) and for ensuring
that changes to the Board’s composition can be managed
without undue disruption. The NC shall report its findings
and make recommendation to the Board, if any. Such policy
and objectives, if any, will be reviewed from time to time to
ensure their appropriateness in determining the optimum
composition of the Board that are aligning with the
Company’s strategy and objectives.

RRABFRAILREERTS
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B) RRRIRMEEEZTT
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For the purpose of implementation of the board diversity REBEZFEE TLBUR
policy, the following measurable objectives were adopted:- TH|AI £ B2 RN
at least one member of the Board shall be female; EL—REEEKE
fEAZTIE
at least one-third of the members of the Board shall . BELP=pr—WES
be independent non-executive Directors; S B E B IR
TEE
at least one member of the Board shall have obtained . EL—REFTEKE
accounting or other professional qualifications; JECES S A M
BEER
at least 40% of the members of the Board shall have . ELA0NMEE S K
more than 20 years of experience in the industry in SREREHE XA
which he/she is specialised; and BHF A EHKE
P53
at least one-third of the members of the Board shall . BEL=pr—RES
have China-related work experience. gXERAGEFE
MR TIEK SR -
The NC considered an appropriate balance of diversity RAZESRRAEEIHE
perspectives of the Board is maintained. BLZ L BEmEE i o
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The Company values gender diversity across all levels of
the Group. The following table sets out the gender ratio in
the workforce of the Group, including the Board and senior
management as at the date of this annual report:

RABERANEEEERD
R Z Tt - TREIARE
E(RREEe e R ER
B)RAFHRAPHE LM
alll=at T

Female Male

ziE B

Board e 14.29% (1) 85.71% (6)
Senior Management SRERE 14.29% (1) 85.71% (6)
Other employees HitfEg 25.30% (2,625) 74.70% (7,751)
Overall workforce BEST 25.28% (2,627) 74.72% (7,763)

The Board is committed to improving greater gender
diversity in the Board, senior management and other
employees of the Group.

Further details on the gender ratio of the Group together
with relevant data are set out in the ESG Report of the
Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the NC has
held 1 meeting. Details of individual attendance of each
member at the meeting are set out in section B6 above.
At the said meetings, the NC: (i) reviewed the structure,
size and composition of the Board to ensure that it has a
balance of expertise, skills and experience appropriate to
the requirements for the business of the Group; (i) assessed
the independence of all the independent non-executive
Directors; (iii) recommended the re-election of the retiring
Directors at the 2023 AGM; (iv) reviewed and confirmed the
renewal of service contracts and/or letters of appointment
of the Directors with recommendations to the Board for
approval and ratification; and (v) approval the appointment
of Mr. Song Wanlei as Chief Executive Officer of the Company
in place of Mr. Ma Tongsheng.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING
IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board is accountable to the Shareholders and is mindful of
its obligations to furnish timely information and to ensure full
disclosure of material information to the Shareholders in compliance
with statutory requirements and the Listing Rules.

The Directors have acknowledged their responsibilities for preparing
the financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2023.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports, inside
information announcements and other disclosures required
under the Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements. The
management has provided such explanation and information to
the Board as necessary to enable the Board to make an informed
assessment of the financial information and position of the Group
and put forward to the Board for approval.

There are no material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as
a going concern.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems perform
a key role in the identification and management of risks that are
significant to the achievement of the Group’s business objectives.
The process of business risk management has been integrated
throughout the Group into business planning and monitoring
processes. The Company’s management continuously assesses the
likelihood of risk occurrence, provides treatment plans, monitors
the risk management progress, and reports to the AC and the Board
on all findings. The management would also report to the AC and
the Board on the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems.
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The AC ensures that a review of the effectiveness of the Group's
risk management (including ESG risks) and internal control
systems covering all material internal controls (including financial,
operational, compliance and information technology controls),
with respect to the design, implementation and monitoring of such
systems, is conducted annually and put forward to the Board for
consideration. In this regard, the AC reviews the audit plans and the
findings of the external and internal auditors, and ensures that the
Company will follow up on the auditors' recommendations raised, if
any, during the audit process.

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the Group's risk
management and internal control systems and reviewing their
effectiveness. Such systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss. The Board, with the assistance of
the management and the AC, has the overall responsibility for
evaluating and determining the nature and extent of the risks it
is willing to take in achieving the Company'’s strategic objectives,
and establishing and maintaining appropriate and effective risk
management (including ESG risks) and internal control systems to
safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and the Group's assets.

Based on the reports submitted by the external and internal
auditors and the various management controls put in place, the
Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the Group's
risk management and internal control systems for the year ended
31 December 2023. With the concurrence of the AC, the Board
considered that the Group's risk management and internal control
systems maintained by the management are effective and adequate
to address the financial, operational and compliance controls and
risk management of the Group throughout the year ended 31
December 2023.
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During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board has also
received assurance from the Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer of the Company that (i) the financial records have
been properly maintained and the financial statements give a true
and fair view of the Company/Group’s operation and finances; and (ii)
the Company/Group has put in place and will continue to maintain
reliable, comprehensive and sound systems of risk management,
internal control and corporate governance that will withstand the
scrutiny of any audit and review by the external auditor.

The Company has implemented control procedures throughout the
year ended 31 December 2023 to ensure that unauthorised access
and use of inside information are strictly prohibited.

The Company has also put place the Anti-Corruption Policy to
safeguard against corruption and bribery within the Company.
The Company has an internal reporting channel that is open and
available for employees of the Company to report any suspected
corruption and bribery. Employees can also make anonymous
reports to the internal audit function, which is responsible for
investigating the reported incidents and taking appropriate
measures. The Company continues to carry out anti-corruption and
anti-bribery activities to cultivate a culture of integrity, and actively
organizes anti-corruption training and inspections to ensure the
effectiveness of anti-corruption and anti-bribery.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company held 2
anti-corruption trainings and briefings to all employees. There were
no non-compliance cases in relation to bribery and corruption.
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INTERNAL AUDIT

The primary functions of the Company’s internal audit include
assessing if adequate internal control system is in place to protect
the funds and assets of the Group and to ensure compliance with
the internal control procedures; assessing whether the operation of
the business processes under review is conducted efficiently and
effectively; and identifying and recommending improvements to
the internal control procedures, where required.

The Board, with the concurrence of the AC, is satisfied with
the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget and effectiveness of the Group's
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions.

COMPANY SECRETARIES

During the year ended 31 December 2023, Ms. Leung Kwan Wai of
Tricor Services Limited and Ms. Cheok Hui Yee of Tricor Singapore
Pte. Ltd,, both of which companies being external service providers,
have been engaged as the Company’s Joint Company Secretaries.

The Company Secretaries' primary contact persons at the Company
are Ms. Yan Yunhua, an executive Director, and Ms. Gui Lin, the Head
of Securities Department of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company Secretaries
have taken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.
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EXTERNAL AUDITOR AND AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the Company’s financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2023 is set out in the section headed
“Independent Auditor's Report”of this annual report.

The fees paid/payable to Ernst & Young LLP, the Company’s external
auditor, in respect of audit services and non-audit services for the
year ended 31 December 2023 are analysed below:

SMNERZ BN R A BB A =

RRFNEZBEI A EEERE —F
T+ A=t—HLEFEAR
A1 75 R B R ¥R B (L AF h O 22 B
AN ROB AR BE RS |8

RBE_T-_=F+=-RA=+—H
IFFEREZIRT M IEEZRE T
B BT AR RIINBIZ B L
KEETREBANBADITAT

Fees paid/payable
Bt/ EAEA
Type of services provided by the external auditor (RMB'000)
SN E IR MRS RE (AREEFIT)
Audit services
BERE
- Audit fee for the year ended 31 December 2023 4,606
BHE T =F+-_A=-+HIFENSEZER
Non-audit services 118
BRI
- Tax compliance service
HIEA RRS
TOTAL:
45T 4,724
|
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

The Group recognises the importance of transparent and timely
disclosure of corporate information, which enables Shareholders
and investors to make the best investment decision. Price sensitive
information will be publicly released before the Company’s
disclosure of any of such information to any investors or analysts.
Financial results and reports will be announced or issued within the
prescribed periods under the statutory or regulatory requirements.

In line with continuous obligations of the Company pursuant to the
Listing Rules, the Company's Shareholders’ Communication Policy
is that all Shareholders be informed of all major developments
that impact the Group. The Board had reviewed the policy and
considered that the implementation of the policy was effective.
Information is disseminated to the Shareholders and investors on a
timely basis through:

i. Announcements, financial reports, circulars and news
releases published on the website of the SEHK;

ii. Financial reports prepared and issued to all Shareholders;

iii. Press releases on major developments of the Group;

iv. Notices of and explanatory memoranda for AGM and
Extraordinary General Meeting ("EGM"); and

V. the Company’s website at www.chinaxlx.com.hk at which
the Shareholders can access information of the Group,
roadshows and plant visits.

Please refer to the section headed “Investor relations” of this annual
report for more details.

Shareholders are encouraged to attend general meetings to ensure
high level of accountability and to stay apprised of the Group's
strategy and goals. Notices of general meetings will be published
on the websites of the SEHK and the Company. The chairmen of the
Committees are normally available at general meetings to answer
any question relating to the work of the Committees. The external
auditor shall also be present at AGM to answer questions about the
conduct of the audit, the preparation and content of the auditor’s
report, the accounting policies and auditor independence.

HERREREENER

AEBERLXEERELER
BENERME  HAERREEE
EEL&ERBERTE - BRERZE
BB RAR B R EMREER DN
BWBREMNZZER IR
MBEREMBERIOEEHEER
TR NRTAMHRA AR EDL -

BEARDARE E TR RS
R AAAMREE AR RS
>RGN EARANHEE
KRR - EFEENERALE
FOEHRBEN - AR ABBUT
R IR R A E B A
o

B TIE RS - B
BERE -~ BKAFE M

i B2 BRI B 0 1A fib P9 B
B HRE

i, BRAEEERERNOIE

fa

iv.  ERRBFREMERERIA
S(RREBAKRE])ES
MSARTE &

v, RN B HY A8 0 (www.chinaxix.
com.hk) + IR 5 B] B 5% 48 Ut 2
EREEMER - BENAR
BELEEE) -

E—THBEB2EAFRIRESE
BAR | —&0 o

ARFSBBREFERRAE - A
EREENHFEKENGSOAEER
HIREEM B R - IRRASBRERE
B PAMA R RABIER A - BF
BemEm—RBELFERRAX
g EEEEZESTHEERANE
2 o HMNER R B IR IR R B
Reg - NEEBBETER 2R
FEERE R AT - FFTEER
ZEEN B 1V

RELED —T=FER

79



80

Corporate Governance Report

a3

ERWE
Besides, for putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders
and investors may send written enquiries to the Company. The
Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous
enquiries. Shareholders and investors may send their written
enquiries to the following:
Address:  Room 1903-04, 19/F, Hong Kong Trade Centre, 161 Des

Voeux Road Central, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong

Fax: (852) 2435 3724
Email: ir@chinaxix.com.hk
Inquiries are dealt with in an informative and timely manner.
SHAREHOLDERS'RIGHTS

To safeguard the Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate
resolution shall be proposed at general meetings on each
substantially separate issue, including the election of individual
Directors, for Shareholders’' consideration and voting.

J1. CONVENING AN EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL METING

Pursuant to Article 47 of the Constitution, the Directors
may whenever they think fit, and shall on requisition in
accordance with the statute, proceed with proper expedition
to convene an extraordinary general meeting ("EGM").

Pursuant to the Companies Act:

(a) Shareholders holding 10% or more of the paid-
up capital of the Company which carries the right
to vote at general meetings as at the date of the
deposit of the requisition, may request the Board
to convene an EGM. The written requisition must
specify the objects of the meeting, be signed by
the Shareholders concerned and deposited at the
registered office of the Company for the attention of
the Board or the Company Secretaries;
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J2.

(b) The Board shall proceed to convene an EGM within
21 days of the deposit of such written requisition.
Such EGM shall be held within 2 months after the
deposit of such written requisition; and

() If the Directors do not within 21 days after the date of
the deposit of the requisition proceed to convene an
EGM, the Shareholders who deposited requisition, or
any of them representing more than 50% of the total
voting rights of all of them, may themselves, in the
same manner as nearly as possible as that in which
meetings are to be convened by Directors, convene
an EGM, but any EGM so convened shall not be held
after the expiration of 3 months from that date.

PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS AT GENERAL MEETINGS

In general, subject to the paragraph below, no resolution
may be proposed at a general meeting (whether it is an EGM
or an annual general meeting ("AGM")) if such resolution is
not included in the notice convening the general meeting.
However, if the proposal is to amend an existing resolution
set out in the notice convening the general meeting and
such amendment is within the scope of the notice, such
amendment may be made if approved by the Shareholders
by ordinary resolution.

On the requisition in writing of either (i) any number of
Shareholders representing not less than 5% of the total
voting rights of all the Shareholders having at the date of the
requisition a right to vote at the general meeting to which
the requisition related; or (ii) not less than 100 Shareholders
on which there has been paid up an average sum, per
Shareholder, of not less than $$500, the Company shall be
under a duty to:
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(@) Give to the Shareholders entitled to receive notice
of the next AGM notice of any resolution which may
properly be moved and is intended to be moved at
that meeting; and

(b) Circulate to the Shareholders entitled to have notice
of any general meeting sent to them any statement
of not more than 1,000 words with respect to the
matter referred to in any proposed resolution or the
business to be dealt with at that meeting.

Notice of any such intended resolution shall be given, and
any such statement shall be circulated, to the Shareholders
entitled to have notice of the meeting sent to them by
serving a copy of the resolution or statement on each such
Shareholder in any manner permitted for service of notice of
the meeting, and notice of any such resolution shall be given
to any other Shareholder by giving notice of the general
effect of the resolution in any manner permitted for giving
him/her notice of meetings of the Company. The requisition
shall be deposited at the registered office of the Company at
least 6 weeks before the meeting.

For the avoidance of doubt, the Shareholder must provide
his/her full name, contact details and identification, in the
originally signed written requisition, notice or statement (as
the case may be), in order to give effect thereto. Information
of the Shareholder may be disclosed as required by law.

During the year under review, the Company has amended
and restated its Constitution on 2 June 2023. Details of the
amendments are set out in the Company's circular dated
27 April 2023. An up-to-date version of the Constitution is
available on the websites of the SEHK and the Company.
Shareholders may refer to the Constitution for further details
of the rights of Shareholders.

All resolutions put forward at general meetings shall
be voted by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules, and poll
results will be posted on the websites of the SEHK and the
Company after each general meeting.
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Directors’ Statement
BEERE

The directors (the “Directors”) of China XLX Fertiliser Ltd.(the “Company”) are
pleased to present their statement to the Shareholders together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of China XLX Fertiliser Ltd. (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) and the statement
of financial position and statement of changes in equity of the Company for
the financial year ended 31 December 2023.

In the opinion of the Directors,

(i) the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group
and the statement of financial position and statement of changes
in equity of the Company are drawn up so as to give a true and fair
view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as
at 31 December 2023 and the financial performance, changes in
equity and cash flows of the Group and changes in equity of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2023; and

(ii) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to
believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when
they fall due.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of the
principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 48 to the financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year, a discussion on
the Group's future business development, and the description of possible
risks and uncertainties that the Group may be facing are set out in the
Chairman’s Statement and the Management Discussion and Analysis of this
annual report. The financial risk management objectives and policies of
the Group are set out in Note 46 to the consolidated financial statements.
An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year using financial
key performance indicators is set out in the Financial Highlights of this
annual report. Discussions on the Group’s compliance with the relevant
laws and regulations and relationships with its key stakeholders that have a
significant impact on the Group are included in the Chairman’s Statement,
Investor Relations and Corporate Governance Report of this annual report
and in this Directors' Statement.

The Group places much importance on environmental protection, energy-
saving and emission reduction, continuously processes environmental
transformation of production systems, promotes the implementation of
clean production, and continuously formulates and improves a series of
regulation policies to improve our environmental management, laying
a solid foundation for future development. Please refer to the separate
2023 Environmental, Social and Governance (‘ESG') Report of the Group,
sent together with this Annual report, for further details of the Group’s
ESG-related risks, environmental policies and performance and other ESG
information.
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DIVIDEND

Considering factors including domestic and overseas economies, industry
policies and the Company’s future development plans, profit targets,
investment and cash flow, capital requirements, the Group’s annual
dividend policy for 2022 to 2024 is updated, of which the details will be
distributed with reference to the index range of audited debt-to-asset ratio
(ie. the total liabilities divided by total assets) for the year.

1. When the debt-to-asset ratio is less than or equal to 60%, the
distribution ratio of net profit attributable to the parent for the year
is greater than or equal to 25%;

2. When the debt-to-asset ratio ranges between 60%-70%, the
distribution ratio of net profit attributable to the parent for the year
ranges between 20%-25%;

3. When the debt-to-asset ratio is greater than or equal to 70%, the
distribution ratio of net profit attributable to the parent for the year
ranges between 15%-20% (including 20%);

4. If the net profit realised by the Group for the year is negative, no
profit distribution will be made;

5. In the event of force majeure such as war or natural disaster,
or changes in the external operating environment that have a
significant impact on the production and operation of the Company,
the Company may adjust its profit distribution policy.

In addition, the Group can also make profit distribution based on the actual
distribution situation for the year and on the basis of the above distribution
proposal, in combination with other means of allotment.

The Board shall consider the following factors before declaring or
recommending dividends, including without limitation to: (i) financial
results; (i) cash flow situation; (iii) availability of distributable profits; (iv)
business conditions and strategies; (v) future operations and earnings; (vi)
capital requirements and expenditure plans.
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The payment of dividend is also subject to compliance with the
Constitution and the applicable laws and regulations. The Board will review
the said dividend policy as appropriate from time to time and there can be
no assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular amount for any
given period.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group's profit for the year ended 31 December 2023 and the Group's
financial position at that date are set out in the financial statements on
pages 96 to 234 of this annual report.

No interim dividend was paid during the year. The Directors recommend
the payment of a final dividend of RMB24 cents (2022: RMB25 cents) per
ordinary share in respect of the year to the Shareholders whose names
appear on the Register of Members on 24 May 2023. Subject to the
approval of Shareholders at the 2024 AGM, the final dividend will be paid
on 7 June 2024.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the consolidated results and assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published
audited financial statements, is set out on page 234 of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the Company’s share capital is set out in Note 38 to the financial
statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Constitution or
the laws of Singapore, being the jurisdiction in which the Company was
incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a
pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

Details of the Company’s share repurchase is set out in Note 38 to the
financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 December 2023, the Company's reserves available for distribution,
calculated in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act,
amounted to approximately RMB569,302,000 of which RMB292,503,000 has
been proposed as a final dividend for the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for less than 5% (2022: less than 8%) of the total sales for the
year. Purchases from the Group's five largest suppliers accounted for 26%
(2022: 34%) of the total purchases for the year and purchases from the
largest supplier included therein amounted to 9% (2022: 13%).

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any Shareholders
(which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group's
five largest customers or suppliers.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

As far as the Board is aware, the Company has complied in material respects
with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
business and operation of the Company.
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CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable contributions totalling
RMB2,703,000 (2022: RMB6,458,000).

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company in office at the date of this statement are:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:

Liu Xingxu
Zhang Qingjin
Yan Yunhua

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:

Ong Kian Guan
Li Shengxiao
Ong Wei Jin
Li Hongxing

The Company has received annual confirmation of independence from
each of the independent non-executive Directors and considers them to be
independent.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT
AND COMPANY SECRETARIES

Biographical details of the Directors, the senior management of the Group
and the Company Secretaries are set out on this annual report.

ARRANGEMENTS TO ENABLE DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

Neither at the end of nor at any time during the year was the Company a
party to any arrangement whose objects are, or one of whose objects is,
to enable the Directors or their respective spouses or minor children to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of
the Company or any other body corporate.

HERM

RAFE  AEBELESBRATA
R#2703000( Z T —F: ARK
6,458,000 7T) ©

EE
RAREAHEENARRESHT
HITES !

iy
RES
B

BYFATES

TR
THER
TAEC
U

ARREREBIIFNTESRENFE
BURERE - WRWEFRBL

EE SREERERATAMENE
i

B FAEERMEEERARWENE
R BN A G

ESWBROREEENZH

ARRRAF EEE HHAF EAE[E
BEIE A — AR ZH - MEBH
BEEEBNZ—R)BEEZTXREFEE
ZBECBERKE F LR WA QRS A
HoAth A B B0 B0 Sl (B T 2 2k ©

hBLOED — T - —FFIR

87



88

Directors’ Statement
BEERE

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors entered into a service contract with the
Company for a term of three years commencing from 28 March 2023,
unless terminated in accordance with the provisions of the service contract
by either party giving to the other not less than six months’ prior notice in
writing.

The Company has issued a letter of appointment to each of the
independent non-executive Directors and the non-executive Director for
a term of three years, unless terminated by either party giving to the other
not less than three months'prior notice in writing.

No Director proposed for re-election at the 2024 AGM has a service
contract with the Company which is not determinable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors' remuneration is subject to approval by the Remuneration
Committee with reference to the Directors’ duties, responsibilities and

performance and the results of the Group. Details of the Directors’

remuneration are set out in Note 9 to the financial statements.

HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

During the year, the five individuals with the highest remuneration in the
Group are all Directors and senior management of the Company. Details
of the highest paid individuals are set out in Note 10 to the financial
statements.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

As set out in Article 147 of the Constitution, a permitted indemnity
provision (as defined in the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance) for the
benefit of the Directors is currently in force and was in force throughout the
year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed "Continuing Connected
Transactions” and in Note 43 to the financial statements, no Director nor
a connected entity of a Director had a material interest, either directly or
indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in
relation to the business of the Group to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party subsisted at the end of or at any time during the
year under review.

DIRECTORS'AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS IN
SHARES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests of the Directors and chief executive
of the Company in shares of the Company, as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 164 of the
Companies Act and Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the SEHK pursuant to the Model Code as set out in Appendix
(3 to the Listing Rules, were as follows:

LONG POSITIONS
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Number of ordinary shares interested

BEERNEERYE
Approximate
percentage’ of
the Company’s
issued share
Personal Corporate capital
Name of Directors interests interests Other interests Total interests  {hZAR AT B 31T
EEns Bz ATER Htiig s BERE REANNBEIE?
Mr. Liu Xingxu 600,000 423,363,999 - 423,963,999 34.79%
2IE R (Note Pk (a))
Ms. Yan Yunhua 300,000 44,026,152 211,939,848 256,266,000 21.03%
BaEr Lt (Note K& (b)) (Note PfIE (b))
Mr. Ong Kian Guan 100,000 - - 100,000 0.01%
TRERREE
# The percentage represents the number of ordinary shares interested divided by the number of the Company’s issued shares as at 31
December 2023.
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Notes:

(@) These shares were held by Pioneer Top Holdings Limited (“Pioneer Top”), an
investment holding company established in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI").
Mr. Liu Xingxu beneficially owned 42% of the equity interest in Pioneer Top and
Mr. Liu Xingxu is irrevocably granted the absolute discretion to exercise the
voting rights and the rights to the day-to-day management of Pioneer Top.

(b) 44,026,152 Shares are held by Rosy Top Limited, which is 100% owned by Ms.
Yan Yunhua. Mirth Power Limited (“Mirth Power”) is a trust vehicle which holds
211,939,848 Shares for a total of 1,245 beneficiaries who are the employees of the
Group, pursuant to a trust agreement dated 12 September 2023. Additionally,
Ms. Yan Yunhua is the settlor of the said employee trust. Pursuant to the said trust
agreement, Ms. Yan Yunhua has the absolute discretion to exercise the voting
rights held by Mirth Power in the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors and
chief executive of the Company nor their associates had or was deemed
to have any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which has been recorded in the register
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 164 of the Companies Act
and Section 352 of the SFO, or which has been notified to the Company
and the SEHK pursuant to the Model Code.

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

During the year and up to the date of this annual report, none of the
Directors has any interest in a business which competes or may compete
with the business of the Group under the Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

During the year, no contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

The Group has no equity-linked agreements.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, the following parties had interests of 5% or more
in the issued shares and underlying shares of the Company according to
the register of interests required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 88 of the Companies Act and Section 336 of the SFO:

LONG POSITIONS

e
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Number of issued
ordinary shares
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of the Company’s issued

interested share capital
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Name of substantial Shareholders Capacity 21T R Fh Y HE4Y
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Pioneer Top (Note Bff 5T (a)) Beneficial owner 423,363,999 34.74%
ERBEAA

Teeroy Limited (Note Ffi &% (b)) Trustee 211,939,848 17.39%

ZFEEA

Mirth Power (Note MJ5E (b)) Beneficial owner 211,939,848 17.39%

BEm=AA

The percentage represents the number of issued ordinary shares interested divided by the number of the Company’s issued shares as at

31 December 2023.
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Pioneer Top is an investment holding company established in the BVI. Mr. Liu
Xingxu beneficially owned 42% of the equity interest in Pioneer Top, Mr. Liu
Xingxu has the absolute discretion to exercise the voting rights held by Pioneer
Top in the Company in accordance with the trust agreement. Such interest held
by Pioneer Top has also been disclosed as the interest of Mr. Liu Xingxu in the
above section headed "Directors'and Chief Executive’s Interests in Shares'.

Mirth Power is a trust vehicle which holds 211,939,848 Shares for a total of 1,245
beneficiaries who are the employees of the Group, pursuant to a trust agreement
dated 12 September 2023. Teeroy Limited is trustee of the said employee. None
of the 1,245 beneficiaries holds more than 5% interest in the trust. Additionally,
Ms. Yan Yunhua is the settlor of the employee trust. Pursuant to the said trust
agreement, Ms. Yan Yunhua has the absolute discretion to exercise the voting
rights held by Mirth Power in the Company.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, no person, other than
the Directors whose interests are set out in the section headed “Directors’
and Chief Executive’s Interests in Shares” above, had an interest or a short
position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company that
was required to be recorded in the register maintained by the Company
pursuant to Section 88 of the Companies Act and Section 336 of the SFO.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contracts of significance were entered into between the Company
or any of its subsidiaries and the controlling Shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries during the year.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group had the following continuing connected
transactions, which are the related party transactions set out in Note
43 to the financial statements that constituted continuing connected
transactions, and has complied with the disclosure requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

As at 31 December 2023, Mr. Liu Xingxu, Ms. Yan Yunhua and Mr. Zhang
Qingjin (being executive Directors) collectively held an aggregate of
approximately 13.67% interest in XLX Chem, and together are the largest
shareholder of XLX Chem and have the largest influence through their
shareholders’ rights on the major decisions in XLX Chem. Therefore, XLX
Chem, its subsidiaries and associates (collectively “XLX Chem Group”) are
deemed as the Company’s connected persons under Rule 14A.07 of the
Listing Rules.

NON-EXEMPT CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
EQUIPMENT PURCHASE AGREEMENT

The Group entered into the Equipment Purchase Agreement on 5 February
2021 with XLX Chem Group, pursuant to which XLX Chem Group agreed
to supply and provide the relevant installation services for equipment,
including pipes, vessels and pressure vessels, to Henan XLX. Accordingly,
the Group benefits from reliable and timely delivery of equipment and
cost effectiveness. Pursuant to the agreement, the prices for equipment
purchases are determined by the Group’s internal qualification and
tendering procedures with potential suppliers of equipment, which vary
depending on the product type, quantity and quality specifications as
required by Henan XLX.
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The Equipment Purchase Agreement has an original term commencing
from 5 February 2021 up to and including 31 December 2023. The Group
has set the annual cap for FY2023 in relation to the amount paid by the
Group to XLX Chem Group for the purchase of equipment under the
Agreement at RMB45,000,000. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the
aggregate amount paid by the Group for the purchase of equipment from
XLX Chem Group amounted to approximately RMB14,293,000.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the above
continuing connected transactions and confirmed that these continuing
connected transactions have been entered into:

) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

2) on normal commercial terms or on terms no less favourable to the
Group than terms available from independent suppliers; and

(3) according to the relevant agreement governing them on terms that
are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a
whole.

Ernst & Young LLP, the Company’s auditor, were engaged to report on the
Group's continuing connected transactions in accordance with International
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 Assurance Engagements Other
Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information and with reference
to Practice Note 740 Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Ernst & Young LLP have issued an unqualified
letter containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions disclosed above by the Group in accordance with
Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been
provided by the Company to the SEHK.
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BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of the bank loans and other borrowings of the Group are set out in
Note 33 to the financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in Note 48 to the financial
statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total issued
share capital was held by the public at the date of this report.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS ON FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Companies Act requires the Directors to prepare financial statements
for each financial year. These financial statements should give a true and fair
view of the financial position of the Group as at the end of the reporting
period of a particular year and on the financial performance of the Group
for the year then ended. In preparing the financial statements, the Directors
should:

(a) select and apply consistently appropriate accounting policies, and
make prudent, fair and reasonable judgement and estimation;

(b) report the reasons for any serious deviation from accounting
practice; and

(© prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis, unless
it is inappropriate to assume that the Group could continue to
operate.

The Directors are responsible for the proper keeping of accounting records
in order to secure the assets of the Company and the Group. The Directors
are also responsible for adopting reasonable measures to prevent and
check any fraudulences and irregularities.
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AUDITOR

Ernst & Young LLP have expressed their willingness to accept
re-appointment as the auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board of Directors:

Liu Xingxu

Yan Yunhua
Director

Director

8 March 2024
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P>
EY:

To the members of China XLX Fertiliser Ltd
(Incorporated in Singapore with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the financial statements of China XLX Fertiliser Ltd. (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the "Group”), which comprise
the statements of financial position of the Group and the Company as at
31 December 2023, the statements of changes in equity of the Group and
the Company and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income and the consolidated statement of cash flows of
the Group for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a material accounting policies information.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the
Group, the statement of financial position and the statement of changes
in equity of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the
provisions of the Companies Act 1967 (the “Act”), Singapore Financial
Reporting Standards (International) (“SFRS (I)s”) and International Financial
Reporting Standards in Singapore (“IFRSs”) so as to give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group and the financial
position of the Company as at 31 December 2023 and of the consolidated
financial performance, consolidated changes in equity and consolidated
cash flows of the Group and changes in equity of the Company for the year
ended on that date.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on
Auditing ("ISAs"). Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory
Authority ("ACRA”) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public
Accountants and Accounting Entities ("“ACRA Code”") together with
the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each
matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled our responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our
audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements.
The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to
address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT OF CASH-GENERATING UNITS (“CGUS")

The management has performed the mandatory annual impairment
assessments of the following CGUs with material allocated goodwill as at 31
December 2023:

Coal mining operations (“Coal mining CGU") with property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets, coal mining rights, and goodwill
amounting to RMB953,996,000, RMB16,175,000, RMB232,447,000
and RMB25,361,000, respectively; and

Medical intermediate CGU with property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, and goodwill amounting to RMB488,073,000,
RMB60,750,000, and RMB34,021,000 respectively.

Management has determined the recoverable amount of the CGUs based
on value in use calculations using discounted cash flows projected for the
CGUs. As disclosed in Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements, the
key assumptions included budgeted sales, growth rates, gross margins,
operating costs, commodity prices and the discount rates that consider
the specific risks relating to the respective CGUs. Based on the impairment
assessments, management has concluded that the CGUs are not impaired.
We determined this to be a key audit matter because the impairment
assessments were complex and involved significant management
judgements and estimates in making assumptions about the future
market and economic conditions, revenue growth, margin and efficiency
improvements.

As part of our audit, we obtained an understanding of management’s
bases and processes to determine the carrying amounts and recoverable
amounts of the respective CGUs. We checked that the CGUs cash flow
projections were based on approved management budgets that reflected
business plans and the estimates of coal outputs and mining reserves of
the Coal mining CGU. We engaged our internal valuation specialists to
assist us in assessing management’s valuation methodologies and the key
assumptions used in the respective discounted cash flow computations.
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We evaluated the key cash flows assumptions used by considering our
findings on past budget variances, comparing management’s budgeted
sales and operating costs to historical data and information on expected
efficiency improvements; corroborating these budgets against economic
and industry forecasts from external sources; and additionally in the case
of the Coal mining CGU, comparing the mineable reserves inputs that
budgeted sales are based on to the mines' proven and probable reserves
estimates provided by the relevant authority; and comparing commodity
prices used to external observable data.

We assessed the discount rates used by the management by comparing
to external data of comparable companies with support from our internal
valuation specialists. We performed sensitivity analyses of the impairment
assessments to reasonable changes in key assumptions. We also assessed
the adequacy of the Group's disclosures made on the impairment
assessments and related sensitivity analyses that are included in Notes
17 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements and those disclosures
related to significant accounting judgements and estimates that are
included in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF MANAGEMENT AND DIRECTORS
FORTHE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with the provisions of the Act, SFRS (I)s and IFRSs, and
for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls
sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded
against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are
properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit
the preparation of true and fair financial statements and to maintain
accountability of assets.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’'s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management
either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional T’EF%RET)% B PR B iz R FTE S 2 80 — &6
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We CBAEL BEEN AT E R Ti‘:F‘
also: f%ﬁ??%fi'ﬂ%ﬁﬁ%r BAPITT

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.
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REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY
REQUIREMENTS

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to
be kept by the Group have been properly kept in accordance with the
provisions of the Act.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Lee Lai Hiang.

Ernst & Young LLP
Public Accountants and Chartered Accountants
Singapore

8 March 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

SEBER HMW2HEBER rorme financial year ended 31 December 2023 Bt E —E —=F+_H =+1—HIFHKFE

2023 2022
—E-= - —F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B AR® TR ARETIT
Revenue A 6 23,475,338 23,071,897
Cost of sales SHE RS (19,288,318) (18,723,015)
Gross profit EF 4,187,020 4,348,882
Other income and gains E AN R Mz 6 298,931 187,293
Selling and distribution expenses SHE R DAY (618,274) (529,379)
General and administrative expenses —RITHRAX (1,299,158) (1,071,615)
Other expenses HbfxZ (40,136) (87,200)
Finance costs YR TN 8 (579,993) (662,193)
Impairment losses on financial assets SRIEENREBE 7 (9,310) (9,806)
Share of profits of associates FERHE AT
il 41 665 4,675
Profit before tax BRELAD SR R 7 1,939,745 2,180,657
Income tax expense FiSBims 11 (302,451) (372/482)
Profit for the year FRERF 1,637,294 1,808,175
Profit attributable to: PEAR R
Owners of the parent ISYNSIETZEUN 1,186,882 1,326,211
Non-controlling interests FEPEAR R 450,412 481,964
Total comprehensive income fortheyear  FRAZEWA LT 1,637,294 1,808,175
]
Earnings per share attributable to BAREBERER
ordinary equity holders of the parent BEAEBGEBRE
F
Basic and diluted (RMB cents per share) BEARNE#E
(BRARES) 13 96.95 109.67
T
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Statements of Financial Position

Eji%;lﬁiﬂ:i As at 31 December 2023 R —FE - =4F+_-A=+—H

Company

Z NG|

2023 2023 2022
—E=-= —E-= —E-—F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ks ARMET T ENNCEw ARETT NS
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ~ ¥13 ~ 5= M &4 14 20,236,061 19,457,875 = -
Right-of-use assets FRESE 15 1,634,832 1,386,660 = -
Intangible assets mpAE 16 69,710 59219 - -
Goodwil 5SS 17 63,022 63,022 - -
Coal mining rights R R 18 232,447 233434 = -
Equity investments at fair value &2 AF{EFT ABE
through profit or loss HA IR & 19 29,638 6,708 = -
Prepayments for purchases BEWE BEXR
of property, plant and B E LN
equipment KIE 20 946,943 117,923 - -
Due from a related company ~ FEUR &N FI5RIE 26 6,190 3,522 = -
Pledged time deposits EHIETE TR 27 - 23,833 = -
Deferred tax assets BRI TR E B 37 156,794 84,737 = -
Other assets HAih & E 21 66,488 92,038 - -
Investments in associates REFE RN FIEE 4 107,983 107,318 = -
Investments in subsidiaries RETEB A TR E 48 - - 2,131,622 2014915
Total non-current assets FREBEELE 23,550,108 21,636,289 2,131,622 2014915
Current assets REEE
Equity investments at fairvalue 2 AF(ERFABZE
through profit or loss BRI & 19 7,843 11,817 7,843 11,817
Prepayments TERTEIR 20 600,907 1,230,583 = -
Deposits and other receivables  #24 & E i fE UL
IR 20 346,379 194,128 — -
Inventories FE 22 1,596,661 1,699,459 - -
Other assets Hith & 21 18,537 13,799 - -
Derivative financial TEeRIE
instruments 23 9,015 9,827 - -
Trade and bills receivables B ZRBGRIE R
EM R 24 1,138,101 1019675 - -
Contract assets BREE 25 25,029 6,084 = -
Due from related companies/  JEURES:E AR,
subsidiaries B~ RIFIA 26 2,285 4,087 13,657 17,556
Pledged time deposits EHIRTE TR 27 676,073 571,663 = -
Cash and cash equivalents ReRReEEY 27 1,162,558 1,469,765 75,365 2,032
Total current assets REBEEHAE 5,583,388 6,230,887 96,865 31,405
REOED — T FFER
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Statements of Financial Position

Eji%;lﬁiﬂ:i As at 31 December 2023 R —E - =F+_-_A=+—H

Group Company
rEE AT
2023 2023 2022
—E_= —E:== T F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
BieE ARETT IUNCRWWE ARG TT NS
Current liabilities REEE
Trade payables Z SRR 28 1,388,617 645,698 = -
Bills payable ERRIE 29 939,068 496,618 = -
Contract liabilities GHBE 30 1,346,124 1,514,349 = -
Accruals and other payables FEETER K
HAbERTFIR 30 2,087,375 1,936,448 17,110 15,710
Due to related companies/a FEftREE AR
subsidiary by NCIE 8] 26 97,671 71,632 184,695 1,200
Income tax payable FERT PSR 94,913 - = -
Deferred grants EIEREL 31 10,526 10,426 = -
Lease liabilities MEAE 15 4,069 3738 = -
Interest-bearing bank and ETERITR
other borrowings HABER 33 4,468,625 5,556,085 = -
Other liabilities Hig i 35 6,593 6,280 = -
Bonds payable JERHE S 36 - 299,481 - -
Total current liabilities mENBEERE 10,443,581 10,540,755 201,805 16910
Net current (liabilities)/ HE(8E) BE
assets R (4,860,193) (4,309,868) (104,940) 14,495
Total assets less current HWEERARBERS
liabilities 18,689,915 17,326,421 2,026,682 2029410
I s
Non-current liabilities FREBAERE
Loans from non-controlling PR ERE R
interests 32 49,800 48,800 - -
Interest-bearing bank and FFEIRITR
other borrowings Hb 33 7,164,507 6,779,442 = -
Deferred grants EIERERG 31 122,088 72,068 = -
Lease liabilities HEAE 15 74,600 19,513 = -
Deferred tax liabilities EIERIBRE 37 149,632 118,062 = -
Provision for rehabilitation RIS B 34 26,280 25,748 - -
Accruals and other payables JEETERA &
Hofth e~ FRIH 30 493,077 589,384 = -
Other liabilities Hitg i 35 98,933 105,576 = -
Total non-current liabilities ~ JEREI & E42%E 8,178,917 7,758,593 = -
Net assets REE 10,510,998 9,567,828 2,026,682 2,029,410
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Group Company
rEE AT
2023 2023 2022

—E_= —EgE=-= —E-F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000

GER AR®TT PENEERpTE ARY T R

Equity =
Equity attributable to FRREE AEL
owners of the parent =
Share capital &N 38 1,457,380 1,493,096 1,457,380 1,493,096
Special reserve R 39 4,127 4,127 - -
Statutory reserve fund EERES 39 863,518 665,869 = -
Other reserve H 39 1,984,035 2,013,106 = -
Retained profits REB & 3,378,490 2,710,005 569,302 536,314
7,687,550 6,886,203 2,026,682 2,029,410
Non-controlling interests MRS 2,823,448 2,681,625 = -
Total equity R 10,510,998 9,567,828 2,026,682 2029410
I s

Liu Xingxu Yan Yunhua

2| %8 EEE

Director Director

EFE EE
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Statements of Changes in Equity

*g?é -4 R For the financial year ended 31 December 2023 {2 = F = =4+ = =+—HIFHKFE

Attributable to owners of the Company
ADRRE AR
Special
reserve Non-
Share  Statutory safetyfund  Retained controlling

capital reservefund Otherreserve  HERHE profits interests  Total equity

Bx  iEfEe  HbRE REE  REER SRS s
(Note38)  (Note39) (Note39)  (Note39)
(WiEs)  (WaE30)  (ME30)  (W&E30)

IUSEM  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBO0OO  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOOO
GEgl AR%Tn  ARRTR ARMTR ARRTR ARMTn ARRTR ARMTn ARETR

Group A5E
At1January 2023 RZBZ=F-f-H 1,493,096 665,869 2,013,106 4127 2,710,005 6,886,203 2,681,625 9,567,828
Profitfor the year, representing tota! RERER  REENZ

comprehensive income for the year AfALE - - - - 1186882 118688 450412 1637294
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEEMB AT - - - - - - - -
Acquision of non-controlling nterests —~ AEEMIB A FIAIIEE

of subsiciaies fBa - - (1984) - - (19846) (27633 (296178)
Capital contrbution fom non-contolling. B A AISHARKRED

shareholders of subsicliaries HE = - 6,002 - - 6,002 107413 113415
Share-based payment WA RS - - (15,263) - - (15263) 16,380 117
Buyback ofshares E ) (35,716) - - - - (35716) - (576
Waiver of amount duetonon-controling ~~ EABHERIE 3

interests FEENHE - - 3 - - 36 8 4
Transferto statutory reserve fund BETETERR - 197649 - - (197,649) - - -
Dividends paid to non-contraling EAEFERRE

shareholders ks - - - - - - (156058)  (156,058)
Final 2023 dividends paid TRZEZZERERE 0 - - - - (320748)  (320748) - (320749)
At31 December 2023 RZB-=f

t=A=t+-H 1,457,380 863518 1,984,035 4127 3378490 7,687,550 2823448 10,510,998
|
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Attributable to owners of the Company

KRARENER
Special
feserve Non-
Share Statutory safety fund Retained controlling
cptal  resenefund  Otherresene RS proft Tota interests~ Total equity
R iThREE  EtHE REE  RERT B FRER o
(Note 38) (Note 39) (Note 39) (Note 39)
(i) (akse) (W) (WaE30)
Notes RMB000 RMBI000 RMB000 RMB1000 RMB000 RMB1000 RMB000 RMB1000
i ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETn ARETR ARETr ARETT ARETH
Group 5E
At 1 January 2022 RZBZZE-F-A 1,194,686 510920 2202942 4177 1780875 5693550 2267832 791382
Effect of adoption ofamended standards MBS EEINE/2 - il - - 1135 1306 406 1712
At1January 2022 RZB-Z£-f-A 1194686 511,001 2002942 4177 1782010 509485 2268238 7,963,094
Profit for the year, representing tofa ERET REERZE
comprehensive income for the year N - - - - 13620 1326211 8194 1808175
Acquisiton of non-controlling nterestsof ~ AREEMB A FIEIEERR
subsidiares fEx - - (199 - - (1999 (4580 (23688)
Capital contrbution fom non-contolling. A ASHARKRED
shareholders of subsidiaries iz} - - 2178 - - 2,178 64972 86,150
Share-based payment RO ZMRFS - - (21,169 - - (21169 878 7613
lsuance of shares Hrikdy 298410 - - - - 298410 - 298410
Waiver of amount due tonon-controllng B I REREFFTE
inerests RIS - - 1147 - - 1147 87 1,984
Transfer to statutory reserve fund BETITEE - 154778 - - (14778) - - -
Dividends paid to non-controling EAEFERERNRE
shareholders - - - - - - 17.278) (117.278)
Final 2022 dividends paid IRZFIZERERE 1 - - - - By s - (B
At31December 2022 W-E-—E+-f
=1+-H 1493,0% 665,869 20131060 4177 2,710,005 6,886,003 2681625 9567828

FEOED —F =

FFEH
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Statements of Changes in Equity

BEBER o financial year ended 31 December 2023 B2 —F = =4#+=H =+—HIFHKF/E

Share capital Retained profits Total equity
&S R F MR
(Note 38)
(Mt5E38)
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ANREFTT ARETT
Company RAHE
At 1 January 2023 R=-ZT=-=%—H—H 1,493,096 536,314 2,029,410
Profit for the year AEE R F - 353,736 353,736
Buyback of shares A ) (35,716) = (35,716)
Final 2023 dividends paid (Note 12) SNZEZ=FREKE
(Mf7E12) = (320,748) (320,748)
At 31 December 2023 R-EBE—=F
+=HA=+—H 1,457,380 569,302 2,026,682
|
At 1 January 2022 R=ZB=-=F—-H—H 1,194,686 544,660 1,739,346
Profit for the year REERT - 235,092 235,092
Issuance of shares BITAD 298410 - 298410
Final 2022 dividends paid (Note 12) AT RS
(fF7E12) - (243,438) (243,438)
At 31 December 2022 R-TBE-—F
+=—A=+—H 1,493,096 536,314 2029410
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2023 &,

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GERESRER

e

ZFT A=A B FE

2023 2022
—E-= —E-—F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
PisE AR® TR ARETT
Profit before tax BR AT A 1,939,745 2,180,657
Adjustments for: R
Finance costs BT RRAR 579,993 662,193
Amortisation of intangible assets BB EH 7 10,150 9,199
Amortisation of coal mining rights TR AR 5 7 987 3,527
Depreciation of property, plant and W - BB REE
equipment e 7 1,492,772 1,374,785
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRESENE 7 29,612 33,353
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWE  BEK
equipment HBEBMEE 7 577 38,070
Bank interest income HRITRLEHA (23,174) (36,692)
Gain on other investments HAbi & W 6 (216) (551)
Gain on disposal of derivative financial HEMMESRTEA
instruments Wiz 6 (1,227) (317)
Loss on fair value change of financial S@RTAENATE
instruments =) | 7 3,973 1,259
(Gain)/loss on fair value change of TEER T AEM
derivative financial instruments NHEZE)
(Wzs) /BB (568) 154
Gain on bargain purchases EGEES 6 (303) -
Impairment losses on financial assets SREVE EARERE
S| 7 9,310 9,806
Impairment of property, plant and Y% - BB R
equipment VEREN 7 4,817 -
Impairment of inventories FERE 12,379 27,537
Amortisation of deferred grants A AL 5 6 (11,686) (9,672)
Amortisation of other assets HAth &= s 1,711 6,450
Interest accretion on bonds payable JERHESFIEIE N 519 4777
Share of profits of associates JEAGE & A R A (665) (4,675)
Share-based payment expense LA SZ A BRI =2 7 8,301 7613

RELED — T =FER
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GERESRER

For the financial year ended 31 December 2023 {2 = F = =4+ = A =+—HIFHKFE

2023 2022
—E-= T F
Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000
B sE AR®T T AREETIT
Operating cash flows before changesin & EE RSB FILE
working capital BERE 4,057,007 4,307,473
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERD,(38h0) 90,611 (119,610)
Increase in trade and bills receivables B 5 e EIE K FE I
ESESl (125,367) (27,833)
Increase in contract assets BHIEELN (18,945) (6,084)
Decrease in other receivables H b R IRR 54,766 371,575
Decrease/(increase) in deposits and FREEMNFIERLD,
prepayments ($8) 714,129 (202,846)
Movement in balances with related RE RN RSB EE)
companies 25,247 (8,470)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and bills B 5 MR FoE K et
payables ZHEmM ORA) 1,131,761 (482,581)
(Increase)/decrease in pledged time deposits B & 7E HifF 5%
() S (248,977) 113,699
(Decrease)/increase in accruals and other JESTE A K E A
payables FIECRA) /18N (118,104) 588,383
Cash flows generated from operations RETHEENERSE
E 5,562,128 4,533,706
Government grants received 2 YRR T 8 B 31 61,806 10,666
Interest received BUFE 21,843 30,270
Tax paid BRHIE (320,194) (192,098)
Net cash flows generated from operating E&FBHELENES
activities MEEEE 5,325,583 4,382,544
]
Cash flows from investing activities REZBFRBRSRE
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant HEWE - B KEHE
and equipment TS F0E 14,607 62,012
Purchases of property, plant and equipment ~ BEE¥% -« BE MR E (3,180,357) (3,750,998)
Cash paid for acquisition of subsidiaries B B A R
Re (5.813) -
Purchases of intangible assets BEEEEE 16 (20,640) (2,453)
Purchases of right-of-use assets HEGHESE (250,735) (4,642)
Proceeds from disposal of right-of-use assets & {FEFREEES
IA - 267
Purchase of equity investments at fairvalue B ERAF(EH AR
through profit or loss BRI E (22,930) (7,000)
Gain on other investments received B HEH AR B Wz 216 557
Purchase of derivative financial instruments ~ BEE{TA LRI T A 2,607 (9,636)
Purchases of coal mining rights BB R ERRE (11,820) (11,820)
Net cash flows used in investing activities REZEBFTAESHRE
R (3,474,865) (3,723,719)
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2023 2022
—E'=-= - —F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
liEss AR® TR ARETIT
Cash flows from financing activities REEBERER
=
=-%
Dividends paid on ordinary shares BT EERARE 12 (320,748) (243,438)
Dividends paid on non-controlling shares EATFEIERR AR 9 AR B (156,058) (117,278)
Acquisition of non-controlling interests WBE IR i i e (296,178) (236,882)
Injection by non-controlling interests IHEREREE 93,081 80,938
Payments of lease liabilities YNHEERE 15 (10,455) (5,168)
Repayment of a long-term bond BERHEGES 36 (300,000) (200,000)
Proceeds from loans and borrowings EFRRERMEFEIE 33 9,319,602 11,155,083
Repayments of loans and borrowings BEERRER 33 (9,968,882) (10,221,450
Increase in pledged time deposits EHEIRTE AR SR N 168,400 44,350
Interest paid EATALE (650,971) (636,741)
Buyback of shares LBl (35,716) -
Issue of shares BITRL D = 298410
Net cash flows used in financing activities BEEFEFFARS
mEFHE (2,157,925) (82,176)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash IE%&TEQ%FW
equivalents WD), IR (307,207) 576,649
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of i%ﬂﬁ@&fﬁi% B
year ) 27 1,469,765 893,116
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of FRESRBESEE
year )] 27 1,162,558 1,469,765
T

During the financial year, there were acquisitions of property, plant and
equipment with a total cost of RMB 2,195,116,000 (2022: RMB 3,308,243,000)
of which RMB 532,000 (2022: RMB 406,000) pertains to the provision for
rehabilitation. In addition, accruals and other payables increased by RMB
116,709,000 was unpaid (2022: increased by RMB 31,721,000). Prepayments
for purchases of items of property, plant and equipment increased by RMB
829,020,000 (2022: decreased by RMB 36,031,000). The VAT input was paid to
gain the property, plant and equipment with a total cost of RMB 81,858,000
(2022: RMB 375,003,000). The net cash outflow for the purchase of property,

plant and equipment was RMB 3,222,171,000 (2022: RMB 3,750,998,000).

RATBRFE - WEME - BELERED
AR B AR 21951160000 (—E ==
£ AR¥33082430007T) - HAF ARK
532,000 T(ZZE = =4 : AR¥406,0007T)
EREREERE - It EErERREM
JEST FRIEIE N A R# 116,709,000 T ( =&
CF  EMARR31,721,0007T) ¢ EK
Szﬁoﬁﬁ/\fr%% = N 2% 1578 B M TE 1
IEIE A R #829020000 0 (ZF = =
i DD AR #36,031,0007T) © SEXE Y
¥ BMEARECIMNEERN  @KAE
AREG1858000 L (ZFE - —4F : AR
375,003,00070) ° EEWIZ « BE MEER
e mt FsEAa AR 32221710007t (=
T~ — 4 ARM¥3,750,9980007T) °
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Notes to the Financial Statements

MEBRRHT rorhe financial year ended 31 December 2023 2 —F = =4+ =H =+—HIFHHKF/E

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

China XLX Fertiliser Ltd. (the “Company”) is a limited liability company
incorporated in Singapore on 17 July 2006 under the Singapore Companies
Act and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
The registered office of the Company is located at 9 Raffles Place, #26-01
Republic Plaza, Singapore 048619. The principal place of business of the
Group is located at Xinxiang Economic Development Zone, Henan Province,
Taxihe Industrial Park, Baijiadian Town, Manas Country, Changji Prefecture,
Xinjiang Province, and Jishan Industrial Zone, Jiujiang City, Jiangxi Province
in the People's Republic of China (the "PRC"). The principal activity of the
Company is investment holding. Particulars of the Group’s subsidiaries and
associates are disclosed in Note 48 and 41(a) respectively.

During the year, the principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries
are mainly the development, manufacturing, and trading of related
differentiated products such as urea, compound fertiliser, DMF, methanol,
melamine, urea solution for vehicle, liquid ammonia and medical
intermediate.

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of
financial position and statement of changes in equity of the Company have
been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards
(International) (“SFRS (1)") and International Financial Reporting Standards
("IFRSs").

For the purpose of SFRS (l)s, financial statements that have been prepared in
accordance and complied with IFRS are deemed to have also complied with
SFRS (I)s. SFRS (I) comprise standards and interpretations that are equivalent
to IFRS. All references to SFRS (I) and IFRS are referred to collectively as “IFRS”
in these financial statements, unless specified otherwise.

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost
basis, except as disclosed in the accounting policies below. The financial
statements are presented in Renminbi ("/RMB”) and all values in the tables
are rounded to the nearest thousand ("RMB’000") except when otherwise
indicated.
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

The Group had net current liabilities of RMB 4,860 million (2022: RMB 4,310
million) as at 31 December 2023. After taking into account the cash flows
projection for the following twelve months from the reporting date, the
available unutilised banking facilities and exclusion of contract liabilities
(non-financial liabilities) of RMB 1,346 million as at 31 December 2023, the
directors of the Company consider that the Group w ill have sufficient funds
to finance its operations and financial obligations as and when they fall due,
and accordingly, are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare the financial
statements on a going concern basis.

The Company had net current liabilities of RMB 104,940 million (2022: net
current assets RMB 14,495 million) as at 31 December 2023. These factors
indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant
doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as going concern. The
directors are of the opinion that the Company will be able to pay its debts
as and when they fall due as the subsidiary with material payable balances
as at 31 December 2023 had undertaken not to demand payment of the
balances for a minimum of 12 months from the date of financial statements
to enable the Company to meet its daily working capital requirements and
liabilities as and when they fall due. Accordingly, the financial statements of
the Company are prepared on a going concern basis.

Should the Group and Company be unable to continue as a going concern,
adjustments would have to be made to restate the values of assets to their
recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which might
arise and to reclassify non-current assets and liabilities as current assets
and liabilities, respectively. The effects of these adjustments have not been
reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of
the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
for the year ended 31 December 2023. A subsidiary is an entity (including a
structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e, existing rights that give the
Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).
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MEBRRHT rorhe financial year ended 31 December 2023 B4 —E = =F+=H =+—HIFHHFE

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)
BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (CONTINUED)

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority of the
voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts
and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(© the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same
reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting policies. The
results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the Group
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such
control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to the non-
controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control described in the accounting policy for subsidiaries
above. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of
control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the assets
(including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the carrying
amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative translation
differences recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the
consideration received, (ii) the fair value of any investment retained and
(i) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group's share of
components previously recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same
basis as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities.
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Consolidation of the subsidiaries in the PRC is based on the subsidiaries’
financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRSs. Profits reflected in
the financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRSs may differ from
those reflected in the PRC statutory financial statements of the subsidiaries,
prepared for PRC financial reporting purposes. In accordance with the
relevant laws and regulations, profits available for distribution by the PRC
subsidiaries are based on the amounts stated in the PRC statutory financial
statements.

2.2 CHANGESIN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous
financial year except that in the current financial year, the Group has
adopted all the new and amended standards which are relevant to the
Company and are effective for annual financial periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2023.

2.3 STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

The Group has not adopted the following standards and interpretation
applicable to the Group that have been issued but not yet effective:

Description
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Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or BRart R E RIS A - FEE 1 January 2024
Non-current DIERIE) I E) —E-_mFE—-—H—H
Amendments to IFRS 16: Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback BRI E 2E RIS 16 USR] AN 1 January 2024
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Amendments to IAS 1: Non-current Liabilities with Covenants REFTERIE 1 SREET A - AR 1 January 2024
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Amendments to IAS 7: Supplier Finance Arrangements REETERIE 7B A - RER 1 January 2024
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The directors expect that the adoption of the other standards and
interpretation above will have no material impact on the financial
statements in the period of initial application.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES INFORMATION
BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND GOODWILL

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method.
The consideration transferred is measured at the acquisition date fair value
which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former owners of
the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group
elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree
that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair value
or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All
other components of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation in
accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation
of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held equity
interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value and any resulting
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent consideration
classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair value with changes in fair
value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified
as equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for
within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of
the consideration transferred, the amount recognised for non-controlling
interests and any fair value of the Group's previously held equity interests
in the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items is lower than the
fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
value may be impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December 2023. For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units, or groups of cash-
generating units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group
are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which the
goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount, an
impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill
is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or group of
cash-generating units) and part of the operation within that unit is disposed
of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the
carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on the
disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured based
on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit retained.

TRANSACTIONS WITH NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Non-controlling interest represents the equity in subsidiaries not
attributable, directly or indirectly, to owners of the parent, and are presented
separately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income and within equity in the consolidated statement
of financial position, separately from equity attributable to owners of the
parent.

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not
result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions. In such
circumstances, the carrying amounts of the controlling and non-controlling
interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in
the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interest is adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid
or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the
parent.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

ASSOCIATES

An associate is an entity over which the Group has the power to participate
in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but does not
have control or joint control of those policies.

The Group account for its investments in associates using the equity
method from the date on which it becomes an associate.

On acquisition of the investment, any excess of the cost of the investment
over the Group's share of the net fair value of the investee’s identifiable
assets and liabilities represents goodwill and is included in the carrying
amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair
value of the investee’s identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the
investment is included as income in the determination of the entity’s share
of the associate’s profit or loss in the period in which the investment is
acquired.

Under the equity method, the investment in associates are carried in the
balance sheet at cost plus post-acquisition changes in the Group's share
of net assets of the associates. The profit or loss reflects the share of results
of the operations of the associates. Distributions received from associates
reduce the carrying amount of the investment. Where there has been a
change recognised in other comprehensive income by the associates,
the Group recognises its share of such changes in other comprehensive
income. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between
the Group and associate are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the
associates.

Where the Group's share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its
interest in the associate, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless
it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether
it is necessary to recognise an additional impairment loss on the Group's
investment in associate. The Group determines at the end of each reporting
period whether there is any objective evidence that the investment in the
associate is impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount
of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the
associate and its carrying value and recognises the amount in profit or loss.

The financial statements of the associates are prepared as the same

reporting date as the Company. Where necessary, adjustments are mad to
bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

The Group measures its derivative financial instruments and equity
investments at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is
the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement
date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either
in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a
principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.
The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by
the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset
or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best
interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair
value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the
use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in
the financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy,
described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities

Level2 - based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
observable, either directly or indirectly

Level3 - based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level

input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
unobservable

3. EXRSHBERER(E)

AFEHE
A BN AR AT AR BT

ST AMBERE - AFEAMSHLH
ERFEABEAFR P HEEEMK
BekERA B INER - AFEFE
NEREHEEESIEZEBENRINEE
SEEFEMSEX(EEFTEMHBRLT)
EEBEMHET TEAREEEMS
ﬁ%ﬁElTﬁAMm% BENEBEN

NEEDERMISE2EEREENARBT
BREMANBRTE(BREATH2HEEK
RSN RELSERRITE) °

FEMEEZATVEFESEMS28E
ARERZEEGI Z&E R&EMM -
KR EEET S A REAZEESE
RmM&RERAZTSE2EE  EhEE
OB 2 BETT ©

AEBERERNRTRBERZEETA
MEBRHENTEATE  UEEFF
MHEA R B AR EMQE%TT
B AME -

R BREAAEBIRBERAFEZMEEE
REE  REYRNAFEFEEREEER
2w R 8 A E/REIR N T ATt A FE2R
BROME
F—H - ERNEREEHAENER
MG RE CREHE)
£/ - EREAFEAEMSEE
AOABE (BEREER) &
EE®ABENGBETE

E=H - ERUATENEMSEE

AR BRE KRB @ AR
ERRETTA

RELED — T —FER

121



122

Notes to the Financial Statements

MEBRRHT rorhe financial year ended 31 December 2023 2 —F = =4+ =H =+—HIFHHKF/E

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (CONTINUED)

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on
a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred
between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on
the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole) at the end of each reporting period.

FUNCTIONAL CURRENCY

The Group’s principal operations are conducted in the PRC. The directors
have determined the currency other primary economic environment in
which each entity in the Group operates, i.e., functional currency, to be
RMB. Sales prices and major costs of providing goods and services including
major operating expenses are primarily influenced by fluctuations in RMB.
Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items
included in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency.

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS

Transactions in foreign currencies are measured in the respective functional
currencies of the Company and its subsidiaries and are recorded on initial
recognition in the functional currencies at exchange rates approximating
those ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange
ruling at the end of the reporting period. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-
monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or
on translating monetary items at the end of the reporting period are
recognised in profit or loss.

For consolidation purpose, the assets and liabilities of foreign operations
are translated into RMB at the rate of exchange ruling at the end of the
reporting period and their profit or loss are translated at the exchange
rates prevailing at the date of the transactions. The exchange differences
arising on the translation are recognised in other comprehensive income.
On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other comprehensive
income relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or
loss.
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3.

RELATED PARTIES

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)

or

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES INFORMATION 3.
(CONTINUED)

_E:

the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family is and (a)
that person:

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the Group
or a parent of the Group;

%

the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies: (b)

U]

(iii)

(iv)

(Vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity
(or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other
entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third
party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the
Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the key management personnel of
the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the Group
or to the parent of the Group.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

MEBRRHT rorhe financial year ended 31 December 2023 2 —F = =4+ =H =+—HIFHHKF/E

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND DEPRECIATION

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress,
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing
the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for
a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a
replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and equipment are
required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as
individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of
each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual value over its
estimated useful life. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

3. EXRSHBERER(E)

M3 - BB RRBURITE

ME - BEEREB(TEBREEZIR) T
BARAR REHITE M AR REHRE R B
E-UE BEAREBEENKABER
BEERNKSHEEEAELRERNTIE
RIB LB 2 (A EREIERA -

RYE - BENMRERBRAEFEREL
B PlangEERRE  —RREE
EHEEREERAMNEG - BEBRAIRE
B AlEERBAXREERAERER
£ EREENBER - HEBRIEDY
% BEMERERTRAREHR - IRE
B AR ERRAFEAIEAFH
BRI EEWAREITE -

FrEABSETE - UREMETAIERASF

HIMEE S M= - BERREBEBEOKAE
HFIREE - BIFLLAGZ At A ERF

HRFIHREEDT
Years
FH

Buildings B 20-25 £F
Other fixtures and structures HAB B EY) RIEEE 545 4F
Plant and machinery TR Mo s 5-154F
Office equipment and furniture WMAERERRE 5-154F
Motor vehicles =20 4154

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant part
initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on
disposal or retirement recognised in statement of profit or loss in the year
the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents buildings and plant and machinery
under construction, which is stated at cost less any impairment losses, and
is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of construction and
capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed funds during the period
of construction. Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for
use.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

COAL MINING RIGHTS

Coal mining rights are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. A coal mining right is amortised over its
useful life using a unit-of-production method once production commences.
The coal mining right is written off to profit or loss if the coal mining
property is abandoned. The estimated useful lives are as follows:
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets acquired separately are measure on initial recognition
at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business combination
is their fair value at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition,
intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite.

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful economic
life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that
the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite life are reviewed at
least at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the expected useful
life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits
embodied in the asset are considered to modify the amortisation period
or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting
estimates. The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the expense category that is
consistent with the function of intangible assets. The estimated useful lives
are as follows:
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Notes to the Financial Statements

MEBRRHT rorhe financial year ended 31 December 2023 2 —F = =4+ =H =+—HIFHHKF/E

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

An intangible asset is derecognised upon disposal (i.e., at the date
the recipient obtains control) or when no future economic benefits
are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising upon
derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the
statement of profit or loss.

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment
testing for an asset is required (other than inventories and financial assets),
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount
is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair
value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless
the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of
those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset
exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged
to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those
expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether
there is an indication that previously recognised impairment losses may
no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of
that asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that
would have been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal
of such an impairment loss is credited to the statement of profit or loss
in the period in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is accounted for
in accordance with the relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

FINANCIAL ASSETS
INITIAL RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive
income (OCl), and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the
financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the Group's
business model for managing them. With the exception of trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient, the Group initially measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair
value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do
not contain a significant financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price as
disclosed in the section Revenue recognition.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised
cost or fair value through OCl, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are
‘solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)" on the principal amount
outstanding. This assessment is referred to as the SPPI test and is performed
at an instrument level. Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of
the business model. The Group's business model for managing financial
assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate
cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result
from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.
Financial assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held within a
business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows while financial assets classified and measured at fair
value through OCl are held within a business model with the objective of
both holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
a time frame established by regulation or convention in the market place
(regular way trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

MEBRRHT rorhe financial year ended 31 December 2023 2 —F = =4+ =H =+—HIFHHKF/E

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)
SUBSEQUENT MEASUREMENT

For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in
three categories:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at fair value through OCI with recycling of
cumulative gains and losses (debt instruments)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

(a) Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the
effective interest (EIR) method and are subject to impairment. Gains and
losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised,
modified or impaired.

The Group's financial assets at amortised cost includes trade and bills
receivables.

(b) Financial assets at fair value through OC| (debt instruments)

For debt instruments at fair value through OCl, interest income, foreign
exchange revaluation and impairment losses or reversals are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss and computed in the same manner as
for financial assets measured at amortised cost. The remaining fair value
changes are recognized in OCl. Upon derecognition, the cumulative fair
value change recognised in OCl is recycled to profit or loss.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)
SUBSEQUENT MEASUREMENT (CONTINUED)

() Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair value
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments, listed and non-listed equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair
value through OCI. Dividends on listed equity investments are recognised as
other income in the statement of profit or loss when the right of payment
has been established.

Derivatives

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial liability or non-
financial host, is separated from the host and accounted for as a separate
derivative if: the economic characteristics and risks are not closely related
to the host; a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded
derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and the hybrid contract
is not measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is either a
change in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash
flows that would otherwise be required or a reclassification of a financial
asset out of the fair value through profit or loss category.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

MEBRRHT rorhe financial year ended 31 December 2023 B4 —E = =F+=H =+—HIFHHFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)
DERECOGNITION

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of
a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed
from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position) when:

The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;

Or

The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the
asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows
in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, but has transferred control of the asset When the Group
has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has
entered into a passthrough arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what
extent, it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership.

When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks
and rewards of the asset, nor transferred control of the asset, the Group
continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of its continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability.
The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis
that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of
the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could
be required to repay.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all
debt instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss and financial
guarantee contracts. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of
the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash
flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there
has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are
possible within the next 12-months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit
exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is recognised for credit losses expected
over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of timing of the default
(a lifetime ECL).

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group applies a simplified
approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore, the group does not track changes
in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs
at each reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is
based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

For debt instruments at fair value through OCl, the Group applies the low
credit risk simplification. At every reporting date, the Group evaluates
whether the debt instrument is considered to have low credit risk using all
reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue
cost or effort. In making that evaluation, the Group reassesses the internal
credit rating of the debt instrument. In addition, the Group considers that
there has been a significant increase in credit risk when the contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments
are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the Group may also consider
a financial asset to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual
amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held
by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
INITIAL RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings, or as derivatives
designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of
loans and borrowings, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and bill payables, certain
accruals and other payables, loans from a non-controlling interest, amounts
due to related companies, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and
bonds payable.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)
SUBSEQUENT MEASUREMENT

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification as follows:

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate
method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which
case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included in
finance costs in profit or loss.

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is
discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as
a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective carrying amounts is recognised
in profit or loss.

OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

BONDS PAYABLE

Bonds payable are classified under loans and borrowings and recognised
initially at fair value. After initial recognition, bonds payable are
subsequently measured at cost because the effect of discounting would be
immaterial as their terms are relatively short.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents comprise cash and bank balances and short-term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity
of generally within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which
are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management.

INVENTORIES

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
is determined on the weighted average basis and, in the case of work in
progress and finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour
and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is based
on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to
completion and disposal.

PROVISIONS

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or constructive)
has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable that a future outflow
of resources will be required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a
provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period of the
future expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. The
increase in the discounted present value amount arising from the passage
of time is included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attached
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over the periods that
the costs, which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred
income account and is released to the statement of profit or loss over the
expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments.

BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs
ceases when the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist
of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Employee benefits are recognised as an expense, unless the cost qualifies
to be capitalised as an asset.

(A) DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate in Mainland China
are required to participate in a central pension scheme operated by the
local municipal government. The subsidiaries are required to contribute
a percentage of their payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The
contributions are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

The Group makes contributions to the Central Provident Fund Scheme in
Singapore, a defined contribution pension scheme. Contributions to the
defined contribution pension scheme are recognised as an expense in the
period in which the related service is performed.
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MEBRRHT rorhe financial year ended 31 December 2023 2 —F = =4+ =H =+—HIFHHKF/E

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (CONTINUED)
(B) EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

The Group's subsidiary operates an equity-settled share-based
compensation plan and grants restricted stock unit awards to the Group’s
employees. The fair value of the employee services received in exchange for
the grant of restricted stock unit awards is recognised as an expense with
a corresponding increase in the non-controlling interests over the vesting
period.

The total amount of restricted stock unit awards to be recognised over the
vesting period is determined by reference to the fair value which is the
market price of the stocks of the subsidiary on the date of the grant.

At each state of financial position date, the Group revises its estimates of
the number of restricted stock unit awards that are expected to vest and
recognises the impact of the revision of the estimates in profit or loss with
a corresponding adjustment to the non-controlling interests over the
remaining vesting period.

LEASES

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains,
a lease. That is, if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

GROUP AS A LESSEE

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for
all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The
Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use
assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

LEASES (CONTINUED)
GROUP AS A LESSEE (CONTINUED)

(i) Rights-of-use assets

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of
the lease (i.e, the date the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-
use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.
The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or
before the commencement date less any lease incentives received. Right-
of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the
lease term and the estimated useful lives of the assets, as follows:

Land 2to 20 years
Plant and machinery 3to 10 years
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group at the end of
the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option,

depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.

The right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment. Refer to the
accounting policies in section Impairment of non-financial assets.

(ii) Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease
liabilities measured at the present value of lease payments to be made over
the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected
to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also
penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising the option to terminate. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or a rate are recognised as expenses (unless they
are incurred to produce inventories) in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

LEASES (CONTINUED)
GROUP AS A LESSEE (CONTINUED)

(ii) Lease liabilities (continued)

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date because
the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect
the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In
addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments
(e.g., changes to future payments resulting from a change in an index or
rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change in the assessment
of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

(iii) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-
term leases of machinery and equipment (i.e,, those leases that have a
lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do
not contain a purchase option). It also applies the lease of low-value assets
recognition exemption to leases of office equipment that are considered to
be low value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

GROUP AS A LESSOR

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified as operating
leases. Rental income arising is accounted for on a straight-line basis over
the lease terms and is included in revenue in the statement of profit or
loss due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental
income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period in which
they are earned.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring promised goods or
services to a customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf of third
parties.

Revenue is recognised when the Group satisfies a performance obligation
by transferring a promised good or service to the customer, which is
when the customer obtains control of the good or service. A performance
obligation may be satisfied at a point in time or over time. The amount of
revenue recognised is the amount allocated to the satisfied performance
obligation.

SALE OF GOODS

The Group is in the business of manufacture and trading of urea,
compound fertilizer, DMF, methanol, melamine, urea solution for vehicle,
liquid ammonia, medical intermediate and related products. Revenue is
recognised when the goods are delivered to the customer and all criteria
for acceptance have been satisfied.

The amount of revenue recognised is based on the estimated transaction
price, which comprises the contractual price, net of the estimated volume
rebates. Based on the Group's experience with similar types of contracts,
variable consideration is typically constrained and is included in the
transaction only to the extent that it is a highly probable that a significant
reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur
when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

At the end of each reporting date, the Group updates its assessment
of the estimated transaction price, including its assessment of whether
an estimate of variable consideration is constrained. The corresponding
amounts are adjusted against revenue in the period in which the
transaction price changes.
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MEBRRHT rorhe financial year ended 31 December 2023 2 —F = =4+ =H =+—HIFHHKF/E

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

CONSTRUCTION AND INSTALLATION SERVICES

The Group is in the business of providing construction and installation
services. Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of the goods or services are transferred to the customer at an
amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

INCOME TAXES

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to items
recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss, either
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to
be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences,
except:

- When the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

- In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, where the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

INCOME TAXES (CONTINUED)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences,
the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will
be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the
carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised,
except:

- When the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time
of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss; and

- In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future
and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each
reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability
is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if the
Group has a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets and
current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the
same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either to settle
current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

SEGMENT REPORTING

For management purposes, the Group is organised into operating
segments based on their products and the segment results are reported
directly to the management of the Company who regularly reviews the
segment results in order to allocate resources to the segments and to
assess the segment performance. Additional disclosures on each of these
segments are shown in Note 5, including the factors used to identify the
reportable segments and the measurement basis of segment information.

CONTINGENCIES

A contingent liability is:

(a) a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose
existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly
within the control of the Group;

or

(b) a present obligation that arises from past events but is not
recognised because:

(i) it is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation;
or

(i) the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with
sufficient reliability.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and
whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the
control of the Group.

Contingent liabilities and assets are not recognised on the consolidated
statement of financial position of the Group, except for contingent liabilities
assumed in a business combination that are present obligations and which
the fair values can be reliably determined.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

DIVIDENDS

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved by the
shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final dividends are disclosed in
the notes to the financial statements.

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group's consolidated financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and
their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result
in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of
the asset or liability affected in the future periods.

JUDGEMENTS

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management
has made the following judgements, apart from those involving estimations,
which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements:

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below.
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MEBRRHT rorhe financial year ended 31 December 2023 B4 —E = =F+=H =+—HIFHHFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT OF CASH-GENERATING UNITS (“CGU")

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets,
coal mining rights and goodwill included in Coal mining CGU and Medical
intermediate CGU are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying values may not be recoverable in
accordance with the accounting policy for the impairment of non-financial
assets in the section of material accounting policies information. The
recoverable amounts of the property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets, coal mining rights and goodwill, or, where appropriate, the CGU to
which they belong, are calculated as the value-in-use. Estimating the value-
in-use requires the Group to estimate the expected future cash flows from
the CGU and to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value of those cash flows. At 31 December 2023, no impairment
loss has been recognised for the CGUs. Further details are given in Note 17
and Note 18.

COAL MINE RESERVE

The estimation of the Group's coal mine reserve is inherently imprecise and
represent only approximate amounts because of the subjective judgements
involved in developing such information. There are authoritative guidelines
regarding the engineering criteria that have to be met before an estimated
coal mine reserve can be designated as “proved” and “probable”. Proved
and probable coal mine reserve estimates are updated on regular intervals
taking into recent production and technical information about each mine.
In addition, as prices and cost levels change from year to year, the estimate
of the proved and probable coal mine reserve also changes. This change is
considered a change in estimate for accounting purposes and is reflected
on a prospective basis in related amortisation rates.

The capitalised cost of the coal mining right is amortised over the estimated
useful life of the related coal mine reserve. The useful life is reviewed
annually in accordance with the production of the plants of the Group and
the proven and probable reserves of the coal mines. The carrying amount
of the coal mining rights at 31 December 2023 was RMB 232,447,000 (2022:
RMB 233,434,000).

China XLX 2023 Annual Report

4. EARSFHERMEE (&)

fhEt NEARIE = (%)

AeEtBEM((ReELEN]) RER
(=]

EHIREMEMIERBEEE L  BRER
HEREZTBERREEANSTBERE R
ﬁ—ﬁ%%@ﬁ&ﬁﬁTTw@ﬁ IN/N
S EEBERRIR S EL BN P REEE
BIRSELBMNME BB MERE -
@%%ﬁ? RIBFAEEREENRDE
BAE - ME - REMEE - FHEEE -
HEARERHESEMBNREELS
1mm@%)MTM@ > KB IR (F B ERT
cfFRHEEMNTGEEAEENMRA
iﬁi?i S MET AR RE UK
EEABNTEERUFEZSERESREN
ﬁﬁ{ﬁ RZE_=ZF+=_A=+—
CERREELEENUERRERIE -
E SREIEERMIE 17 R MIEE 18 o

AR R

HREREZEERBIETOTEHE - K
SENREFEOMEF TR R ARG
B ERTAGTHE O%Eiﬁﬁ5§+%iﬂgfﬁﬁ%
A TEHRA] R [FRE] 28T - B2RER
A\i,ﬁkﬁﬁ]:%fti H@E§77?5%|° R K2
AR R BRI RT DL BB EAED
%%E%&&ﬁéﬁ%i%%u%%°%
SN AR ERERAKFERFES - KR
BN AT RER SRR R R S St TS 2 8 - 3%
EERRRIERGT BONAERTES - X
ATEREE R RN A R #SH R P o

HIEFAFEENE N AR B BEREREE
Bt E A T LA - FREHR
BASLEEEE S M ACIRRP & AT RE AV IR TE
HESEFEFETFTUARE R _=F
+- A=+ BEBERRENEREAA
R#232447000t(ZE==F : AR
233,434,000 7T) °



5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units
based on its products, and has eight reportable operating segments (2022:
eight) as follows:

(i) Manufacturing and sale of urea

(if) Manufacturing and sale of compound fertiliser

(ii) Manufacturing and sale of DMF

(iv) Manufacturing and sale of methanol

(v) Manufacturing and sale of melamine

(Vi) Manufacturing and sale of urea solution for vehicle
(vii)  Manufacturing and sale of liquid ammonia

(vii)  Manufacturing and sale of medical intermediate

In the opinion of the directors, there were only limited operations in the
subsidiaries that are engaged in coal mining and the sale of coal and
the assets and liabilities were not material for the purpose of segment
reporting. Accordingly, a separate operating segment for the coal mining
business carried out by these subsidiaries has not been presented.

Except as indicated above, no operating segments have been aggregated
to form the above reportable operating segments.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating segments
separately for the purpose of making decisions about resources allocation
and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based
on reportable segment profit, which is a measure of gross profit. Group
financing (including finance costs), income taxes and other unallocated
items, as explained below, are managed on a group basis and are not
allocated to operating segments.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to the selling
prices used for sales made to third parties at the then prevailing market
prices.
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MEBRRHT rorhe financial year ended 31 December 2023 2 —F = =4+ =H =+—HIFHHKF/E

5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
ALLOCATION BASIS

Segment results include items directly attributable to a segment as well
as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items
comprise other income and gains, other expenses, selling and distribution
expenses, general and administrative expenses, finance costs and income
tax expense.

Group assets and liabilities cannot be directly attributable to individual
segments as it is impracticable to allocate them to the segments. Assets of
the Group are utilised interchangeably between different segments and
there is no reasonable basis to allocate liabilities of the Group between
different segments. Accordingly, it is not meaningful to disclose assets,
liabilities and capital expenditure by operating segments.
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5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5. RK&o5H&ER (&)

SEGMENT PROFIT INFORMATION 7

pa)
The directors of the Company are of the opinion that the segment resultis ~ ARAIEERBHOEEEREF -
the gross profit.

Compound Urea Solution Liquid Medical
Urea fertiliser DME  Methanol  Melamine  forvehice ~ ammonia  Intermediate Others  Elimination Total

Yearended 31 December 2023 K& goR DIF FE  cREk ERREER ha BEMER Hf 45 it
BEoEck RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB1000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB1000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB1000
T2RZT-ALEE Ae¥Tn  ARETn ARETn ARETr ARETn ARETn ARETz ARETz ARETz ARETz ARETR
REVENUE YA
Sesioetendsones  BERIIRP 874417 6129573 10403 2385 TBAIE 43418 2091215 616039 316016 - B8
Interseqrent sales LS 1,644,897 864468 - 1,669,090 193,613 145447 800,653 14358 476175 (5808701) -
Totalrevenue 0N 8519314 6,994,041 1,047,023 4,007,684 977,786 579,565 2,891,868 630397 3636361 (5808701 23475338
Seqment resul PEE 2,006,645 793012 116,007 (14190) 205,583 120198 380,053 52,778 506,934 - 4,187,020
Reconalation: HE:
Ineretincome HERA B4
Unalocaedoterincomeand — ADEERMA

gans e 5757
Unalocated expenses et FOMRR 8 (1,966.213)
Fance costs s (579.9%3)
Profit beforetx (! 1939745
Income taxexperse R 302,451)
Profitforthe year TERRH 1,637,294

Othersegmentinformation: £ ASEH -

Losson disposa propery plant. - HEX1E B
andequipment (ote 7 iEnEE

(Izt7) 5
Impaimentof ogerty, pntend 41+ B R
equipment Note 7] FENRE
(H7) 4817
Deprecitionofproperty plnt 41~ HRER
andequipment (Note 7 FEnE
(BitT) 14927M
Amortsation cfmengleasets  EFAESS
Note7) s 10150
Depredtionofightof e asses  (EFEEENE
Mot s 2612
Aortsionofcoe minng g [£TERE SR B
MNote7) lir3) »
Captd expendiure? ErRL 244783
|
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and equipment, * BARZBIEREYE  BEK&E £
right-of-use assets and intangible assets. RAEEERELEE -
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MEBRRHT rorhe financial year ended 31 December 2023 B4 —E = =F+=H =+—HIFHHFE

5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5. RK&o5H&ER (&)

SEGMENT PROFIT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 2 EREME R (&)
(ompound Ure3 Solution Liquid Medical
Yearended Urea ferliser DNF Methanol Melamine ~ forvehicle ammonia Intermedate Others Elmination Total
31 December 2002 ke BeE OUF BE Rk ERRERR e BETER Eft Y4 it
5= MBID  RBOD  MBIO  RBDN RGO MBIO  RBON  RBOD  RBIO RBOD RGO
TZRZ-BLEER MNRETT ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETn ARETR ARETR
REVENUE YA
Sesioetendsones  BERIIRP 68018 6115 T 2800 %6514 WG 065 wus 3R - B
Interseqrent sales e 14317 454788 - 739255 219570 178155 181 - 737819 (3974940) -
Total revenue A 8293315 6570639 180051 302235 1,186,084 720806 2259163 440448 4414000 (Boraod) BN
Seqment esut PEE ] 1909460 78539 162 904 47545 120534 595431 57611 413872 - 434888
Reconciton iE:
Ineretincome HEMA %692
Unalocaedoterincomeand — ADEERMA
gans e 150401
Undlocated epenses et KARER 58 (163329
Fiancecosts B (66219
Profit beforetx (Nl 2180657
Income taxexperse HiEHRR (72480
Proftforthe year RERRH 1808175
Othersegmentinformation: £ A &R -
Losson disposa propery, plant - HEX1E B
andequipment (Note ) el
(Hat7) B0
Depreciaion cfpoperty ot~ 112+ B R
andequipment (Note 7 FEnnE
(H&t7) 1374785
Amortsation of mengleassets  EFAESS
Note7) s 9199
Depreciationofightofuseassers  FREAENE
(Note ) iR 33
Amortisztionof colmiring rights  FETERRERH
ot iR Ehl
Captd expendiure’ ErEL 319
| |
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and equipment, * BERRZBERERE W% - BERRK
right-of-use assets and intangible assets. % FRAREEREBFAE -
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5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

5. K&ESIER(HF)
& B R

The Group mainly operates in Mainland China. REEEZHEFBEAMHLE
Revenue from external customers; REINEBE P HIHA -
Group
EE
2023 2022
—E'=-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFIT
China: Central Region R AR ERR I 7,999,573 8,187,549
East Region REPR I 10,551,565 9,957,501
Western Region [k e 2,630,404 3,099,380
North-east Region b ERlE g 1,467,298 1,251,626
Overseas EHN 826,498 575,841
23,475,338 23,071,897
]

The revenue information of continuing operations above is based on the
locations of the customers.

INFORMATION ABOUT A MAJOR CUSTOMER

The Group had no customers from whom the revenue derived individually
accounted for more than 10% of the Group's total revenue in year 2023
and year 2022, including sales to a group of entities which are known to be
under common control with that customer.

BB ENRABRIDERE P HAL
E o

FEEZFWEH

E’\f7f_¢f&f7ff¢f$’$l$ﬁﬁ
B8 A VIR A AN SR E AR A Y 10%
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Notes to the Financial Statements
MEBRRHT rorhe financial year ended 31 December 2023 2 —F = =4+ =H =+—HIFHHKF/E

6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

Revenue represents the net invoiced value of goods sold, after deduction of
relevant taxes and allowances for returns and trade discounts.

An analysis of the Group's revenue, other income and gains is as follows:

6. WA-H

YA R Wy 28

WA HEEmIIFHEETIE RER

IR FERERE -

REBE YA « E U A Rz A7 40

T
Group
rEE
2023 2022
—E=-= B S—
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ TR ARETIT
Revenue LBIA
Type of goods or service* EmS R EE
Sales of goods HEE M 23,275,396 23,023,831
Construction and installation services REALHERE 199,942 48,066
23,475,338 23,071,897
Timing of revenue recognition WA R R
At a point in time IS (ERS E3 23,475,338 23,071,897
T
* Please refer to Note 5 for disaggregation of revenue. * BRI ABI D - FE2BIMTRES o
CONTRACT BALANCES BREER
Group
rEER
2023 2022
—E=-= - F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREFT
Trade receivables (Note 24) B 5 EMGRIE (B 24) 495,910 470,624
Contract assets (Note 25) BHEE (FH5E25) 25,029 6,084
Contract liabilities (Note 30) & #aE (FiIFE30) 1,346,124 1,514,349
T

Contract liabilities primarily relate to the Group's obligation to transfer
goods to customers for which the Group has received advances from
customers. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue as the Group

performs under the contract.
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6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
(CONTINUED)

CONTRACT BALANCES (CONTINUED)

Set out below is the amount of revenue recognised from:

6. WA - HBRAR W ()

BRI (E)
IATHIE B AT T EREREOBA T

Amount included in contract liabilities at the STAFEVEHNAGE ZFIE
beginning of the year

Information about the Group’s performance obligations is summarised
below:

SALE OF INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTS

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of the industrial
products and payment is generally due within 30 to 180 days from delivery,
except for new customers, where payment in advance is normally required.
Some contracts provide customers with a right of return and volume
rebates which give rise to variable consideration subject to constraint.

Group

TEE
2023 2022
—E_= —E-F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREFIT
1,482,210 1,060,775

T

AEBEROETNEMBMRIT

HETEER

BHEARIXEERINBERERK @ B
FOBE AN NE30E180KANEIEASZ A -
W EPARZEBENR - BLAHAET
FlRftR GRS R - mEk a2
FRE(BZRH])

OTHER INCOME AND GAINS HAnh A R Uk 2
Group
TEE

2023 2022

—EC=E —E-F

Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

BsE ARETT ARETIT

Bank interest income ERITHIBULA 23,174 36,692
Net profit from sales of by-products, water, ~ $HE&IEMR ~ 7K ~ BR

electricity and steam AT 83,538 75470

Rental income HEWA 5,902 3,221

Amortisation of deferred grants A AL 5 31 11,686 9,672

Subsidy income WA 131,300 34,744

Compensation income HERE 5,955 9,716

Gain on other investments HAnE W 216 551

Gain on derivative financial instruments TSR T AW 1,227 317

Gain on bargain purchases BEE 303 -

Exchange gains Gy 10,114 5,543

Others At 25,516 11,367

298,931 187,293

]
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7. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

7. BRBLATEF

The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): REBMABRTLATSEFI TR (A -
o 2_022
Notes RMB'000 ~ RMB000
B ARE TR ARETIT
Cost of inventories sold HEFENAR 19,288,318 18,723,015
Depreciation of property, plant and ERN B
equipment KT E 14 1,492,772 1,374,785
Amortisation of intangible assets B R 16 10,150 9,199
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 15 29,612 33353
Amortisation of coal mining rights R 2o 18 987 3,527
Expense relating to short-term leases: ARSI 15
Factories v 4,036 6,061
Buildings BF 240 30
Land i 58 495
4,334 6,586
Auditor’s remuneration ZHENE S 4,724 4,550
Employee benefit expenses (including BERAMFX
directors' remuneration): (BEESFW) - 9
Salaries and bonuses e RIE4L 1,508,055 1,335,709
Pension scheme contributions (defined RIREF IR
contribution scheme) GUEHKETE) 212,429 148,658
Benefits in kind BWHE 119,474 102,758
Share-based payment expense LARR 1 32 < ) B s v
X 40 8,301 7613
1,848,259 1,594,738
Impairment losses on financial assets TEVE EREEE 24 9,310 9,806
Impairment of property, plant and e U &
equipment* HAERE 14 4,817 -
Impairment of inventories* FERE* 22 12,379 27,537
Unrealised exchange gains, net* ﬂi“‘zfﬁﬁﬁju&/‘_’\ R (1,241) (6,281)
Realised exchange(gains)/losses, net* &% SR 5, (Wes)
)’éﬂ@ OFRR* (8,873) 737
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWE - BFEX
equipment HEREE 577 38,070
Loss on fair value change of financial Q+A%§ﬁmi\ﬁﬁlﬂ@
instruments through profit and loss, net*  AF{EZB)ETE » F
B 3,973 1,259
(Gains)/loss on fair value change of e T ANTEER
derivative financial instruments, net* &) (Yzm )/JEETE@%E* (568) 154
Donations B 2,703 6,458
T
* Included in “Other expenses” disclosed in the consolidated statement of profit or * BREGEEEAEMEANERTHEE

loss and other comprehensive income.
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8. FINANCE COSTS

8. BABERA

An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BIERADITIAT -
Group
TEH
2023 2022
—E-= - —F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET ARETFIT
Interest on bank loans, other loans and bonds HRITEN - HIWER R
EFHIFR 575,668 660,887
Interest on lease liabilities (Note 15) HEAGEME (i 15) 4,325 1,306
579,993 662,193
T
9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 9. EEME

Directors’ and chief executive's remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

KEEEERETBTHRAENME - BIE
FHRAEE BB EUENIE383(1)@)
b) ~ (@ KOG KR EEHIE 235 (HFE
ERESEANER) HEAT

Group

rEE
2023 2022
—E-= - —F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® T ARETIT
Fees we 1,650 1,050

Other employments: HhB e :
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EMREYN = 2,781 2576
Performance related bonuses* FEEACAL* 32,128 31,112
Pension scheme contributions RN ETEIHR 126 117
35,035 33,805
36,685 34,855
]

Certain executive directors of the Company are entitled to bonuses which are
determined as a percentage of the profit attributable to owners of the parent.

* ARABETHTESARERSRASEE
BN B D LLEEERIEAL ©
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WERBRMEE  ror the financiar year ended 31 December 2023 B = F = =4F+ = =+—HIHKFE

9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)
(A)  INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during the year were

as follows:

9. EEM2R)
A BUFBITES

FANTELIFRTES 2RI ¢

Group

rEH
2023 2022
—E_= T F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® TR ARETT
Ong Kian Guan TR 450 300
Li Shengxiao TER 400 250
Ong Wei Jin ey 400 250
Li Hongxing MR 400 250
1,650 1,050

]

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent non-

executive directors during the year (2022: Nil).
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9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

(B)  EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS, AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

9. EEME (&)

(B) HITEBRITHAEH

Salaries,
allowances and Pension scheme
benefits in kind Performance- contributions Total
HHe  RBR  related bonuses BiR& remuneration
Year ended 31 December 2023 BYIFE ZEEA SHEMER HEte
BE-ZE-= RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTT ARBTT ARBT T
Executive directors: HiTEE:
Liu Xingxu 2@ 900 13,202 = 14,102
Yan Yunhua HaE 678 6,587 42 7,307
Zhang Qingjin RES 678 10,367 42 11,087
2,256 30,156 84 32,496
|
Chief executive officer: 1T AEE, -
Song Wanlei RER 210 637 29 876
|
Salaries, allowances Pension scheme
and benefits in kind Performance- contributions
¢ 2B R related bonuses RIKE  Total remuneration
Year ended 31 December 2022 EtpE EETH FHEIR BEr e
o, —— RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
TZA=T—HLEFE ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Executive directors: HITEE:
Liu Xingxu 2|8 900 13,336 - 14,236
Yan Yunhua Bag 681 10,472 39 11,192
Zhang Qingjin RES 681 6,654 39 7374
2,262 30,462 78 32,802
|
Chief Executive officer: e,
Ma Tongsheng et 314 650 39 1,003
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MEBRRHT rorhe financial year ended 31 December 2023 2 —F = =4+ =H =+—HIFHHKF/E

10. FIVE HIGHEST PAY EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included three (2022:
three) directors, details of whose remuneration are set out in Note 9 above.
Details of the remuneration of the remaining two (2022: two) non-director,
highest paid employees for the year are as follows:

10. HERERSHFMES

AEEBAFENTERSFMEEBE=
FH(ZEZ—F =ZR)EF - Hems
BRI EXHFE BRAESHME(=ZF
—oF WA FEERSFHHEER M
TR -

Group

rEE
2023 2022
—E-= S
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ TR ARETT
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e R REYN & 1,003 694
Performance-related bonuses HEEEAL 3,763 1,800
Pension scheme contributions RS FH IR 85 78
4,851 2,572

]

The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose remuneration
fell within the following bands is as follows:

HeBTIHEZNNFESTZSFHMIE
EMHBWT

Group
KEH
2023 2022
—=-= —E-F
RMB1,000,001 to RMB1,500,000 AR#1,000001 702
AEREE 1,500,000 70 - 2
RMB1,500,001 to RMB2,000,000 AR 1500001 TTE
AFRH£2000,000 7T - B
RMB2,000,001 to RMB2,500,000 AR 2000001 TTE
AR¥& 2,500,000 7T 1 _
RMB2,500,001 to RIMB3,000,000 AR 2500001 TTE
AR #& 3,000,0007T 1 -
2 2
]

During the year, no remuneration was paid by the Group to the five
individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group as an inducement to
join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.
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11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The Company is incorporated in Singapore and is subject to income tax at
the rate of 16% (2022: 17%) for the year.

Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the rates of
tax prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

The Company’s subsidiaries in Mainland China are subject to income tax at
the rate of 25% (2022: 25%). During the year, fourteen (2022: thirteen) of the
subsidiaries were given the New/High Tech Enterprise Award as recognition
of their innovation and use of state-of-the-art equipment. This award
brought these subsidiaries a tax concession of a lower income tax rate (i.e.
15%) for three years since the subsidiaries awarded the New High-Tech
Enterprise Award.

The major components of income tax expense for the financial years ended
31 December 2023 and 2022 are:

11. FBFHMAx

IN/N TF%MW&ﬁWi RARFE B
16%(—ZF == 17%) &) P15 F 5 2R 40
NTRIE o

WA E A3 77 FEER B M B IR IR AN SR B 4K
ERERNBZKRITOREGE -

RRATIRMI B A B B A IR TS
FRE 250 (ZF = —F : 25%) BANTHIE -
RAFE  HFF+ER(ZE=Z=F +_

)W% RIEESHENCEES

TE BB AT & 5 FB 50 M Rl A% ﬁ
&ﬁﬁ@&ﬁ%% RIEESHES TR
MEEFER=FRNUZAEREMEHRH
K (BN15%) TG ER -

HE-_Z_ZFRrR-_FE-_—_F+=A
=t BUHMBRFEMSHASIcTES
AT :

Group

TEH
2023 2022
—E=-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® T AREETIT

Current - PRC BNER - AR EY
Charge for the year FEMXZ 329,872 300,184
Under provision in respect of prior years BEFERERE 13,066 4,970
Deferred charge (Note 37) IRIEINRR (FIEE37) (40,487) 67,328
Total tax charge for the year AR E R TR S 4858 302,451 372482
T
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Notes to the Financial Statements
MEBRRHT rorhe financial year ended 31 December 2023 2 —F = =4+ =H =+—HIFHHKF/E

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax at the
statutory rates for the countries in which the Company and its subsidiaries

11. Fﬁ- ﬁrﬁﬁi(nﬁ)

AP BERERBBRRARRREME R
AIFTEB REETE R R 5T B R BRI AT S A

China XLX 2023 Annual Report

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the approval of the
Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

are domiciled to the tax charge for the financial year at the effective tax rate B IE R 2 EIR B R T R AT B e T 1B R 2
is as follows: HERWT -
Group
rEE
2023 2022
—E=-= B S—
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%ETR ARETIT
Profit before tax BR 5 A A 1,939,745 2,180,657
]
Tax at statutory tax rates REEREFENTIE 484,936 545,164
Effect of a tax concession (as above) BEENTE (L) (259,221) (249,469)
Withholding tax TEINTRIR 54,700 64,851
Tax losses not recognised RERBIEEE 2,076 11,956
Expenses not deductible for tax kiR 7,676 5,325
Under provision in respect of prior years B FERERE 13,066 4970
Income not subject to tax BRI (2,357) (6,635)
Effect of other concession HiBEENE (4,345) (4,141)
Others Hth 5,920 461
Tax charge at the effective rate of 15.6 % REBRBE156%
(2022:17.19%) (ZFZZ4F :17.1%)
A ERBIAR X 302,451 372,482
]
12. DIVIDENDS 12. RE
Group
rEH
2023 2022
—E'=-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® TR ARETIT
Final dividend paid-RMB 26 cents SATARHAR B - T B
(2022: RMB 19 cents) per ordinary share AR® 26 > (—2::¢ :
AR®E195) 320,748 243,438
T
Proposed final dividend-RMB 24 cents BEARIRE -EREERK
(2022: RMB 25 cents) per ordinary share AR 245 (—2::¢ :
AR¥255) 292,503 307,030
T

RENZZHRAREAFARABRERER
BN RITHRFIBSE RS LHE - 1671

=
82 o



13. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share amount is based
on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
parent, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares (inclusive
of mandatorily convertible instruments issued) of 1,224,222,000 (2022:
1,209,288,000), as adjusted to reflect additional shares issued in 2022 and
shares repurchased and cancelled in 2023.

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are based on the
following data:

13. BRATREERESBAEARNL
BRER

BRERAREERINGEIRBEE AR
MRESFEBEABEFARRM - &%
BURBMR-_ZE - —FE2HERMND R
TEFEHHEEENYT ﬁhM%iﬁﬁ
1,224,222,000 & (B 3EE B 1THY 38 H 14 AT iR
HQI/E\) (ZZ =4 : 1,209,288,000 8% ) &T

kk/E

1=

tﬂxﬁ$&§ﬁ%&5ﬂﬁgﬁ/\u‘l—§ﬂ)§ﬁ§

5

Group
rEE
2023 2022
—E-= S
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ TR ARETT
Earnings ZF|
Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders AR ESRERLEERT]
of the parent, used in the basic and diluted WE R RS RRERSEA
earnings per share calculation i3yl 1,186,882 1,326,211
]
Group
rEH
2023 2022
—E=-= . S—
Number of shares Number of shares
gvEd= anrd=
Shares [;:&viy
Weighted average number of ordinary shares M EORAERREE R
(inclusive of mandatorily convertible i 5 K B hiE 152K
instruments issued) for the purpose of (BB ETTRISR 1T
calculating basic and diluted earnings per AR T A)

share

1,224,222,000 1,209,288,000
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Y% - BERRKE

31 December 2023 —E=%+=ZHA=+—H

Otherfixtures equipment
and structures Plantand  and furniture Construction

Buidings ~ HftEE  machinery $OZ  Motorvehicles in progress Total
BT WEUREE HEREE RGREE AE ERIR g
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETRT  ARETn ARMTr ARETR ARMTr ARETz ARMTR

Cost A

t1 January 2003 W-E-Z£-5-R 2754100 4399794 16023212 672,216 4425 1200331 25344078
Additions e 44,489 3,065 583,113 26,507 18926 1519016 2195116
Redlassfication Exip Q7173 332 1,008783 7,762 580 (1,818620) -
Acquisition of subsidiaries Yo B LA - - 3353 297 363 130,01 134,024
Disposals Hj% (19.717) (15,488) (74,750) (8,116) (6,082) - (1241%)
At31 December 2023 RZBZ=F+ZA=1-H 3206045 4761693 17543711 698,666 28212 1120877 2754904
Accumulated depreciation: ZithE:

t1 January 2003 R-F-=F-A-A 474283 647870 4253195 375,608 123186 - 5874102
Depreciation during the year (Note 7 ERFENET) 113,699 17489 1107325 75,851 21,068 - 149271
Disposals e (8,844) (6612 (47,635) (3719) (3839) - (70,649)
At31 December 2023 \ZEZZETIA=T-R 579,098 816087 5312885 447,740 140415 - 7296225
Impaiment e

At T January 2023 R_EZ=F-A-A = = 260 = = 11,841 12,101
Charges HE - - 4817 - - - 4817
At31 December 2023 o g oy = - - 5077 - - 11,841 16918
Carying amount: HEE

At31 December 2023 RZBZ=E+Zf=1-H 2626047 3045606 12225749 250,926 7797 1109036 20,236,061

The Group has plant and machinery with a carrying value RMB 1,774,640,000 $E.ﬁﬁﬁ§ﬁﬁ 2RI BARME,774640,000
(2022: RMB 1,968,110,000) and RMB 1,444,180,000 (2022: RMB 1,662,102,000) T(ZEZZF : ARM 1,968,110 OOOTE)
respectively are mortgaged to secure the Group's bank and other LA AR 1,444,180,000 T (ZE ==

borrowings (Note 33). AR #1662,10200070) BB L% 2% 5
AEBRFEITREAMEKIREERFE
33) °
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

31 December 2022

14.

Y% - BB R ()
—E-__f%+-RA=+-—H

Office
Otherfixtures equipment
and structures Plntand  and fumniture Construction
Buldngs  EMEE  machinery HOZE  Motorvehicdes  inprogress Total
BT MEhiesE HEREE RBREE g ERIE it
RMBO00 RMB(000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB1000 RMB1000 RMB000
Group 158 ARBTT  ARETT ARETR AREBTR ARETT ARETR ARETR
Cost: A
{1 January 2022 AZEZZF-F-H 2394085 3369975 13,104,742 540,064 188450 3379489 22,976,805
Effect of the adoption of amendments to IAS16 ROERERAZ 0% ETA
e - - 19% - - - 1,994
At January 2022 R-E-"%-8-H 2394085 3369975 13,106,736 540,064 188450 3379489 22978799
Addttions AE 1191 14844 125644 31,44 27592 3,108,134 3308649
Reclassfication Bif% 303 109656 3236825 109344 1569 [4759726) -
Transfers to ight-of-use assets (Note 19) sRzpRREE(E ) - - - - {29079 (429079)
Disposals e (23,508) (14681) (445,993) (8:436) (13,186) (8487) (514291)
At31 December 2022 2 gy gl 2754100 4399794 16023212 672216 204425 1290331 25344078
Accumulated depreciation ZiHE:
At T January 2022 NE__F-A-H 385,792 494599 3519044 310,784 110986 - 4821205
Depreciation during the year (Note 7 FRAE () 97,46 159234 102249 72724 208 - 1,374,785
Disposdls HE 87%) (963 (288344 (7900 (10836) - (321889
At31 December 2022 R-E-ZF+-A=1-H 474243 647810 425319 375,608 123186 - 5874102
Impairment: WE :
At January 2022 W-F-—%5-F-H 807 2097 77505 9 - 1841 99589
Disposals ﬁ% (8027) (2097) (77.265) (99) - - (87489)
At31 December 2022 RZBZZ#+A=1-H - 260 - - 11841 12101
Canying amoun; B -
At 31 December 2022 R-B-"F+-A=1-H 2219857 3751924 11769757 296608 81239 127849 19457875

REDE

R

=__

—FFR
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MEBRRHT rorhe financial year ended 31 December 2023 2 —F = =4+ =H =+—HIFHHKF/E

15. LEASES

The Group has lease contracts for various items of land, plant and
machinery used in its operations. Leases of plant and machinery generally
have lease terms between 3 and 10 years, while land generally have lease
terms between 2 and 20 years. The Group's obligations under its leases
are secured by the lessor’s title to the leased assets. Generally, the Group
is restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased assets and some
contracts require the Group to maintain certain financial ratios.

The Group also has certain leases of machinery with lease terms of 12
months or less and leases of office equipment with low value. The Group
applies the 'short-term lease’ and ‘lease of low-value assets’ recognition
exemptions for these leases.

(A)  CARRYING AMOUNTS OF RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Set out below are the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets recognised

15. HE

AEEREZEREAY  AEKEERH
FEANSELI - BERKREE © K
EHEHENHENBEAIZI0F M
THHAEMNHEERBE R2E20F - A%
EEAEFARENESHEHEALHEE
BEMATEEER - —8BME @ ZEET
BSEENEAAEEE  MBLAHNEXK
REEMEFFTEVFLE o

AEENEETHREE  BEHR 12
AT - THEREBENHARE - K
SEHRSHERM [MHHEE ] M EKE
BEEME ] AR -

(A)  FERAEEENREE
TREHINZ PR EREAREENR

and the movements during the period: BN A
Plant &
Land machinery Total
T it G = #at
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R AR¥F T AR®F T
Group REE
As at 1 January 2023 R-E-_=%—AF—H 1,378,116 8,544 1,386,660
Additions NE 268,549 437 268,986
Acquisition of subsidiaries WP B AR 8,779 = 8,779
Depreciation expense (Note 7) wEEBR (ME7) (28,234) (1,378) (29,612)
Lease modification due to revision ~ FHERRFREAMISEIHE
of lease term 19 - 19
As at 31 December 2023 RZFBZ=F+ZA=+—H 1,627,229 7,603 1,634,832
|
As at 1 January 2022 R-—ZE-—=—%—-H—H 975,098 4,948 980,046
Additions NE 4,642 6,177 10,819
Transfer from construction in W TRE R (I 14)
progress (Note 14) 429,079 - 429,079
Depreciation expense (Note 7) WEER(W:E7) (30,772) (2,581) (33,353)
Disposal HE (267) - (267)

Lease modification due to revision ~PFHECATHEAMETAAE
of lease term 336 - 336

As at 31 December 2022 R-E-_—_F+=-B=+—H 1378116 8,544 1,386,660
]
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15. LEASES (CONTINUED) 15. #HE (&)
(B)  LEASE LIABILITIES (B) HEET

=

5
Set out below are the carrying amounts of lease liabilities (included under ~ FEREIIRZHABMEEEE(BETEE
interest-bearing loans and borrowings) and the movements during the REEF)NEAeEREEE)
period:

Group
rEH
2023 2022
—E_= —E-_F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR AREETIT
As at 1 January R—A—H 23,251 23,258
Additions NE 60,606 3,628
Accretion of interest M EHEHN 4,325 1,306
Payments NEA (10,455) (5,168)
Lease modification HEEE 942 227
As at 31 December R+=HA=+—H 78,669 23251
T
Current BIER 4,069 3,738
Non-current FERNER 74,600 19,513
T
(C)  AMOUNTS RECOGNISED IN PROFIT OR LOSS O RIBZBIANSHE
The following are the amounts recognised in profit or loss: LT RRIESERN S
Group
rER
2023 2022
—E_= —E-F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥ TR ARETFT
Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets EREEETEERR (MiE7)

(Note 7) 29,612 33,353
Interest expense on leases liabilities (Note 8) HEaEFEMZ (iiEs) 4,325 1,306
Expense relating to short-term leases (included in %5 HAFH EERE &

administrative expenses) (Note 7) BT AITBR ) (FiEE7) 4,334 6,586
Total amount recognised in profit or loss RIERERNEE 38,271 41,245

T
(D)  TOTAL CASH OUTFLOW (D) RERLLE

The Group had total cash outflows for leases of RMB 14,789,000 in 2023 AREBR - ZE-_=FmWHERSRLERE
(2022: RMB 11,754,000). BARME 14789000 (ZEZZF : AR
11,754,000 7T) ©
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16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 16. EEEE
Patents Software Total
=R B st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR®T T ARBTT
31 December 2023
Group
Cost:
At 1 January 2023 RZZE—_=F—H—H 47,203 51,491 98,694
Additions NE 5,025 15,616 20,641
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+=-A=+—H 52,228 67,107 119,335
Accumulated depreciation: ZETE
At 1 January 2023 RZZEZ=F—H—H 21,117 18,358 39,475
Depreciation during the year FANFE 3,651 6,499 10,150
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+_H=+—H 24,768 24,857 49,625
Carrying amount: ARHEE -
At 31 December 2023 W2 =F+_H=+—H 27,460 42,250 69,710
|
31 December 2022 —E-__H+-A=+—H
Group AEE
Cost: AN
At 1 January 2022 R—E-_—F—H—H 47,003 49,238 96,241
Additions NE 200 2,253 2,453
At 31 December 2022 R-_ZE-—F+-_A=+—H 47,203 51,491 98,694
Accumulated depreciation: REIE
At 1 January 2022 RZEZ=F—H—H 16,685 13,591 30,276
Depreciation during the year FRITE 4432 4767 9,199
At 31 December 2022 RZZE=F+=—A=+—H 21,117 18,358 39475
Carrying amount: AREE :
At 31 December 2022 W2 ZF+_HA=+—H 26,086 33,133 59,219

164 China XLX 2023 Annual Report



17. GOODWILL

At 1 January 2024 and 31 December 2023 RZZEZNF—A—HRK
=

=

=F+=-A=+—H

2023 2022

—E=-= —E-F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥ET T ARET T

63,022 63,022
T

IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL

Goodwill acquired through business acquisitions have been allocated to
following cash generating units ("CGU") for impairment testing:

Coal mining cash-generating unit;
Medical intermediate products cash-generating unit; and
Furfural products cash-generating unit.

COAL MINING CASH-GENERATING UNIT

The recoverable amount of the coal mining CGU has been determined
based on a value-in-use calculation using five years cash flow projections
approved by management based on financial budgets covering a 27.5-year
period. The pre-tax discounted rate applied to the cash flow projections is
11.8% (2022: 11.8%).

MEDICAL INTERMEDIATE PRODUCTS CASH-GENERATING UNIT, FURFURAL
PRODUCTS CASH-GENERATING UNIT AND HUMIC ACID PRODUCTS
CASH-GENERATING UNIT

The recoverable amounts of the medical intermediate products CGU and
furfural products CGU have been determined based on a value-in-use
calculation using five years cash flow projections approved by management
based on financial budgets covering continuity periods. The pre-tax
discounted rates applied to the cash flow projections are 16.47% and 19.7%
respectively (2022: 17.4% and 19.7% respectively).

Based on the annual impairment testing, no impairment charge was
recognised during the year.

EIERE R
%L%WAﬁ%%mﬁﬁeﬂﬁéuTﬁ

CEABAM([REEEENM]) - LUETTHR
BRI :

ﬁ%%ﬁﬁé%iﬁﬁ:

/g?;q:‘ Biks: Euuiﬁiﬁiﬁfi

ﬂ%@ Fuufﬁ(ﬁ?iﬁfl °

BRI S A B
BIRRER S E A BTN E SR

REABEFEREREETE  MEMAE
BNRBMBEE RELE  RE27SFH
AREEEEENTFRESRERAG
BoHaBeRelAKAI8%(ZE
T 0 11.8%) RTIR R -
%g?z‘:’jﬁaﬁﬁ% mIReEAEEN ﬁ’@i%

fﬁ@%i%{i&ﬁfTﬁ@&F uufﬁiéiﬁfi

%ﬁ‘#‘ﬁﬁﬁméuuiﬁﬁgi LL&*?%EDD
BeELBEMNA RO ECRERER
AEAEEEFR  MERAEBENRALE

BEMENYHBEE AR  REEEH
Fﬁ&i‘“ﬁﬁ%tt/ﬁﬁﬁﬁiiﬁimgiﬁ B'J u‘I‘
B o HAIIR R ETER D RIEA 16.47% &
197%MITIRERIN(ZTE__F : 55K
FH174% X 19.7%) °

RIBFEBRERR - RNAFERL EER
AR o
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17. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)
COAL MINING CASH-GENERATING UNIT (CONTINUED)

MEDICAL INTERMEDIATE PRODUCTS CASH-GENERATING UNIT, FURFURAL
PRODUCTS CASH-GENERATING UNIT AND HUMIC ACID PRODUCTS
CASH-GENERATING UNIT (CONTINUED)

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to each of the cash-generating
units is as follows:

Coal Medical

mining intermediate products
R BETBEER
RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETR ARBTR

2023 200
CECCE et
Carmying amount of goodwil BERER 25,361 25361 34021 34021
T

ASSUMPTIONS USED IN THE VALUE-IN-USE CALCULATION

The following describes each key assumption on which management has
based its cash flow projections to undertake the impairment testing of coal
mining CGU, medical intermediate products CGU, furfural products CGU
and humic acid products CGU:

0) BUDGETED SALES, OPERATING COSTS AND GROSS MARGIN

The basis used to determine the value assigned to the budgeted sales,
operating costs and gross margins are compared to the historical data
and adjusted for management’s expected efficiency improvements and
expected market development.

(1 GROWTH RATES

The forecasted growth rates are compared to the historical data and do not
exceed the long-term average growth rate for the industries relevant to the
medical intermediate products CGU.

) COMMODITY PRICE

The basis used to determine the value assigned to commodity price is the
expectation of future changes in the market.

(V) PRE-TAX DISCOUNT RATE

The pre-tax discount rate used is before tax and reflects specific risks
relating to the relevant unit.

China XLX 2023 Annual Report

17. BHE(E)

EEF B ()
BudiEERRESELSEN  BEER
BeEASENNMNBERERRSELEN
€=))

SREFReELEMHNERAABAN
T~

Furfural products Hurmic acid products Total
AlER REMER a3t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARBTR ARETT

1,528 1528 2112 312 63,022 63022
T T T -

£ AEEFERAIRE

EEBE/OTAL - EiEEEDRE
Bk BRI S B B
BETHBERNOELEL  BEESR
ReEE e RBERERRSEL T
BITREAH

() TBEHER KENAREME

ANEETREHER  KERAREMNEK
MR EEEMEERFEL BURAILE - I
AR E R BB RUE IR S
BRFHAR

mn  EEX

SR R E SUBERRE TR - BT
BEERERSEL B AR TER
TR -

my  EmER

ARETAMmERNIETEENEESRD
SRR EBENIES o

(v) FRRIYTIRE

KA ATITIR R B AT ARG R 1E R
BT RER

o



17. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

ASSUMPTIONS USED IN THE VALUE-IN-USE CALCULATION

(CONTINUED)

With regards to the assessment of value in use for coal mining CGU, medical
intermediate products CGU, furfural products CGU and humic acid products
CGU, management believes that no reasonably possible changes in any
of the above key assumptions would cause the carrying value of the coal

17. BHE(E)
EREETERANRER (E)

Eytpﬂﬁk%)ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%iﬁiFiﬁu B8 Bk

?uuﬁi%iﬁu ﬁ@%?uuiﬁ/ﬁﬁ
Eiu&fﬁﬁﬁmﬁéﬁiiumﬁ%
BEMS  BEERR AR LMEER

mining CGU, medical intermediate products CGU, furfural products CGU EQZ/E'\EET@EQ B2 EREBHARE

and humic acid products CGU to materially exceed its recoverable amount.

18. COAL MINING RIGHTS

SEAB - BENHEELRSELS
I TR A 9 5 7 1B o J L 2
geEtiuakaEEeT ke

18. JRUEBAERAE

ToEaI
et

RMB’000
ARMF T

31 December 2023

Group REE
Cost: B AR
At 1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 R-E-_=F—H—HB8K
—E=F+-A=+—H 265,374
Accumulated depreciation: ZEHE
At 1 January 2023 R-E-_=F—H—H 31,940
Depreciation during the year FRFE 987
At 31 December 2023 RZE_=F+_"A=+—H 32,927
Carrying amount: EE@TE
At 31 December 2023 RZT_=F+_A=+—H 232,447
|
Total
wEt
RMB'000
ARETF T
31 December 2022 —E-CHE+ZA=1—H
Group REH
Cost: PR
At 1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 RZE-_—F—H—H
KT —_F+-_A=+—H 265374
Accumulated depreciation: ZETHTE
At 1 January 2022 R-ZTE-—F—A—H 28413
Depreciation during the year FRFE 3,527
At 31 December 2022 WZE_—_F+_A=+—H 31,940
Carrying amount: AREE :
At 31 December 2022 RZB__F+_A=+—H 233434
|
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18. COAL MINING RIGHTS (CONTINUED)
IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF COAL MINING RIGHTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group performed
impairment assessment on the coal mining CGU as disclosed in Note 17
to the consolidated financial statements, which include the above coal
mining rights of RMB 232,447,000 (2022: RMB 233,434,000), goodwill of
RMB 25,361,000 (2022: RMB 25,361,000), property, plant and equipment of
RMB 953,996,000 (2022: RMB 813,504,000) and right-of-use assets of RMB
16,175,000 (2022: RMB 16,391,000). The key assumptions are included in
Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

Based on the annual impairment testing, no impairment charge was
recognised during the year.

19. EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

18. ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ?w% (IIE)
IR R SRR YR E RIS

HE_Z-_ZFfrk-_FE-__F+=A=
+—HLEFE  AEEHHEERERSE
& BT TIRE R (AR A B S SRR FT
7RI - e iE il IR EEA
R¥2324470000(ZF - —F : AR
233,434,0007T ) ~ B2 AR ¥ 25361,0007C
(ZE=——F: AR¥25361,0007T) * ¥
¥ BB K& AR 953996,0007T (=

T —F: AR¥813504,0007T) M{E A
EEARME1617500T (B = — 4 :
ARM16391,0007T) - EEREZHNLERE
BTSRRI 17 -

RIBFREBERR - RAFERL EHER
TRE R

19. BRAVEFABRSHRERE

PROFIT OR LOSS
Group
TEH
2023 2022
—E-= = ——
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETIT
Non-current IERE
Unquoted equity investment, at fair value: e ETIRIERE - W ATE
PRC g 6,708 6,708
Listed equity investment, at fair value: FTRIERE - BRTE
PRC ik 22,930 -
29,638 6,708
T
Current TED
Listed equity investments, at fair value: FTRIERE - BRTE
Singapore b 3,003 2,844
Hong Kong B 4,840 8973
7,843 11,817
]
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19. EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

19. EAFEFABSNRERE

PROFIT OR LOSS (CONTINUED) (&)
Company
¥ NN
2023 2022
—E_= —E-F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTT
Current B

Listed equity investments, at fair value: ETRIERE - BATE
Singapore Frhnsg 3,003 2,844
Hong Kong B 4,840 8,973
7,843 11,817

T
LISTED EQUITY INVESTMENTS EHRERE

During the year, the Group made a listed equity investment, classified
as non-current asset with the intention to be held for control and are
measured at fair value through profit or loss.

The listed equity investments classified as current assets are intended to be
held for trading and are measured at fair value through profit or loss.

UNQUOTED EQUITY INVESTMENT

The Group's investment in unquoted equity investment represent equity
investment in Manas Biyuan Water Supply Company Limited (“Biyuan”).
The Group has no control nor significant influence over the financial and
operating policies of Biyuan. The Group does not intend to dispose of them
in the near future.

The investment is carried at fair value through profit or loss and the fair
value as at 31 December 2023 is RMB 6,708,000 (2022: RMB 6,708,000).

WAER - AREIEH B LR A
RABRIRBAR - SRR
AT ER AR E -

DERRBEERN LT IRERERISIER
5 WRAFEAERTE -

FEMRERE

REB 2 IF E MR E RN B AT
BRFKEREERR(TER]) MRER
B o REBEHERMRH NS BRI &
ZHIRREATES - AEBEENAR
ARHEFRIRE -

WERNFEFABRYE R =
F+ A=t BHNAFEASLARE
6,708,000 L (ZE = —4F : AR 6,708,000
JC) ©
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Notes to Financial Statements
MEBRRHT rorhe financial year ended 31 December 2023 2 —F = =4+ =H =+—HIFHHKF/E

20. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 20. FEMFIE G RS RHAMEWRK
RECEIVABLES b |
Group
rEE
2023 2022
—E-= —E-—fF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%T T AREETFIT
Non-current ERE
Prepayments for purchases of property, plantand BB E¥% - BiE MR E
equipment YRS FRIA 946,943 117,923
T
Current RED
Prepayments: TERTROE -
Advanced deposits to suppliers AN HERRIZS 567,780 1,194,718
Others Hth 33,127 35,865
600,907 1,230,583
Deposits and other receivables: e RHEM IR
Deposits B 78,512 7017
VAT and income tax recoverable AT EIE(ERT K PR 193,335 124,884
Others Hh 74,532 62,227
346,379 194,128
Total prepayments, deposits and other TERRIE - me REM
receivables -current JEMGRIBB5E - B 947,286 1424711
T
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21. OTHERASSETS 21. HibEE

Group
TEH
2023 2022
—E-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® TR AREETIT
Non-current IERE
Deposits for finance leases REHELRS 36,856 50,140
Prepayments for purchase of lands BB T H TR FRIE - 38,668
Others Hith 29,632 3,230
66,488 92,038
T
Current TED
Deposits for finance leases REHETR 18,537 13,799
22. INVENTORIES 22, FE
Group
rEE
2023 2022
—E'=-= B S—
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARETR AREFT
Raw materials at cost R RS BR B R R 661,455 583,978
Parts and spares at cost TR BRA D R RS 189,954 265,644
Work-in-progress at cost LRSS BR A TE R 77,830 29,558
Finished goods at lower of cost and net realisable  LARY AN }2 o] & B S BB 8K &
value FTEREK M 677,365 829,908
Allowance for inventory obsolescence FEiBEEE (9,943) (9,629)
1,596,661 1,699,459
T
REOED — T FFER
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Notes to Financial Statements
WERBRMEE  ror the financiar year ended 31 December 2023 B = F = =4F+ = =+—HIHKFE

23. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

23. fT4&E€mI A

Future

AR

Derivative financial instruments are denominated in RMB and are secured
by time deposits of RMB 4,759,000 (2022: RMB 2,753,000) (Note 27).

24. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

Group
rEH
2023 2022
—E_= T F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT AREFIT
9,015 9,827
T

PTESMT AUARKEE  WATHE
FTARBE47500000(ZFE - —F: AR
# 2,753,000 70 ) YEAEAR (BI5E 27) ©

24. BEFRWNREREVRRE

Group

rEE
2023 2022
—E=-= - F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETFT
Trade receivables 2 S W EIE 526,373 495,184
Less: allowance for expected credit losses W TREMEEESEEE (30,463) (24,560)
Total trade receivables (Note 6) B SN IR LR (fifite) 495,910 470624
Bills receivable eSS 646,200 552912
Less: allowance for expected credit losses B TBEMEEEIE R (4,009) (3,861)
Total bills receivable e IR 642,191 549,051
1,138,101 1,019,675

T
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24. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled on
terms of 30 to 180 days. They are recognised at their original invoice
amounts which represent their fair values on initial recognition. The Group’s
bills receivables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled on terms
of 90 to 180 days. Trade and bills receivables are denominated in RMB.

The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly payment in
advance or on credit for certain customers. Each customer has a maximum
credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables and to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed
regularly by senior management. In view of the aforementioned and the
fact that the Group's trade receivables relate to a large number of diversified
customers, there is no significant concentration of credit risk. The Group
does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over these
balances.

An aging analysis of the Group’s trade receivables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of provisions, is as
follows:

24. BEZRWHREREBURRERE (&)

ZHRWFIBARER—MN30E180H
REE  ZSEREFANERAEZSH
R ZEEAREEVRERRAR
FE - AEENEREEAEE R —HKR
ZE 180 HAEE - & 5 M Y GIE K FE K
EEUAREE -

AEBHRETFHNRZIFARERSAMNK
B ATEPXADNFEER - 85FPA
EEHLER - NEBESKERFHE KD
HIm) R R ) BB - PURMEE B R
%o BHEREHSREEETHEN -
N EXAt - MAKENE 5 RIGKIR
DHRARESHNEF MU BEXREE
ShEE - NEEY ERZFEHT AT
AR EMEERE

REBEHE 5 RYGIRN R E BRI RE D
I (RIFHZ A RIREE) 0

Group

rEE
2023 2022
—E-= —E-F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARETFT
Within 1 month & A LAA 309,630 276,885
110 3 months 12 3EA 95,586 68,152
3to 6 months 3Z61EA 44,935 56,754
610 12 months 621218 A 45,759 68,833
495,910 470,624

T

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a large
number of diversified customers for whom there was no recent history of
default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number of
independent customers that have a good track record with the Group.
Based on past experience, the directors of the Group are of the opinion that
no provision for impairment is necessary in respect of these balances as
there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the balances
are still considered fully recoverable.

KRBT AR B R MR IR LA 83T HDR
B REHENDBEFER -

EEHME R E R MRS T EA R
EFERIFFBETHNBIEFPEH - R
BBELR  AAREEFRABARZT
EREHIERERE  RHEEERAEEX
HH L SERIDEAR AR 28U
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Notes to Financial Statements
WERBRMEE  ror the financiar year ended 31 December 2023 B = F = =4F+ = =+—HIHKFE

24. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 24, BESRWFEREKREE(E)
BHEEEE

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a  R&EHRE A RO RBEEERETRED
provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision rates T Ut EREEEEE - BEXTHER
are based on days past due for groupings of various customer based on BEPERRARNZ R P#EITHAMmE
customer type and rating. The calculation reflects the probability-weighted HH B EGTE - ZetERMSA K IS
outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and supportable R E¥HERRBRSAHAUSNEBR
information that is available at the reporting date about past events, current £ 518 ~ & B G B R R AR B 54 F8ORI#Y
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. Generally, trade EENAEER - —RMmE © BSHERK
receivables are written off if past due for more than one year and are not BN RBEREEA —F I B R HIBITE
subject to enforcement activity. B A T LA -

EXPECTED CREDIT LOSSES

The movement in allowance for expected credit losses of trade and other ~ RIFFEHEEEBEFTENE 5 L H M EIK

receivables computed based on ECL are as follows:

RENBEREEEHEREEHNT

TRADE RECEIVABLES B 5 WA

Group

rEE
2023 2022
—E-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR AREETIT
At the beginning of year REH] 24,560 21339
Written off i gH (1,421) 2,137)
Impairment losses, net (Note 7) RIEEIE - TR (FE7) 7,324 5,358
Atend of year FAR 30,463 24,560

T
OTHER RECEIVABLES E bW FRIE

Group

rEE
2023 2022
—E=-= —E-F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETIT
At the beginning of year EH] 16,111 18,436
Written off 516 (4) (2,695)
Impairment losses, net (Note 7) BERE - B (MR 7) 582 370
Atend of year RER 16,697 16,111

T
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24. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)
EXPECTED CREDIT LOSSES (CONTINUED)

DUE FROM RELATED COMPANIES

24. EBEZBRUGRERER
REEEE (&)
FE W BEE N R OR

FiE (&)

Group
rEH
2023 2022
—E'=-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® TR ARETIT
At the beginning of year RET) 254 37
(Reversal of )/allowance for impairment losses,  SRUEE518 (8E[R1) Bt -
net (Note 7) FEE(MEE7) (74) 217
Atend of year RER 180 254
T
BILLS RECEIVABLE eSS
Group
TEH
2023 2022
—E=-= —E-F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR AREETIT
At the beginning of year REH] 3,861 6,422
Written off HifisH (1,330) (6422)
Impairment losses, net (Note 7) BERE - B (MR 7) 1,478 3,861
Atend of year RER 4,009 3,861
T

hELOED — T - —FFIR
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WERBRMEE  ror the financiar year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE = F ==

24. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

EXPECTED CREDIT LOSSES (CONTINUED)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the

Group's trade receivables, other receivables, amounts due from r
companies and bills receivable using a provision matrix:

ECL FOR TRADE RECEIVABLES

Ft A=+ —HILHBFE

BEZRRREREREREE (&)
REEEE (&)

TXHINBREAREE 5 EUKIA - Hit
FEW IR - {3 R AR A R IR E R )
FRAEMEEREENEERRER

24.

elated

BRI FENEREEER

Past due
Current Less than 1 year 1to2years Over 2 years
B PR—F 12F 250 E
2023 - St 2
Gross carrying amount (RMBO000) BB EE (ARET ) 316,521 192,833 10,647 6,372 526,373
Expected creditlosses (RMB000)  BEBEEEBE(ARET L) 6,891 6,553 10,647 6,372 30,463
2022 —ECCE
Gross carrying amount (RMB000)  HBEEE(ARYTTT) 281820 202,106 3551 7,707 495184
Expected credit losses (RMB000) BEEEER(ARETL) 4935 8367 3551 7,707 24560

ECL FOR OTHER RECEIVABLES

Hith UGB BHME &R

Past due
il
Current Less than 1 year 1to2years Over 2 years
HE SR-F 12% 25U
2023 ZEBIZF
Gross carrying amount (RMB000)  #BEEE(ARMFTT) 56,690 62,403 3,454 44,206 166,753
Expected credit losses (RMB000) EHEEEE(ARETT) 1,702 950 162 13,883 16,697
|
2022 -t
Gross carrying amount (RMB000)  BEREB(ARYTT) 27,236 8964 4002 45153 85,355
Expected credit losses (RMB000) BHEEBR(ARSTT) 449 613 156 14893 16111
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24. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 24, BESRWFERENREE (E)

EXPECTED CREDIT LOSSES (CONTINUED) FHEEEE ()
ECL FOR AMOUNT DUE FROM RELATED COMPANIES FEWRRE A RIFIARTEEE BEE
Past due
il
Current Less than 1 year 1to2years Over 2 years
B SR-F 126 2E0E
2023 ZBCZF
Gross carrying amount (RMB000)  HBEEE(ARYFTT) 34 5,857 2436 20 8,655
Expected credit losses (RMB000) BREEBB(ARETT) - 180 - - 180
|
2022 —E-cE
Gross carrying amount (RMB000)  #BREE (AR TTT) 1137 3850 283 40 7863
Expected credit losses (RMB000) BHEERE(ARETT) - 26 23 5 254
|
ECL FOR BILLS RECEIVABLE N E BRI TREE BB 1B
Past due
il
Current Less than 1 year 1to2years Over 2 years
BIE PR-F 12 2EH0E
2023 ZECZE
Gross carrying amount RMB000)  SBREE (AREFIT) 646,200 - - - 646,200
Expected creditlosses (RMB000)  EERMEEEIE(ARET L) 4,009 - = = 4,009
2022 ZBoCF
Gross carrying amount RVB000)  HBRAEE (ARMFIT) 552912 - - - 552912
Expected creditlosses (RMBO00)  FEEEEBE(ARETT) 3861 - - - 3861
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Notes to Financial Statements

WERBRMEE  ror the financiar year ended 31 December 2023 B = F = =4F+ = =+—HIHKFE

24. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)
BILLS RECEIVABLE

At 31 December 2023, the Group endorsed bills receivable accepted by
banks in Mainland China (the "Endorsed Bills") with an aggregate carrying
amount of RMB 2,178,937,000 (2022: RMB 3,833,008,000) with maturity
ranging from one to six months at the end of the reporting period, to
certain of its suppliers for settlement of the trade payables due to these
suppliers (the “Endorsement”). In accordance with the Law of Negotiable
Instruments in the PRC, the holders of the Endorsed Bills have a right
of recourse against the Group if the PRC banks default (the “Continuing
Involvement”). In the opinion of the directors, all risks and rewards
relating to the Endorsed Bills have been substantially transferred upon the
Endorsement. Accordingly, the Group has derecognised the full carrying
amounts of the Endorsed Bills and the associated trade payables. The
maximum exposure arising from the Group’s Continuing Involvement in
the Endorsed Bills and the undiscounted cash flows to repurchase these
Endorsed Bills is equal to their carrying amounts. In the opinion of the
directors, the fair values of the Group’s Continuing Involvement in the
Endorsed Bills are not significant.

During the financial years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group
has not recognised any gain or loss on the date of transfer of the Endorsed
Bills. No gains or losses were recognised from the Continuing Involvement,
both during the year or cumulatively. The Endorsement has been made
evenly throughout the year.

25. CONTRACT ASSETS

24. EFRWHREREBURERERRE (&)
FEW R

R-Z-=F+-"A=+—H K&EEP
MEETHERSEEFEHANMIRITE
I BREEBE A ARK2178937,0007T
(ZZ = —%F: AR¥38330080007C) K
FEWEE(EEER])  WEEBENZSE
HEFHNESEMNREBE(EEZ])  BR
NFEREPHR—ZNEANRN - RIEFEE
PR EERIRA AR - MPBERITERE
N EEEZBRNEAAGERAAERER
RE(THELH]) - EEZRE > HEEE
BEBEMNBABYRBRMEREELES
wEEEE - it ASEEDRIEERE
EZBNEENE ZENFIENZERE
B AEERFELHESEZEMERD
RARBRMBEOZESEEZBENRITAR
ERE UHESENEKRABE - E5RAE
AEBRBEL2HSEZENAFELTE
j( °

REBEE_E_=ZFr_F-_—_F+=A
=+—HLIVBRFE  AEETHEERR
R E TP A A RS SE R o B
FRREHH - HEREFELHEMNE
B EERR - SEERBEFE
WNEEIEL -

25. BHEE

31 December 2023

31 December 2022

—E=-= S
+=A=+—AH +=A=+—H
RMBS$’000 RMBS'000
AR%TR ARETIT
Contract assets arising from: E Y5 RE0EE -
Sales of goods (Note 6) SHE R m (Miste) 25,029 6,084
]

Contract assets primarily relate to the Company’s right to consideration for
goods delivered but not yet billed at reporting date. Contract assets are
transferred to receivables when the rights become unconditional.

The expected timing of recovery or settlement for contract assets as at 31
December is within one year.
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26. BALANCES WITH RELATED COMPANIES/ 26. EEEEENTE MEARNE
SUBSIDIARIES
Particulars of the balances with related companies and subsidiaries, in ERRAE N T&Fﬁ B NRINERIEFIB(H
which certain shareholders, executive directors of the Company are also RANBIETRE - ITESNAEE S
direct/indirect shareholders and directors are as follows: FERREREZES) AT
Group
ZF%.
2023 2022
—E=-= B S—
Notes RMB'000 RMB000
BiEE AR®T ARBTT
Due from related companies PEWRBRE A R FRIE
Current; RIS
Xinxiang Xinlianxin Chemicals Equipment  ¥T#8mH/0LvE0Mb T 384
Co, TD. BRAF] () 1,221 3958
Henan Lingtong Xinlianxin Energy CO, LTD. /A f B/ U BE TR
BRAF] 1,025 57
Anhui Xinlianxin Heavy Sealing CO, LTD. LHE L ERETE
BRAA 20 45
Henan Xinlianxin Chemical Group CO, LTD. A vELMp BT 2
SEBRHBRAT 19 19
Xinxiang Shenzhou Anti-corrosion Installation 746 i 45 [ &8 22 4<
o, [TD. BRAF] - 6
Henan XLX Jingmi Fengtou CO, LTD. TR LB BRI EE
BRAF] - 2
2,285 4,087
Due from a related company ESEERT
Non-current: JERNES
Xinxiang Xinlianxin Chemicals Equipment o LB e s
CO, LTD. R A] (i) 6,190 3,522
Due to related companies/related parties @ﬁﬁﬁﬁ’& A/ BES
MIE
Current: BNES :
Jiujiang Pengcheng Port Co,, LTD. TIZHABERAR (ii) (54,093) (54,000)
Xinxiang Xinlianxin Chemicals Equipment BB ME T EE
CO, LTD. BIR AT (iii) (33,096) (3,282)
Henan Xinlianxin Chemicals Group CO, LTD. A Fa DM TEE
BIRAF] (9,146) (261)
Henan Lingtong Xinlianxin Energy CO, LTD. /Al A B2 /L@ 0y
BRAF] (1,191) (842)
Qingjin,Zhang RED (80) (80)
Yunhua,Yan Sk (40) (40)
Zijiu,Fan BFA (20) -
Anhui Xinlianxin Heavy Sealing CO, LTD. ﬁ/L\L/uiiﬂi L]
ﬁﬁﬁ A (5) ()
Henan XLX Jingmi Fengtou CO, LTD. /—JF’TL\L/U RS
ERRA] - (14)
Xinxiang Shenzhou Anti-corrosion Installation 748 T t8 M [ &8 25
O, LTD. BRAF - (13,107)
Xinjiang Antai Shenzhou Fengtou CO, LTD.  ¥Ts@ 3t £ 58
BRAF - (1)
(97,671) (71,632)
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MEBRRHT rorhe financial year ended 31 December 2023 2 —F = =4+ =H =+—HIFHHKF/E

26. BALANCES WITH RELATED COMPANIES/ 26. EEEEENTEMIEARNER
SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) (&)
Company
RAT
2023 2022
—E=-= —E-—F
Notes RMB’000 RMB1000
B AR%T T AREETFIT
Due from subsidiaries FEWHEB A RRIE
Current: BNES
Henan Heli Energy CO, LTD. A AR 1 BEIR AR 19
BRAT (iv) 7,220 7,220
Henan Xinlianxin Fertiliser CO, LTD. AR LB MR
BRAT] (v) 6,437 6,437
Henan Hydrogenpower Energy CO, LTD. AR ERAR (iv) - 3,899
13,657 17,556
T
Due to a subsidiary P — MR BRI
Current: BNER
Henan Xinlianxin Fertiliser CO, LTD. AR LB MR
BRAF W) (182,264) -
Henan Xinzhilian Enterprise Management — JAI E/ VBT BiE (> 22538
Co, LTD. BRAT] (2,330) (1,200)
Henan Hydrogenpower Energy CO, LTD. AR NERERA A (101) -
(184,695) (1,200)

(iif)

(iv)

V)

Balances represent the down payments made for the purchase of
equipment from Xinxiang Xinlianxin Chemicals Equipment CO,, LTD.
Further details are set out in Note 43(a)(ii).

Balances represent the other payables for the capital contribution
for the associate, Jiujiang Pengcheng Port CO,, LTD. from Jiujiang
Xinlianxin.

Balances represent the other payable for installation and
maintenance expenses from Xinxiang Xinlianxin Chemicals
Equipment CO,, LTD. Further details are set out in Note 43(a)(ii).

Balances represent the dividends from subsidiaries as at year ended
31 December 2023.

Balances represents the loans from Henan Xinlianxin as at year
ended 31 December 2023 for the acquisition of NCI and share
buyback
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(iii)

(iv)

AR AT O EME IR ER
RAREBERENERMNR - E—
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KA ©
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27. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED

27. RERREEEYUREER

TIME DEPOSITS EREX
Group
rEE
2023 2022
—E-= —E-_F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B AR® T AREETIT
Cash and bank balances B& MIRTT4E 8 1,162,558 1,469,765
Pledged time deposits [mEGEEHEIET Y
Current ik 676,073 571,663
Non-current JERH - 23,833
1,838,631 2,065,261
]
Less: Pledged time deposits: B BRI EE
Pledged time deposits for bills payable AN S it
B BT 29 (500,462) (217,687)
Pledged time deposits for bank loans PLIRTTE R E IR
B0 E BATF R - (168,400)
Pledged time deposits for L/C and PSR E A
others B8 E B
R (170,852) (206,656)
Pledged time deposits for derivatives FOTET AR
B BT K 23 (4,759) (2,753)
Cash and cash equivalents e kESEED 1,162,558 1,469,765
]
Company
RATF]
2023 2022
—E=-= B F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREFT
Cash and bank balances, representing the cash 38 MIR1T456% © 8318
and cash equivalents MRS EEY 75,365 2,032
]

At 31 December 2023, the cash and bank balances of the Group
denominated in RMB amounted to RMB 1,121,118,000 (2022: RMB
1,375,030,000). The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies,
however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies
through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

R-ZEZ-=F+-"A=+—H HUARE
HAENAEERERBITEBREIAR
1121118000 L ( ZE - —F : ARK
1,375,030,0007T) AR ] B A &%
BEMER - A RIEH B A A) INE
EHEN R EE - EERMNEBTERT
REBEEFBREREETINEZEFH R
TEARE R AHMER -
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WERBRMEE  ror the financiar year ended 31 December 2023 B = F = =4F+ = =+—HIHKFE

27. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED
TIME DEPOSITS (CONTINUED)

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit
rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying periods of between
one day and three months depending on the immediate cash requirements
of the Group and earn interest at the respective short-term time deposit
rates. The bank balances and pledged deposits are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

28. TRADE PAYABLES

An aging analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the reporting
period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

27. REeRREEEFYUREIER
ERER (&)

RITIF IR B B RITIE BN R & F 8 A =
REAE - EREMERNF—HE=(E
AzBmrZ2HE  REAEE AR
EFRME - WIZE B EHERFHRA
KEREA S - RITERRDERERIE
T2 A] Se R AT B R FC BV ERTT ©

28. EFZEMNNIEA

S5 (T BORI 55 B K A0 B2 9 1 (1R

Group

rEE
2023 2022
—E_= —E-F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETFT
Within 1 month TE A AR 1,109,016 469,717
110 3 months 12 3@ A 138,533 86,675
3to 6 months 3Z61EA 77,631 37,820
610 12 months 621218 A 36,013 25,666
Over 12 months 2B A LA E 27,424 25,820
1,388,617 645,698

]

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled on
terms of 30 to 90 days. Trade payables are denominated in RMB.

29. BILLS PAYABLE

The Group’s bills payable have an average maturity period of 180 days and
are non-interest-bearing. Bills payable are denominated in RMB and are
secured by time deposits of RMB 500,462,000 (2022: RMB 217,687,000) (Note
27).

China XLX 2023 Annual Report

BHRENFTEARB N —MRMR30E0HRA
BB - BHEMNTIBUARKE -

29. EBNRE

AREBEKEMNEER TR 1808 AEE -
BARE - BNZEAAREE - AL
EHATF SR R #500462,000 7T (ZF = =
F o ARM 217,687,000 70 ) 3K (MH5E27)



30. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES 30. EStERREMEARIE
Group
rEH
2023 2022
—E'=-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR AREETIT
Current: BPER
Accruals fEETE
Accrued expenses FERTRAS 478,865 423,160
Accruals for construction costs and purchases BREBANEEYE  BE
of property, plant and equipment M ENERTE A 1,118,258 1,151,688
1,597,123 1,574,848
T
Other payables ELth e 508
VAT and other operating tax payables BT N H A T AR T IE 27,071 25,983
Tender deposits RRES 189,909 119,298
Others Hith 273,272 216319
490,252 361,600
Total accruals and other payables (current) FEET B A R H R 508
BEOnS) 2,087,375 1,936,448
Contract liabilities (Note 6) a#aE (Me) 1,346,124 1,514,349
]
Non-current: FEBNHER -
Other payables related to the construction of R - BB MRS
property, plant and equipment 2 E AR EIE 493,077 589,384
Company
AT
2023 2022
—E'=-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETIT
Current: BPER
Accruals fEETE
Accrued expenses FERTRIS 17,110 15,710
T
Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have an average term of six ~ HMERNKIEBERR L - FHFHR A
months. A
REDED —T=FFR
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31. DEFERRED GRANTS

31. IEZEMEEY

Group
TEH
2023 2022
—E'=-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T AREETIT
Cost: B
At 1 January »w—A—8 156,718 146,052
Received during the year FAUER 61,806 10,666
At 31 December W+ZA=+—H 218,524 156,718
Accumulated amortisation: ZEHE
At 1 January ®n—H—H 74,224 64,552
Amortisation during the year F Y 11,686 9,672
At 31 December R+ZA=+—H 85,910 74,224
Net carrying amount: ARESE -
Current ik 10,526 10426
Non-current IEME 122,088 72,068
132,614 82,494
T

As at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, deferred grants related
to government grants were given to the Group for the construction of
production plants and installation and building of machinery to implement
energy-saving production methods and to reduce production cost. They
are amortised over the useful lives of the related items of property, plant
and equipment. There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies
relating to these grants. During the year, aggregate government grants of
RMB 61,806,000 (2022: RMB 10,666,000) were received by the Group.
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32. LOANS FROM A NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST

32. FEREZEN

Group
rEH
2023 2022
—E-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® TR AREETIT
Loans from a non-controlling interest IEFERE R B AR 49,800 48,800
Less: N
Current portion BNERER 5> - -
Non-current portion FERNERER 49,800 48,800
T

In 2023 and 2022, the loans from a non-controlling interest are unsecured,
non-interest bearing and are repayable only when cash flows permit. The
loans are not expected to be repaid within the next twelve months from
the financial year end hence classified as non-current liabilities.

RZTBZ=FRZFT-_F - RAFEK
BEMERAEER - TirEARERT
ERMEATREE EREHTSRIK
FERETMARNEE  WOBAIER
FEE-

RELED — T —FER

185



186

Notes to Financial Statements

EZI' Z% iﬁ% Fﬁﬁ}. For the financial year ended 31 December 2023 &,

e

ZFT A=A B FE

33. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 33. FFERITREMER
BORROWINGS
2023 2022
—B-=F —EoCF
Contractual Contractual
interest rate Maturity RMB'000 interest rate Maturity RMB'000
Group rE&EE BHFIE A ARETxn BHRE IR ARETR
Current okl
Bank loans RITER
- secured -BHEA 2.40%-6.00% 2024 731,400 385%-4.1% 2023 833419
(b) b1 £3 —To=F
- unsecured s 2.52%-6.24% 2024 3,357,082 27%-6.24% 2023 4132624
(@ k113 —E-=F
Loans from leasing BERAEH 4.2% 2024 380,143 430% 2023 590,042
company (finance (MEHRE) k- 113 I
leases) (@]
4,468,625 5,556,085
Non-current FRE
Bank loans RITER
- secured -BER 27%6%  2025t02029 1,183,370 5250%6% 2024102027 892,205
b S ) “TNER
(o) “EohE ZETE
— unsecured - EER 27%5.8%  2025t02027 5,809,990 365%62% 2024102027 5422550
ZECnEE “TNEE
@) kSl 3 S a3
Loans from leasing HERAER 42%  2025t02026 171,147 430% 2024102025 464,687
company (finance (MEHRE) “BCREE “TNEE
leases) © —ECR “EoRF
7,164,507 6,779442
11,633,132 12335527
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33. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 33. FFESRITREMERE)
BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

Group
REME
2023 2022
—E'=-= —E-—fF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AREBFT
Analysed into: DT
Bank loans repayable: AEBRITER
Within one year or on demand —FARIEEREE 4,088,482 4,966,043
In the second year 4,852,770 3,634,656
In the third to fifth years, inclusive 2,090,970 2,680,099
Beyond five years 49,620 -
11,081,842 11,280,798
Loans from leasing company HEQARER
Within one year or on demand —FRFIREREER 380,143 590,042
In the second year F_F 150,960 362,120
In the third to fifth years, inclusive F=ZERF(F) 20,187 102,567
551,290 1,054,729
11,633,132 12,335,527
L
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33. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(@ The Group's bank facilities amounting to RMB 24,674,680,000 (2022: RMB
12,848,354,000), of which RMB 10,488,577,000 (2022: RMB 7,579,079,000) had
been utilised as at the end of the reporting period, are unsecured.

(b) The Group's bank loans of RMB 1,914,770,000 (2022: RMB 1,725,624,000) are
secured loans. The current bank loans amounting to RMB 386,400,000 (2022: RMB
720,145,000) are secured by the pledge of certain time deposits amounting to
RMB 25,000,000 (2022: RMB 3,745,000). Besides, the current bank loan amounting
to RMB 345,000,000(2022: RMB 113,274,000) and non-current bank loan
amounting to RMB 1,183,370,000 (2022: RMB 892,205,000) are guaranteed by
property, plant and equipment of RMB 1,774,640,000 (2022: RMB 1,968,110,000)
(Note14).

(o) The loans from leasing company of RMB 1,444,180,000 (2022: RMB 1,662,102,000)
are secured by certain of the Group's items of property, plant and equipment
(Note14).

(d) As at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, all the bank loans was
denominated in RMB.
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NEE AR 24674680000 ( ZF ==
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REEEA - JHEER -

REBERRTE R AR 1,914,770,000
m(ZZ = ZF: AR 1725624000
L) RBEBER BIARITERA
R #386400000t( Z T = ZF: AR
172014500070 ) M EFTEBHHERAR
25000000 ( Z T ZZF: AR
3,7450007C ) ST YEHHR o E AN - BDEASRTT
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AR ¥113274000 7T ) RIEBIERIE KA R
1183370000 ( Z T ZZF : AR
892,205,000 7T) B3 A FR# 1,774,640,000 7T (=
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33. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 33. FFERITREMER(E)

BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

A reconciliation of liabilities (excluding lease liabilities) arising from ~ BMEGBELEZABEB(TEEHEAR) 2
financing activities is as follows:

Group

LN L

HEROT ¢

Non-cash changes
FHEEE
Acquisition
2023 Cashflows  of subsidiaries Other 2023

—%-= RehE KEHELR Hit —%2-=
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBT R AR®T R AR®T T AR®T T AR®T T

Loans from a non-controlling

SRR E

interest
- non-curren -3ERE 48,800 1,000 - - 49,800
Interest-bearing bankand other 524817 R E LR

borrowings
- current -RE 5,556,085 (3,388,406) 32,000 2,268,946 4,468,625
- non-current -JERE 6,779,442 2,596,362 - (2,211,297) 7,164,507
Bonds payable ENRERSR
- current i) 299,481 (300,000) - 519 -
Total st 12,683,808 (1,091,044) 32,000 58,168 11,682,932

hELOED — T - —FFIR
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33. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER

BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

33. FTRBITREAMMER(E)

Non-cash changes

FREHE
2022 Cash flows Other 2022
Group X5E St Reng it St
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT ARETFT AREFT ARETT
Loans from a non-controlling interest  3ERARIER B
- non-current -3ERE 47,800 1,000 - 48800
Interest-bearing bank and other HERTREMER
borrowings
- current it 6,402,213 (3,075,248) 2,229,120 5,556,085
- non-current | ) 4,966,562 3,961,743 (2,148863) 6,/79/442
Bonds payable ERBEES
- current -RE 198,222 (200,000) 301,259 299481
~ non-current -3ERE 296482 - (296,482) -
Total Bt 11,911,279 687,495 85,034 12,683,808
34. PROVISION FOR REHABILITATION 34. WRIERE
Group
A5
2023 2022
—=E=-= - —F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREBFT
At the beginning of year REH] 25,748 25,342
Additions NE 532 406
At the end of year RER 26,280 25,748
T
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34. PROVISION FOR REHABILITATION (CONTINUED)

A provision for rehabilitation is mainly recognised for the present value of
estimated costs to be incurred in complying with the Group’s obligations
for the closure and environmental restoration and clean-up on completion
of the Group’s mining activities. These costs are expected to be incurred
on mine closure, based on the estimated rehabilitation expenditures at the
mine when the mining licence expires, and are discounted at a discount
rate of 4.65% (2022: 4.65%) for the year ended 31 December 2023. Changes
in assumptions could significantly affect these estimates. Over time, the
discounted provision is increased for the change in the present value
based on the discount rate that reflects current market assessments and
risks specific to the provision. The periodic unwinding of the discount is
recognised in profit or loss as part of interest expenses.

34, MERE (E)

MEREETERBAERR TR AEEF
BESHFETHERRRREMENMEED
EIBMEEMGET AR ERR - BIE
R o] BB HAR R L A AT IR IE S 1 -
ZERATBE B ERILBRARES - Wik
BE-_Z_=F+_-_A=1+—HILFEHN
WIREA465%( T = =4 : 465%) HT3R °
F“ RS HREHTEEERY

o BEEREIMEY  MRBEHERENK
%Eﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬁ%iﬂﬁmﬁﬁ
KHIREE @ﬁﬁmomﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁ
mP R AT BRI —ID

35. OTHERLIABILITIES 35. Hft&fE
Group
AEH
2023 2022
—E-= - F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETFT
Accruals for purchases of coal mining rights BERIBEENETER 105,526 111,856
Less: NG
Current portion mENE D 6,593 6,280
Non-current portion ERBNH D 98,933 105,576
T
36. BONDS PAYABLE 36. ENES
Group
A%E
2023 2022
—E'=-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%TT ARETIT
Analysed into amount repayable: DT RENEE
Within one year —FR - 299,481
Current BNER - 299,481

The bonds of RMB 200,000,000 and RMB 100,000,000 each issued in 2018
and 2020 have a maturity term of five years and three years respectively;
bearing fixed interest rates of 6.98% and 5.20% per annum respectively. The
bonds were fully repaid in January 2023 and May 2023 respectively.

RZBE-NER_ZE_ZFETHARE
2mmmmm&AEMmmmmﬁm%
HRRRAEFR=FAEE - ZEEFFH
H698% K 520%ET B o ZEEHFDHIER
CEI=F-RARZE=FHAEREE
g o
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37. DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the year are as

follows:

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

37. EIEHIE

AERREEREAREMNEEZDIS
e

LR

EERAEE

Fair value
adjustments
arising from
acquisition of
subsidiaries
W B R
DNEEER
DNERR
(Note a)
(Ff=£a)

Total
et

Withholding tax
RHE

(Note b)
(Mt=EDb)

Group RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
rEH AR¥T R AR¥ TR AR® TR
At 1 January 2022 R —F—H—H 27,521 40,999 68,520
Deferred tax (credited)/charged FRIEER (.ﬂ')\)/?l:l RHY

to profit or loss during the year ERERIE (BFaE 1

(Note 11) (2,605) 52,147 49,542
At 31 December 2022 and AT F+=HA=+—8H

1 January 2023 ERZET=-_=F—H—H 24916 93,146 118,062
Deferred tax (credited)/charged FRTEIBZEE GEA) IR

to profit or loss during the year IRIEFLIA (BFFE11)

(Note 11) (2,605) 34,175 31,570
At 31 December 2023 WZZE_=F+_H=+—H 22,311 127,321 149,632
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37. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED) 37. EZEHIE(R)
DEFERRED TAX ASSETS BEHIRERE
Loss available for
offsetting against
future taxable
profits
85 R K Deductible
A ERBURF 2 temporary
KA differences Total
BIEEIE B ERESE et
(Note )
(P )
Group RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
TEE ARET T AR%T T ARETT
At 1 January 2022 R-TE-——&F—HA—A 34351 68,172 102,523
Deferred tax (charged)/credited FREBZE0R) FAR
to profit or loss during the year RIERIE (B5E1)
(Note 11) (13,2006) (4,580) (17,786)
At 31 December 2022 and N-—E-——F+—-HF=+—H
1 January 2023 IR —=F—H—H 21,145 63,592 84,737
Deferred tax charged to profitor G RE Bz RN AR LR 18
loss during the year (Note 11) (W F11) 56,554 15,503 72,057
At 31 December 2023 RZB_=F+_H=+—H 77,699 79,095 156,794
|
Notes: FisE
(@) Deferred tax liabilities arising from fair value adjustments upon acquisitions of (@ WHENBAREENATERARMEEDN
subsidiaries represent the deferred tax liabilities on the fair value uplift of the net BERBAEEA-_Z—TF —T—NO
tangible assets owned by the subsidiaries, arising in 2010, 2014, 2017, 2020, 2021 F = ::—ti ZE-TF B —
and 2023. The deferred tax liabilities are amortised to the profit or loss over the FERZZBZ=ZFELEMBRATAEEER
estimated useful lives of related assets. BEFEENMECHIBEA G - ELEHIE
BEDUEBEEGTERAFHERE
84 o
(b) Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding tax is levied (b) BEPBECEMGEHE R_TZ+F

on dividends declared to foreign investors from foreign investment enterprises

established in Mainland China for earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower

withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland

China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. The Group made provision for

deferred tax liabilities on withholding tax at 5% of the forecasted dividend pay-

out of the earnings of all its PRC subsidiaries because the directors believe that

the PRC subsidiaries would pay out all their earnings as dividends.

TZA=T— A% ZIREERBEAHK
NI E D ERFINEEE TR S
EHEU10% K TEHFEIE o {8 B A b
HIMEEE R RERE R T AR IEL - Al
BREMNBENHEAESER - A£EE R
H A BT R BH AT A & 80 78 R SR AR
B 5% FEERIE 8 EEHR BB -
RAAESRATEMNBE AR TEREEME
BIERKREIRE -

MELED T o=FER
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37. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

(©) Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the tax losses
amounted to RMB 105,526,000 (2022: RMB 97,857,000) as in the opinion of the
directors, it is uncertain whether sufficient future taxable profits will be available
against which the tax losses can be utilised. The tax losses of PRC subsidiary can
only be utilised within the five-year periods commencing from the year in which
the loss is incurred.

38. SHARE CAPITAL

Number of ordinary shares

ERRHE

Issued and fully paid 2T REE 1,218,763,000

The share capital is equivalent to Singapore dollars (“SGD”) 271,030,000 in
2023 (2022: SGD 296,373,860).

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company repurchased 9,358,000
issued shares of the Company in total through the spot market of the SEHK
at a total consideration of HK$39, 154,000 (excluding transaction costs), with
the consideration per share ranging from HK$3.41 to HK$4.5. The shares
repurchased during such period represented approximately 0.77% of the
issued shares as at 31 December 2023. All shares repurchased during the
reported period have been cancelled by the Company on 18 July 2023.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as and when
declared by the Company. All ordinary shares carry one vote per share
without restrictions. The ordinary shares have no par value.

39. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for the
current and prior years are presented in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity.

SPECIAL RESERVE

The special reserve refers to the safety fund accrued but not yet used for
high-risk production.
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37. EERBE(E)

BieE - (&)

@] AERBRBBENECHBEEESEAA
R#105526000T( — B -~ : ARW
97,857,0007T) * JIHNEERARKER
AR RHARTEN AN ERBEERT
BTRETEM - FEMBARNHEESIEE
ATREAZERBFERTAFHANEMA -

38. A&

Amount
&8
2023 2022

—E_= —E-F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARETTT

1,457,380 1,493,096

% RS — = = =4 271,030,000 FT AN
TTFMET)) (ZZ = =4 : 296,373,860
T ©

HE-_ZT--"F+-_A=+—HLFE"
AR FEA39,154,0008 TT (TR EX 5 & A )
FRRERERTRBREMS RTED
KRB TR 9358000 8% © BERA(E
N34 B TTE 4587 - RZHEER/
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FTiE o
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39. RESERVES (CONTINUED)
STATUTORY RESERVE FUND

In accordance with the Wholly Foreign Owned Enterprise Law applicable
to the subsidiaries in the PRC, the subsidiaries are required to make
appropriations to the Statutory Reserve Fund (the “SRF"). At least 10% of
the after-tax profits as determined in accordance with the applicable PRC
accounting standards and regulations must be allocated to the SRF until
the cumulative total of the SRF reaches 50% of the subsidiaries’ registered
capital. Subject to approval from the relevant PRC authorities, the SRF may
be used to offset any accumulated losses or increase the registered capital
of the subsidiaries. The SRF is not available for dividend distribution to
shareholders.

OTHER RESERVE

The other reserve mainly consists of acquisition of non-controlling
interest shares of subsidiaries, capital contribution from non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries and waiver of the interests generated from loan
from non-controlling interests.

Further details of employee benefits reserve are included in Note 40 to
these financial statements.

40. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS RESERVE

This reserve represents share-based payments arising from the issuance of
Restricted Stock Units ("RSU") by the subsidiaries, Henan Shenleng Energy
CO., LTD (“Shenleng Energy”), Henan Xinlianxin International Business
and Trade CO,, LTD (“Guojimaoyi”) and Henan Xinxing Chemical CO,, LTD.
("Xinxing Chemical”) to its employees.

The RSUs are generally vest over two to three years and the employees
must remain in service for a period of two to three years from the date of
grant.

In 2023, 7,450,000 RSUs with average subscription price of RMB 1 per unit
and 15,000,000 RSUs of with average subscription price of RMB 1.26 per unit
were granted by Guojimaoyi and Xinxing Chemical. (2022: 7,450,000 RSUs
with average subscription price of RMB 1 per unit were granted).

39. fRfE (&)
EERES

RIEBEBEBANTENBARNINGBEERE
% REMBRARABRRELERER
(DEEMER]) - REBEERNTEGTE
Al BOR ML PTEE FE BV BR B 1208 M RO ZE 2 10%
PBADBEEEEREE  BEEXEFHER
MRFHRBEEERZENBAREMER
H50% o AZERA BB HLER - JRE K
e Al BERSH I Rt B IR SIR % F
MERARMNEMER - EZEREES A A
RABREH R EDIK °

Huf#

HipfE w2 e mUN B E R m SRR
@A ~ B AR IHE AR AT E R
RIEERAE S A RPAE LR -

EERANFRONE - TFBHR AT B
RMFFE40

40. ERERAFHE

ZHEBRNEB AR EIRZBERE RN
RENRZEEIR]) ~ AREOELBEBRE
BRAR ([BERE 5 1) Ko /o B 241
HABERAR(OE(CE]) ME S THTR
B REN ([REIERREAMA ) MAEL
B AR 1) S 15 B BB s

REIMEREELBETNMNFE=FAR
B BELVEARTHEHEESRBHRSE

E=F-

RZZZ=F BEREZRLE(ED
BREFHORBEBEREEMARKE I TH
7,450,000 PR B M IR R EE 7 R FHIREE R
BB AR .26 7TH) 15,000,000 BR 6114 A%
FEN(ZE=F : REFHRBEER
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40. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS RESERVE (CONTINUED)

RMB 8,301,000 share-based payment expense was recognised for the year
ended 31 December 2023 (2022: RMB 7,613,000) with a corresponding
increase in the non-controlling interests recognised in the consolidated
financial statements.

41. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

41 (A) INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

40. EREREANFHE (&)

AR 7 32 1+ B B R i 7 S AR 5 8,301,000
T(ZE=—F : AR¥7613,0007T) ER
Eti_;:_¢+ B=t—HIFE#
R WHERE IR NERIEIE R E =
RIMEFEIL £ o

41. EXKEHt

A) REFERRIRE

The Group's investments in associates are summarised below: REEREE A RIREBMAT -
Group
rEE
2023 2022
—ZE_-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AREBFT

Jiujiang Pengcheng Port CO, TIZHABERA R
LTD. (“Pengcheng’) (IZ#)) 98,453 96,620

Henan Lingtong Xinlianxin Energy CO,, LTD. AREEBOELEEREREA
(‘Lingtong’) (30D 5,683 4,486

Huanong(Beijing) E-commerce CO, LTD. EE AR EFEIEER AT
(“Huanong”) (IEE)) 3,847 6212

107,983 107,318
]
Place of
registration Nominal value of Percentage of equity interest
Name and business registered capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
g AR AR i HMEAEE ERREERERDL TEXEHR
2023 2022
—E=-= “E-F

Jiujiang Pengcheng Port PRC/Mainland China RMB 300,000,000 30% 30% Cargo handling,

CO, LTD ("Pengcheng’) * # B FREIRH AR 3000000007T storage

VARAR-Z by BEYERHRERH
BRAR(ZH])

Henan Lingtong Xinlianxin PRC/Mainland China RMB 15,000,000 35% 35% Gas operation,
Energy CO, LTD. BB A RE 15,000,000 7T and oil retail
("Lingtong") MR EE A

SR EBLEDRER =&
BRAR([EHE])

Huanong(Beijing) PRC/Mainland China RMB 5,000,000 25% 25% E-commerce
E-commerce CO, LTD. Bl HREAH AR 50000007T BrEB
("Huanong”)

ERULR)EFREBE
RARI(TER])
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41. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

41 (A) INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Aggregate information about the Group's investments in associates that are

not individually material are as follows:

Total comprehensive income net of tax

REIBRTER

The summarised financial information in respect of Pengcheng , Lingtong
and Huanong, based on its IFRS financial statements and a reconciliation
with the carrying amount of the investments in the consolidated financial

statements are as follows:

41. XEBEHG(E)
A) REFENT)IRE (8)

BRAANSEREE R
MAERERT -

AEHRE (FEERIER)

Group

rEH
2023 2022
—E-= —E-4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETT
665 4,675

AR 45 B B R B 765 S o5 2E R 9 B S Rk A %
BREMBREAPREREENEE &
B ERURERNTBERBEZ W
T

2023
—g==

RMB’000
Pengcheng £ AR¥T T
Other receivables H b FEI IR 12,230
Other current assets HEtReEE 81,839
Property, plant and equipment ME - WENMERE 482,655
Accruals and other payables JEETE B N E A EN R (40,773)
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 51 BERTT M E &R (207,774)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value BAEFTENR R FEEERE 328,177
Proportion of the Group's ownership REEHEERENLLE 30%
Group's share of net assets AEEELNFEE 98,453

|
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41. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)
41 (A) INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

SUMMARISED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

41. XEBEHG(E)
41 (A) REEE QN B)IRE (B)

BRI R A

2023
—g-=

RMB’000

Lingtong &} AR®T T
Inventories e 316
Trade receivables 2 5 EMGRIE 1,421
Other receivables HAb ENGRIE 2
Other current assets Himeh&EE 2,832
Property, plant and equipment M - HE MR 15,644
Trade payables B 5 RARIR (1,719)
Accruals and other payables BB A L H A ENFIE (2,259)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value BRATEFENA BN FEEER 16,237
Proportion of the Group's ownership AREBBEEANL X 35%
Group's share of net assets REBEEGFEE 5,863

|

2023

RMB’000

Huanong -4 ARETT
Other receivables HAb EYGRIA 7,535
Other current assets Himeh&eE 9,426
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB L& 913
Accruals and other payables fEETE A L H A E RE (2,380)
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FTERIT REMIER (106)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value BEATEFTEN TR FEERTE 15,388
Proportion of the Group's ownership REEHERAL R 25%
Group's share of net assets REBEGFEE 3,847

|
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41. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

41 (B) MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Financial information of subsidiaries that have material non-controlling

41. XEBEHG(E)
41 (B) EAIFIEIRAET

BRSO B R R 15 B

interests is provided below: FIEAT
2023 2022
—E=-= —E-F
Percentage of equity interest held by non- FEERERISENRELAG
controlling interests:
Henan Xinlianxin Fertiliser CO, LTD. AR OEMEEBR AR 21.43% 23.57%
T
2023 2022
—E-= = —
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥ TR AERETTT
Profit allocated to material non-controlling 5l FE AKFFIEREZM
interests: A
Henan Xinlianxin Fertiliser CO,, LTD. AR DEMEIEBRR AR 85,553 107,914
Capital contribution from non-controlling MBS A RIFEIZEAR IR R A E
shareholders of subsidiaries 89,293 37,319
Acquisition of non-controlling interests of WEEM B N AR IR IR 2
subsidiaries (2,708) (73,704)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests AT T IR R AR B (44,337) (30,357)
Accumulated balances of material non- HE AHAFIER RN
controlling interests: ZEETEREE ¢
Henan Xinlianxin Fertiliser CO, LTD. JARELEMEEER A 517,292 358,852
T
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X% &6 (F)
B) EAIIEA
TRIERT Lk B R

41. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED) 41.
R (%)

TE’JE

41 (B) MATERIAL PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
B IR

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial information of the

China XLX 2023 Annual Report

above subsidiaries. The amounts disclosed are before any inter-company ~ #t B SR INET R RIREHRTZ
eliminations: B -
2023 2022
—E'=-= —EoF
RMB’000 RMB'000
Summarised statement of profit or loss: BRREE: AR®T AREFIT
Revenue from contracts with customers KEEFPAHMUA 24,054,429 23,736,145
Cost of sales SHERA (18,984,372) (18,551,544)
Gross profit E5 5,070,057 5,184,601
Profit before tax BRBLAD R R 1,963,212 2,212,587
Income tax FTiS#i 255,920) (311,309
Profit for the year from continuing operations 334 48 % = 4 (Y £ %R 1,707,292 1,901,278
Total comprehensive income 2HENELEZE 1,707,292 1,901,278
Attributable to non-controlling interests eI AR R P AL 85,554 107,914
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests SAS T IR AE I A AR B 44,337 30,357
T
2023 2022
—E=-= - —F
RMB’000 RMB'000
Summarised statement of financial position: B TR R R E : AR¥T T ARETT
Inventories and cash and bank balances FE  ReRRITHES 3,243,776 3,500,415
Property, plant and equipment and other non-  #1% ~ fiE M &8 M E A
current assets ERBEE 24,593,483 22,965,628
Trade and other payables FERTRR R R E M FE TR (5,805,039) (4413,294)
Interest-bearing loans and borrowing and FTERITREMBITKR ﬁ
deferred tax liabilities MIEE & (11,793,417) (13,092,081)
Total equity RS 10,238,803 8,960,668
Attributable to: AT ATRELS -
Equity holders of parent HAREREEA 9,721,510 8,601,816
Non-controlling interests FEE IR 517,293 358,852
T



42. COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following capital and other commitments at the end of

the reporting period:

42, KiE
REBRIREHRES AT E R K E A #

Group
rEE
2023 2022
—E-=F - —F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARBFT
Capital commitments BARESE
Contracted, but not provided for: DET AR B -
Buildings BF 36,488 108457
Plant and machinery TR R i 28 403,366 243,191
439,854 351,648
T
Other commitments H b dE
Purchases of raw materials BEREME 125,635 350,014
T
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43. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

43, BEFRZ

(@  Inaddition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these financial (@)  BR TEULFMBHRKREMEH %kL
statements, the Group had the following transactions with related E’] RHN » REBRF RN E
parties during the year: HEITTIRS -

2023 2022
—E-=fF —ZT--F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
M AR®T T AREFT
Sales of electricity, water and steam to: * FATARIEEKE M ;iﬁ o (i)
— Jiujiang Pengcheng Port CO, LTD - UIZBABERR 1,712 1777
1,712 1,777
T
Sales of goods and raw material to: RN TREEEERR
JRATRE -
- Henan Lingtong Xinlianxin Energy CO, LTD. /TﬁmL'L\ DEEIR
BRA 164 298
~ Anhui Xinlianxin Fengtou CO, LTD * - RROELHBEARD 4 29
205 327
T
Purchases of equipment,installation and maintainanceand A TR RIEE 2 - TEE
service fee expenses from: ’E*’ji;g}/(&ﬁﬁ%g’fifd (i
- Jiujiang Pengcheng Port CO, LTD. - NVIEHABRERA 39,886 57,165
— Xinxiang Xinlianxin Chemicals Equipment CO, LTD. * - %ﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁ'b}qu{tl 1%
BRA 14,293 10271
—Henan Lingtong Xinlianxin Energy CO, LTD - ﬂfﬁﬁ@/b@f&\ﬁﬁﬁ
BRATF - 508
— Anhui Xinlianxin Fengtou CO, LTD * - ZHLELHBEFRA = 5
- Xinxiang Shenzhou Anti-corrosion Installation CO, LTD. - ¥i4Bme | & 2ot
BRAA - 24,165
54,179 92,114
T
Purchase of goods or raw materials from: R TRAIEEERKEN
B i
- Henan Lingtong Xinlianxin Energy CO, LTD - /TﬁmL'U DEER
BRA 8,226 4,791
8,226 4,791
T
Operating lease income from: RENTRARGEERERA
— Xinxiang Xinlianxin Chemicals Equipment CO, LTD # — OB TR
BRA 193 353
T

202 China XLX 2023 Annual Report



43.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these financial
statements, the Group had the following transactions with related
parties during the year: (continued)

43,
(a)

RELSXS (&)

BR T FE L B A 5 ok B A B oy Bt
MR ZIN - AERERFRERRES
EITTIRS - ()

2023 2022
—EBC-=HF —E-F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
BizE ARBTR ARBEFT
Service income from: REATRARIBRBHA ()
~ Xinxiang Xinlianxin Chemicals Equipment CO, LTD. ¥ - T E M TR

BRAR) 19 19

— Henan Xinlianxin Chemicals Group CO, LTD/ —AmEbEME IR
BRAA) 19 19

- Henan Xinlianxin Jingmi Fengtou CO, LTD/ SHELENEEZEE
ABAR ] ,
38 57

T

# These companies are subsidiaries of Henan Chemicals Equipment CO., LTD., f ZERF AR IREBRARNIE
which has common shareholders with the Company. The Company’s executive AF] AR T IR R E AR A 78 AR R AR
directors and executive officers have certain equity interests in Henan Chemicals A« RAFKHITES RITHA BRI

(iii)

Equipment CO,, LTD.

The amounts represent gross sales of by-products.

The sales of electricity were made according to the unit cost of electricity
announced by the Henan Province Development and Reform Committee (;7
BERFMEZR B D) The sales of water and steam were made according to
mutually agreed terms with reference to the sales contract between the parties.

The purchases of equipment, installation and maintenance and service fee
expenses were charged by Xinxiang Xinlianxin Chemicals Equipment CO,, LTD.
and Jiujiang Pengcheng Port CO,, LTD. respectively based on the mutually agreed
terms with reference to the sales contract between the parties. The related party
transactions with Xinxiang Xinlianxin Chemicals Equipment CO,, LTD. constitute
continuing connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14 A of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The purchases of goods and raw materials were charged by Henan Lingtong
Xinlianxin Energy CO,, LTD. from which the group purchased fuel oil, spare parts

and gas respectively.

The service income represents brand royalty paid by related parties.

*

(iif)

ETREERRABERE TIGHE -

ZESTHERRIERNHERE -

HEENDBRBETHEERNNEZES
R E N ERIALEH & RKRE
ATRIRHE S KR N BT I E 2 1R
HAEH -

BERE RRBRMAEEBUNRBEX
HIVIRIR I & A KR T & Kb E 2 &
Ao BB ST OB M TRIEBR A A
RIIEHMAEBAR R FUER - BT
SEMETREBEBRARETORES R
ZERERMERHMARABES LT
RAETOABIRENERERS -
REBERMEM ST EERLELER
AR BUER - AL A H BB PEH
TR REA

PRI AR T S N mIgERE -

RELED — T —FER
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WERBRMEE  ror the financiar year ended 31 December 2023 B = F = =4F+ = =+—HIHKFE

43. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(b) Compensation of directors and key management personnel of the

43. BEIXRZ (HE)
b)) AEBEFTLIZEEEABNH

Group: [

Group

rEE
2023 2022
—E-=F B4
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETIT
Directors'fees Yk 1,650 1,050
Salaries and bonuses He MIEAT 34,909 33,688
Contributions to defined contribution plans TE BRI Rl E KA S 126 117
36,685 34,855

]

Further details of the directors' remuneration are included in Note 9 to these
financial statements.
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44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments at

the end of the reporting period are as follows:

FINANCIAL ASSETS

44,

BoBITHEMIA

TREE

IFRS 9 measurement category

BRI A 5 22 R 56 9 S B R

REEHR FEeRITANKREER
T~

2023
—g-=

Fair value Fair value

through through

profit or loss odl
BATYE RATFEFA  Amortised cost Total
FABE Htt2EKE B #ct
Group RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
rEE ARBTR ARETT ARMT R ARET
Equity investments RiERE 19 37,482 = = 37,482
Trade and bills receivables BHRUEREYRE 2% - 259,618 878,483 1,138,101

Financial assets included in deposits and SRS RE M EYGEIA

other receivables MeREE 20 - - 153,044 153,044
Due from related companies [EWREE N RIFIR 2% - - 8,475 8,475
Pledged time deposits EHEATHER 27 = = 676,073 676,073
Cash and cash equivalents ReKAES5EYD 27 - - 1,162,558 1,162,558
Contract assets ANEE 25 - - 25,029 25,029
Derivative financial instruments ITEEmIA 23 - - 9,015 9,015
37,482 259,618 2,912,677 3,209,777

hELED —

= — =

=__

FFEH
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44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

(CONTINUED)

FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

44,

ROBIIRHNEEMT A (&)

BMEE (&)

F3

IFRS 9 measurement category
R B REEE 9 2R

2022
T F

Fair value Fair value

through through

profit or loss od
BOTE  RATEFA Amortised cost Total
TAER A2 ENE B A 5t
Group Notes RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
bis .| st ARETFT ARETFT AREFT AREFT
Equity investments RERE 19 18525 - - 18525
Trade and bills receivables B REUFERENEE 24 - 160,134 859,541 1,019,675

Financial assets included in deposits and SRS RAMEYGIA

other receivables REeREE 20 - - 69,244 69,244
Due from related companies EE B ARIZUR 26 - - 7,609 7609
Pledged time deposits EEAEHER 27 - - 595,496 595496
Cash and cash equivalents ReLBREEEY 27 - - 1,469,765 1,469,765
Contract assets EHEE 25 - - 6,084 6,084
Derivative financial instruments TEeRIA 23 - - 9,827 9,827
18525 160,134 3,017,566 3,196,225
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44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

(CONTINUED)
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

44, ZEDFEHRHNESETE (E)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

REBHEHEASENEMEE

2023 2022

—E=-= —E-F

Group Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

rEH BteE ARETR AREFT

Trade payables B 5 R RIE 28 899,407 645,608

Bills payable FERTE& 29 1,428,278 496618
Financial liabilities included in accruals and ~ 5F AFERT & A & HAb

other payables ENFIENSREBE 30 2,553,381 2,499,349

Due to related companies RN RE R R FUA 26 97,671 71,632

Loans from a non-controlling interest IR R E R 32 49,800 48,800

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 5188877 R E M f&3X 33 11,633,132 12,335,527

Bonds payable JERHES 36 - 299,481

Lease liabilities HERE 15 78,669 23,251

16,740,338 16,420,856

T
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44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 44, BROFEIRNEBMTE (F)
(CONTINUED)
FINANCIAL ASSETS EREE

IFRS 9 measurement category

B B S 3 3 5 E R 56 0 SR AT B SR

2023
—8s-=

Fair value

through

profit or loss
Amortised cost BAFEETA Total
Company Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
KAT Bt e AR%T T AR®T T AR® T
Equity investments IR A& 19 - 7,844 7,844
Due from subsidiaries PR B A RIRIE 26 13,657 - 13,657
Cash and cash equivalents B RFSEEY 27 75,365 - 75,365
89,022 7,844 96,866

IFRS 9 measurement category

BRI F ¥R RIS o SRt 2385

2022
—E-_F

Fair value

through

profit or loss
Amortised cost IR RAFEFTA Total
BESHRAR B HEt
Company Notes RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
RRAF liEss ARETT AREFT ARETFT
Equity investments g gy 19 - 11,817 11,817
Due from subsidiaries JRE W o 8 X R RR IR 26 17,556 - 17,556
Cash and cash equivalents He kASEEYD 27 2,032 - 2,032
19,588 11,817 31,405
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44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
(CONTINUED)

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

44, ZEDFEHRHNESETE (E)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

RBHERAIENESREE

2023 2022

—E_= T

Company Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

AR F] k=3 ARET T AREETTT
Financial liabilities included in accruals STAFEETE A K H A

and other payables ENFENSHEE 30 17,110 15,710

Due to a subsidiary BN —RWB A RFIE 26 184,695 1,200

201,805 16,910

T
45. FAIRVALUE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 45, BEEREBNAYE

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHIES

The Group categorises fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy

that is dependent on the valuation inputs used as follows:

Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market for identical
assets or liabilities that the Group can access at the
measurement date;

Level2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or
indirectly; and

Level3 - Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

D HERER

REERBAFEBRE AV ETEET
D8 ZERIORRITERN G ER
A

AREBEETE A A AESE
HREESBERERTS
MRE CRIEAE)

£ -

FH - FAMERBENMIMME
EXBRBEZBARE  TE
BEREERR K

F=H - EBEELRENTAERGA
2% -
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45. FAIRVALUE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

(CONTINUED)

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE

The following table shows an analysis of each class of assets and liabilities
measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period:

Quoted prices in

45. BEERABENAVEGE

BRAFEFENEERAS
TREFINHFERARR R FEFTENER

BERBEDN

TEME
2023

—=—=

===
Fair value measurements at the end of the reporting period using

RAUTERRBEHMANAFERNE

active markets Significant
foridentical observable inputs Significant
instruments other than quoted un-observable
(Level 1) prices (Level 2) inputs
HEITAERER WEUNEE (Level 3)
THENRE FBEEAARE EEFUHEH Total
(E—#%) (B=R) ABE(E=R) et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥T T AR¥T T AR¥T T AR¥TT
Assets measured at fairvalue RAFZEENEE
Financial assets: EHEE -
Equity investments gt & 30,774 - 6,708 37,482
Derivative financial instruments T4 4T & - 9,015 - 9,015
Bills receivable el - 259,618 - 259,618
Financial assets as at N-B-_=%+—8
31 December 2023 Et+t—HWERMEE 30,774 268,633 6,708 306,115
|
Group
REE
2022
B CF
Fair value measurements at the end of the reporting period using
FRATERAREBRROQTETZE
Quoted prices in
active markets Significant
foridentical ~ observable inputs Significant
instruments  other than quoted un-observable
(Level 1) prices (Level 2) inputs
MRIARGE  REINER (Level 3)
TISMME AERGARE SETAHEE Total
(B—#) (B=@) AEE(BE=H) “Et
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFIT AREFIT ARBFIT AREFIT
Assets measured at fairvalue I AFEEFENEE
Financial assets: THEE -
Equity investments fRiERE 11817 - 6,708 18,525
Derivative financial instruments ~ $T4 &R TE - 9,827 - 9,827
Bills receivable EWER - 160,134 - 160,134
Financial assets as at N-EBE-_—_%+=8
31 December 2022 =t+—HBHNEREE 11,817 169,961 6,708 188,486
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45. FAIRVALUE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

(CONTINUED)

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE (CONTINUED)

Quoted prices in
active markets
for identical

45. BEEREBENXVEE

BAFEFENEERERE (A)

Company
AT
2023
—=E-=

Fair value measurements at the end of the reporting period using

RAUT BRRBEHARN AP EE

Significant
observable inputs

instruments other than quoted

(Level 1)
EHR T ERER
TiZHRE
(FE—#%)
RMB’000
AR¥TT

Assets measured at fair value

BAPEBHEE

prices (Level 2)
WEUNEE
AT R A BIE
(BB=#)
RMB’000
AR¥T T

Significant
un-observable
inputs

(Level 3)
EETAHEG
AR (B=4)
RMB’000
AR¥T T

Total

et
RMB’'000
AR¥T T

Financial assets: THEE
Equity investments R & 7,844 - - 7,844
Financial assets as at R-B-=%+=8

31 December 2023 =t+t—-HHERMEE 7,844 = - 7,844

Quoted prices in

Company
ENG
2022
—E-F
Fair value measurements at the end of the reporting period using

RANTEERRERROAFENE

active markets Significant
foridentical ~ observable inputs Significant
instruments  other than quoted un-observable
(Level 1) prices (Level 2) inputs
HRITARER MEUINEE (Level 3)
TIZHME FERBAZE SETA8RE Total
(B—#) (B ABE(E=HR) Ky
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFIT AREFIT AERETT AREFIT
Assets measured at fairvalue RN EFENEE
Financial assets: THEE
Equity investments A& 11,817 - - 11,817
Financial assets as at R-ZT=_—F+=A8
31 December 2022 =t+—BHEREE 11,817 - - 11,817
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45. FAIRVALUE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
(CONTINUED)

LEVEL 2 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The following is a description of the valuation techniques and inputs used
in the fair value measurement for assets and liabilities that are categorised
within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy:

BILLS RECEIVABLE

The fair value of bills receivable is estimated by discounting expected future
cash flows at market incremental lending rate at the end of the reporting
period.

DERIVATIVE

Foreign currency swap and future are valued using a valuation technique
with market observable inputs. The most frequently applied valuation
techniques include forward pricing and swap model, using present value
calculation. The model incorporates various inputs including the credit
quality of counterparties, foreign exchange spot and forward rates and
forward rate curve.

LEVEL 3 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

0) INFORMATION ABOUT SIGNIFICANT UNOBSERVABLE INPUTS USED
IN LEVEL 3 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Unguoted equity investment

The fair value of the unquoted equity investment designated at fair value
through profit or loss has been estimated using a market-based valuation
technique based on assumptions that are not supported by observable
market prices or rates.
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BoRDFETFE
AT RAFEREMRERGERMTMEA

B - RIED R AFERBRE =
BHEENEE
eSS

NI 2 T BB RS AT
88 BRI TR T AR R R
i

PTATE

SMNEEREIN B ERAB NS A BRHA
R A ERMETHE - KERNMGE
R B4R AIREF E 80 E B E B i 5
EE - ZRIVMAT R ARE - BEX
SZHFNERLE  INERE - ZRHIEX
KR HAE R AR 4R

E=HATEIE
0 FERATEHETHEAEET
TR A BB AR

DA

EERRNFESABSEHIEETRARE S
MAFEDERNL EBERBEME LR
SRR REIR AT S ET ARG



45. FAIRVALUE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
(CONTINUED)

LEVEL 3 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED)

0) INFORMATION ABOUT SIGNIFICANT UNOBSERVABLE INPUTS USED
IN LEVEL 3 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED)

Unguoted equity investment (continued)

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to the valuation of
financial instruments together with a quantitative sensitivity analysis as at
31 December 2023:

45. BEEREBENXVEE

E=MATEE ()

)  F=RRFEAERAEREEDT
AR ASIERERER (8)

FEE RIS ()

TR - E-_=%+-"A=+t—H%&®/
TAGBENSE RN A ERE A SRR EE
B A F ENEURE DT -

Significant

unobservable input
Valuation technique BERRAHE Range  Sensitivity of fair value to the input
fR{E R BWABE HE AHEHBABBNBRE
Unquoted equity investment at fair Valuation multiples Average P/B 2023:1.00 5% (2022: 5%) increase in multiple
value through profit or loss HERBE multiple of peers (2022:1.15)  would result in increase in fair value by
RAFEFFABREAOAR LT F1TRIFEH ZE=F 1100 RMB 354,930 (2022: RMB 358,000)

R E

THEREE (ZZT-—4 :1.15)

EEEAN 5% (Z B 4 : 5%) -
B E BN TESE AR 354,930 7T
(ZZ==%F : ARM3580007T)

Discount for lack of - 2023: 30% (2022: 20%)
TR —F 1 30%
T 20%)

marketability
R B H M BRIR

5% (2022: 5%) increase in discount
would result in decrease in fair value by
RMB 152,000 (2022: RMB 76,000)
BEIRIE 5% (T = —4F : 5%)
EEEAFERD AR 152,000 7T
(ZF= =% : AR¥760007T)

(1 VALUATION POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

It is the Group's policy to engage external valuation expert to perform
valuation of unquoted equity securities. The management is responsible
for selecting and engaging valuation experts that possess the relevant
credentials and knowledge on the subject of valuation, valuation
methodologies, and IFRS 13 fair value measurement guidance.

Management reviews the appropriateness of the valuation methodologies
and assumptions adopted, and the reliability of the inputs used in the
valuations.

There has been no transfer from Level 1 and Level 2 to Level 3 for the
financial years ended 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022.

n  HEBREERF

AEBNHEREHBIIBHEZ R KRR
EBOBRAESFETHE BEEEREER
KESRERHARR - FHE TR M BIER BT 75
HEEQE 13 [ AFEAEES I THE
AEHEEEENBNTEER

B B TR A A ETE R RER A E
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45. FAIRVALUE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
(CONTINUED)

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS NOT MEASURED AT
FAIR VALUE AND WHOSE CARRYING AMOUNTS ARE REASONABLE
APPROXIMATION OF FAIR VALUE

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash equivalents,
pledged time deposits, trade and bills receivables, deposits and other
receivables, amounts due from/to related companies, trade and bills
payables, loans from a non-controlling interest and financial liabilities
included in accruals and other payables approximate to their carrying
amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these instruments.

The Group's corporate finance team headed by the finance manager is
responsible for determining the policies and procedures for the fair value
measurement of financial instruments. The corporate finance team reports
directly to the Chief Financial Officer and the Audit Committee. At each
reporting date, the corporate finance team analyses the movements in the
values of financial instruments and determines the major inputs applied in
the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by the Chief Financial
Officer. The valuation process and results are discussed with the audit
committee twice a year for interim and annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at the
amounts at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation.
The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair
values:

The carrying amounts of financial liabilities approximate to their fair values.
The fair value of the non-current portion of accruals and other payables,
loans from a non-controlling interest, interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings and bonds payable have been calculated by discounting the
expected future cash flows using rates currently available for instruments
with similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The Group’s
own non-performance risk for non-current accruals and other payables,
loans from a non-controlling interest, interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings and bonds payable as at 31 December 2023 was assessed to be
insignificant.

LIABILITY MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE:

The Group had no financial liability measured at fair value as at 31
December 2023 and 31 December 2022.
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

The Group is exposed to financial risks arising from its operations and
the use of financial instruments. The key financial risks include credit
risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and foreign currency risk. The board of
directors reviews and agrees policies and procedures for the management
of these risks, which are executed by the chief financial officer and finance
manager.

The following sections provide details regarding the Group's exposure
to the above-mentioned financial risks and the objectives, policies and
processes for the management of these risks.

(A)  CREDITRISK

Credit risk is the risk of loss that may arise on outstanding financial
instruments should a counterparty default on its obligations. The Group's
exposure to credit risk arises primarily from trade and other receivables.
For other financial assets such as cash and cash equivalents, pledged time
deposits, equity investments, amounts due from related companies, bills
receivables and deposits and other receivables, the Group minimises credit
risk by dealing exclusively with high credit rating counterparties.

The Group's objective is to seek continual revenue growth while minimising
losses incurred due to increased credit risk exposure. The Group trades only
with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that
the majority of customers who wish to trade are required to pay cash on
delivery or in advance before collecting any goods. A minority of customers
who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification
procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing
basis and the Group's exposure to bad debts is not significant.

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial recognition of
asset and whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk on an
ongoing basis throughout each reporting period.

The Group has determined the default event on a financial asset to be when
the counterparty fails to make contractual payments, within 90 days when
they fall due, which are derived based on the Group's historical information.
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(A)  CREDIT RISK (CONTINUED)

The Group considers “low risk” to be an investment grade credit rating with
at least one major rating agency for those investments with credit rating.
To assess whether there is a significant increase in credit risk, the Company
compares the risk of a default occurring on the asset as at reporting date
with the risk of default as at the date of initial recognition. The Group
considers available reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking
information which includes the following indicators:

- Internal credit rating

- External credit rating

- Actual or expected significant adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
change to the borrower’s ability to meet its obligations

- Actual or expected significant changes in the operating results of
the borrower

- Significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of
the same borrower

- Significant changes in the expected performance and behaviour of
the borrower, including changes in the payment status of borrowers
in the group and changes in the operating results of the borrower.

Regardless of the analysis above, a significant increase in credit risk is
presumed if a debtor is more than 90 days past due in making contractual
payment.

The Group determined that its financial assets are credit-impaired when:

- There is significant difficulty of the issuer or the borrower

- A breach of contract, such as default or past due event

- It is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation

- There is a disappearance of an active market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulty

The Group categorises a loan or receivable for potential write-off when a
debtor fails to make contractual payments more than 360 days past due.
Financial assets are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovery, such as a debtor failing to engage in a repayment plan with the
Group. Where loans and receivables have been written off, the Company
continues to engage enforcement activity to attempt to recover the
receivables due. Where recoveries are made, these are recognised in profit
or loss.
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(A)  CREDIT RISK (CONTINUED)

The Group's debt instrument at fair value through OCI comprised solely of
bills receivable that are graded in the top investment category by A and,
therefore, are considered at low credit risk.

The Group provides for lifetime expected credit losses for all trade
and other receivables using a provision matrix. The provision rates are
determined based on the Group's historical observed default rates analysed
in accordance to days past due by grouping of customers based on
customer type. The expected credit losses also incorporate forward looking
information such as GDP growth and central bank base rates.

The information about the credit risk exposure on the Group’s trade and
other receivables using provision matrix and the loss allowance movement
of trade and other receivables are disclosed in Note 24.

EXPOSURE TO CREDIT RISK

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each class of financial
assets recognised in the statement of financial position.

CREDIT RISK CONCENTRATION PROFILE

The Group assesses concentration of credit risk by monitoring on an on-
going basis the aged analysis of its trade receivables. There are no significant
concentrations of credit risk within the Group. At 31 December 2023, the
Group's trade receivables of RMB 57,374,000 (2022: RMB 98,186,000) were
due from its 10 largest customers.

(B)  LIQUIDITY RISK

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting
financial obligations due to shortage of funds. The Group's exposure to
liquidity risk arises primarily from mismatches of the maturities of financial
assets and liabilities. The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of stand-by banking
facilities.

The Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents
deemed adequate by management to finance the Group'’s operations and
mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 46. BiBEREEEEZERBEK (E&)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(B)  LIQUIDITY RISK (CONTINUED) (B) REELEMRE(E)

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at the end of the ~ BREBEEXMEIFNBRNR  AEESHAE
reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted payment, is as  RIEREFHROF LR -

follows:
Within 1 year or on
demand 1to3 years 3to 5 years Over5 years Total
VERSRERER 1235 IB5E SERE s
Group RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
158 AEBTT NG S NG S NG S ARBTT
31 December 2023 ZE-CE4ZAZt-R
Trade payables EARATE 1,388,617 - - - 1,388,617
Bils payable ERZE 939,068 - - - 939,068
Financial abilies included in accruals T BEREMERNFE
and other payables MeRak 2,087,375 493,077 - - 2,580,452
Due to elated companes EREEAANE 97,671 - - = 97,671
Loans from a non-controllng nterest FERERER 4,965,166 5,192,817 2,182,417 49,653 12,390,053
Interest-bearing bankand other borrowings 3t &R REMER - 49,800 = = 49,800
Lease libiltes HEER 877 6,889 27422 78,357 121,439
9,486,668 5,742,583 2,209,839 128011 17,567,100
|
31 Decerber 2022 S ol o el
Trade payables AN 645,698 - - - 645,698
Bills payable ERZE 496618 - - - 49618
Financia iabilties included inaccrualsand 5T AREET B R EME(TFUR
other payables MeRak 1,936,448 589,384 - - 252583
Due to related companies ENEELEE 71632 - - - 71632
Loans from a non-controling interest FARERER - 48800 - - 48800
Interest-bearing bank and other borowings 3T 83T RS 5992531 4257931 285512 - 13,105,588
Bonds payable [EfES 300751 - - - 300751
Lease abilies HEBR 5001 4495 797 13204 30707

9450699 4900610 2863093 13204 17227626
|
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(B)  LIQUIDITY RISK (CONTINUED)

The maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities at the end of the
reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted payment, is as
follows:

46. HEEKMEREREREE (&)

(B) RBETEMR (&)

BEBEAQOMERRMNR ARFSHEE
RIEHROZEBORAT

Within 1 year or on
demand 1to3 years 3to 5 years Over5 years Total
VERSRERER 1235 IB5E SERE s
Company RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
O ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
31 December 2023 —E-CE+ZB=1-H
Financial iabilies included in accruals SAEBEREMEMNFE
and other payables MemaE 17,110 - - 17,110
|
31 Decernber 202 S o o =
Financial iabilies included n accruals AR ERREMERFR
and other payables HERak 15710 - - 15710

(C)  INTEREST RATE RISK

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the
Group’s financial instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market
interest rates. The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest
rates relates primarily from its interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
subject to a floating interest rate.

SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS FOR INTEREST RATE RISK

Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments

The Group does not account for fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss. Therefore, a change in interest rates at the
reporting date would not affect profit or loss.
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(@ INTEREST RATE RISK (CONTINUED)

CASH FLOW SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS FOR VARIABLE RATE INSTRUMENTS

For variable rate financial assets and liabilities, the Group has determined
the carrying amounts of cash and short-term deposits based on their
notional amounts, which reasonably approximate to their fair values
because these are mostly short-term in nature or are repriced frequently.
For interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, a change in interest rate at
the reporting date would (decrease)/increase profit or loss by the amounts
shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular
foreign currency rates, remain constant.

46. HIEEREE B FERBER (&)
O  F=mEp(E)

FERETANREREHREDT

WEEERMEERAGEMNS ARECDE
EREREHFERREESBFHOER
BEANHEREMMES  HEXEDE
ANE EBREHREEEHRE - Bst B
RITREAMERM ST - FIRREBHRE D
FBIGR T XIS ORD) /EinE
@ o WA HRRAEEMAZERE - L
HEINEERRRFAE

2023 2022

Increase in basis —E-= —E-F

Group points RMB’000 RMB'000

rEE EEEm ARBTR ARETFT
Interest expense FBFRZ

RMB AR 10 (184) (207)
Interest income FLEMA

RMB AR 10 14 13

T
(D)  FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK (D) SMNEE

The Group holds cash and cash equivalents and interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings denominated in foreign currencies for working capital
purposes. At the end of the reporting period, these foreign currency net
assets (mainly in SGD, USD, HKD and EUR) are as follows:

AEBEFANINEFENRE LIRS EE
MG ERITEREMERELEESR
& MMEHRR - ZFERIINEBENFE
E(X2BRMMPIT - X7t - BT REITT)
LN

2023 2022
—E_= —E-F
Group RMB’000 RMB'000
REE AR¥TT ARETIT
SGD T 160 178
usD E 51,726 48,726
HKD BT 10,295 1,287
EUR BT 140 74,353
62,321 124,544

T
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(D)  FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK (CONTINUED)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible
change in the EUR, SGD, USD, and HKD exchange rates (against RMB), with
all other variables held constant, on the Group’s profit, net of tax and equity.

46. FIBEAESEEHZERBEE (F)

(D) SMERBR (&)

TRETEMAEMAZEERRETE
T REEE AN (EHERREIE M) S
T FINBOT  ERRABT(HARE)H

[EXN SRR REHBNBRE -

2023 2022
—E_= “E-F

Group RMB’000 RMB'000
rEEH AR¥ T ARETFT
EUR - strengthened 5% (2022:5%) EiJT _ B 50 (Z B —4F ¢ 59) 7 3718
— weakened 5% (2022: 5%) - 85550 (Z T - —4F : 5%) 7) (3718)

SGD - strengthened 5% (2022:5%) T ANEIT - 8858 50% (ZF =4 : 5%) 8 9
— weakened 5% (2022: 5%) ~ 85550 (2T 24 1 5%) (8) ©)

USD - strengthened 5% (2022:2%) =T ~ B 500 (ZEZ4F 1 2%) 1,035 975
— weakened 5% (2022: 2%) - BE555% (22 Z4F 1 2%) (1,035) (975)

HKD - strengthened 5% (2022:1%) /BT B 50 (Z B F 1 1%) 103 13
— weakened 5% (2022: 1%) — 5550 (Z B —4F 1 1%) (103) (13)

T
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47. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The primary objectives of the Group's capital management are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholders’
value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in
light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the
underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders
or issue new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies
or processes for managing capital during the financial years ended 31
December 2023 and 31 December 2022.

As disclosed in Note 39, subsidiaries of the Group in the PRC are required
by the Wholly Foreign Owned Enterprise Law of the PRC to contribute to
and maintain a non-distributable statutory reserve fund whose utilisation is
subject to approval by the relevant PRC authorities. This externally imposed
capital requirement has been complied with by these subsidiaries for the
financial years ended 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022.
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47. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided
by total capital plus net debt. Net debt includes interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings, short-term and long-term bonds payable, trade and
bills payables, amounts due to related companies, other liabilities, accruals
and other payables and lease liabilities less cash and cash equivalents and
pledged deposits. Capital includes equity attributable to owners of the
parent less the statutory reserve fund. The Group's policy is to keep the

gearing ratio below 90%.

47. EBEXREE (&)

AEBEREERABLRETEN  BE
BELESBEFERABERNNAEF
o BEFHEEET BRITREMER
RE N EMEMNES ERRMNRANE
NEE - BNBEQRNE - EhEE -
FEETER - Rt ENFALRBEERE R

RekMEEEMREERFR - EXE
BEERAHEBABRLERBECHES -
AEBENBRREDEEEABLEHRTE
90% AT °

2023 2022
—E=-= S
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%TR ARETIT
Trade payables B 5 ENRIE 1,388,617 645,698
Bills payable ANES 939,068 496,618
Contract liabilities aRAaE 1,346,124 1,514,349
Accruals and other payables FEETE A R E A IR 2,580,452 2,525,832
Other liabilities Hib A& 105,526 111,856
Due to related companies e RE A R RUE 97,671 71,632
Loans from a non-controlling interest IR R E R 49,800 48800
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FHERIT REMER 11,633,132 12,335,527
Bonds payable JERTES - 299,481
Lease liabilities HEAE 78,669 23,251
Less: Cash and cash equivalents R BeERReEEY (1,162,558) (1,469,765)
Pledged time deposits EHIRE B K (676,073) (595,496)
Net debt BERR 16,380,428 16,007,783
Equity attributable to owners of the parent S ARIER AEL R 7,687,550 6,886,203
Less: Statutory reserve fund B EERIES (863,518) (665,869)
Adjusted capital KRB ER 6,824,032 6,220,334
Capital and net debt ERNEEFE 23,204,460 22228117
Gearing ratio ERBELE 70.59% 72.02%
]
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48. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

48. RHEBARNRKRE

Investments in subsidiaries

NI PNGIEN S

Company
SN
2023 2022
—E—= = S—
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT ARETT
2,131,622 2,014,915
|

Particulars of Company’s subsidiaries are as follows:

AATIMBRRHFEWOT

Place of registration Nominal value of Percentage of equity interest
Name and business registered capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
A EMREE HMEXREE AREEERER DL TEER
2023 2022
—E-= —Fo-
Direct  Indirect Direct  Indirect
E# it B k3
Henan Xinlianxin Chemical PRC/Mainland China RMB 1948000000  78.57% = 7643% - Manufacture and trading of
Group CO, LTD. B/ R E A ARE urea, compound fertiliser,
("Henan XLX") * 1,948,000,000 7T methanol, and liquid
MELEMEBTE ammonia
SERHABRAR SERHERE -
(DR ) * EEE - BERERR
Xinjiang Xinlianxin Energy PRC/Mainland China RMB 2,100,000,000 - 7857% - 7643%  Investment holding,
Chemical CO, LTD. FRE/ R E R AEE manufacture and trading
("Xinjiang XLX") @ * 2,100,000,000 7T of urea and compound
FENEORERIET fertiliser, methanol and
=L UNG melamine
(TEFELE ) ot REZR - BHERHE
K& AL - FER
=BER
Akesu Xinlianxin Compound PRC/Mainland China RMB 200,000,000 - 7857% - 7643%  Manufacture and trading of
Fertiliser CO, LTD. (‘Akesu HE/RE R AR compound fertiliser
XLX) e+ 200,000,000 7T BEREERALE
& DA IR
BRAT]
(TP BRG] o
Manas Tianxin Coal CO, LTD. PRC/Mainland China RMB 794,000,000 - 7857% - 7643%  Coal mining and sales of coal
("Tianxin) ¥ hEL/ B N BERARREREE
L IPNTNEES 794,000,000 70
BREFAT
(TRfk])es
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("Henan Tailan") @ #
AELELRERR

REARAR

(TERE ) et

48. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 48. RHBRANRE (&)
Place of registration Nominal value of Percentage of equity interest
Name and business registered capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
£ AR AR R HMEREE KAREERERDL TEXH
2023 2022
—E-= B
Direct Indirect Direct  Indirect
B# Ik Bk A%

Jiangxi Xinlianxin chemcial PRC/Mainland China RMB 2,700,000,000 - 7857% - 7643%  Manufacture and trading
o, LTD.°* FRE/ R El AR of urea and compound

TELEMEBTE 2,700,000000 7T fertiliser, methanol, DMF
BRAA e and liquid ammonia

BERHERE  BA
fE - FE - DMF RRE

Henan Nongxin Fertiliser CO, PRC/Mainland China RMB 37,000,000 - 7857% - 7643%  Manufacture and trading of
LTD. (“Nongxin") HE/RE R ARE compound fertiliser and

AR LPEBRAT 37,000,000 7 related products
(TR e BERHERAIERIAE

Em

Xinxiang Country Shoudian PRC/Mainland China RMB 97,165,400 - 7857% - 7643%  Selling and distributing
O, LTD. ("Shoudian’) @ * B R B ARE electricity

MRGLEVEE 97,165,400 7C HERDHEN
BRRRI(EE])er

Henan Xinlianxin Fertiliser PRC/Mainland China RMB 1,000,000 - 7857% - 7643%  Testing equipments
Testing CO, LTD. ("Testing’) B/ E R AR BHRE
e 1,000,000 7T

WL
BRRF (8 ])e

Henan Hydrogenpower PRC/Mainland China RMB 173,000,000 100% = 100% - Manufacture and trading of
Energy CO, LTD. HE/ R E R ARE furfuryl alcohol
(Hydrogenpower) * ¢ 173,000,000 7T BRI ERE

A NERER
RAEI([EAaeR])

Henan Xinlianxin Blue PRC/Mainland China RMB 50,000,000 - 7857% - 7643%  Manufacture and trading of
Environmental Protection FRE/ R El AEE vehicles urea solution
Technology CO, LTD. 50,000,0007C B RIREER
("Henan Blue") @ * REAR

LB ERRR
RHARAT
(TELER])e

Henan Xinlianxin Tailan PRC/Mainland China RMB 10,000,000 - 40.07% - 3898%  Manufacture and trading of
Environmental Protection FE/ R E R AR vehicles urea solution
Technology CO, LTD. 10,000,000 7T BUERREERRRER
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Notes to Financial Statements
WERBRMEE  ror the financiar year ended 31 December 2023 B = F = =4F+ = =+—HIHKFE

48. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 48. MHELRNIRE (&)
Place of registration Nominal value of Percentage of equity interest
Name and business registered capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
A% MR EE B HEMEXREE KAREERERDL TEXH
2023 2022
—E-= B
Direct Indirect Direct  Indirect
B# Ik Bk A%
Henan Black Ecological PRC/Mainland China RMB 60,000,000 - 54.14% - 5267%  Manufacture and trading of
Technology CO, LTD. B/ RE R AEE humic acid
('Henan Black’) ¢ 60,0000007C g R HERER
EEEEERE
ARAH
(TAfRE])er
Xinjiang Black Ecological PRC/Mainland China RMB 110,000,000 - 54.14% - 5267%  Investment holding
Technology CO, LTD. L/ BRI ARM ORI
("Xinjiang Black”) @* 110,000,000 7
MEREEERE
ARAA
(TFBRE])et
Henan Shenleng Energy CO, PRC/Mainland China RMB 110,000,000 - 49.58% - 4982%  Manufacture and trading of
LTD. ("Shenleng Energy”) € * B /B ARE qas
ARARRBENR 110,000,000 7T ST R
BRBEH AR
(TR EeR])et
Xinjiang Shenleng Gas CO, PRC/Mainland China RMB 30,000,000 - 49.58% - 4982%  Manufacture and trading of
LTD. (‘*Xinjiang Shenleng’) @ HE /Bl ARE gas
' 30,000,000 7 BHERHERR
MERLREBERAR
(IF@ExRR])e
Henan Xinlianxin Shenleng PRC/Mainland China RMB 1,000,000 - 49.58% - 4982%  Trading of gas
Gas CO, LTD. ("Henan FE/ R E R ARE HERE
Shenleng’) ©* 1,000,000 7T
MELELRL RERR
ACIIEE), el i
Jiangxi Super Blue PRC/Mainland China RMB 20,000,000 - 7857% - 7643%  Manufacture and trading of
Environmental Protection FE/ Bl PN vehicles urea solution
Technology CO, LTD. 20,0000007C BERREERRRAR
("Jiangxi Super Blue”) @ *
IRRERRRBRARR
Al (DIeE )
Henan Heli Energy CO, LTD. PRC/Mainland China RMB 78,000,000 - 79.75% 51.25% - Manufacture and trading of
("Heli Energy") ** HE /R E R ARE furaldehyde
AERNRERRR 78,000,000 7T BE L HERE
BRAR
(TRAEEIR]) **

China XLX 2023 Annual Report



48. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

48. RKBERARRE (&)

Place of registration Nominal value of Percentage of equity interest
Name and business registered capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
A% MR EE B HEMEXREE KAREERERDL TEXH
2023 2022
—E-= B
Direct Indirect Direct  Indirect
B# Ik Bk A%

Xinxiang Huineng Yuyuan PRC/Mainland China RMB 30,000,000 - 54.14% - 5125%  Selling and distributing
Power Generation CO, LTD. B/ RE R AEE electricity
(*Huineng Yuyuan’) * # 30,000,000 7T HBERDHEN

MATER FREE
ARAH
([EREENR])

Jiangxi Shenleng Gas CO, LTD. PRC/Mainland China RMB 30,000,000 - 49.58% - 4982%  Manufacture and trading of
("fiangxi Shenleng) € ¢ FRE/ B ARE gas

IERZREERAR 30,000,000 7T BEREEMRR
(DIARR et

Jiujiang Pengcheng Power PRC/Mainland China RMB 35,000,000 - 7857% - 7643%  Selling and distributing
(0, LTD. (Yiujiang Power") @ B/ B AEE electricity
‘ 350000007C HERDHEN

NIZHENBRAA
(THIEA et

Xinxiang Xinlianxin PRC/Mainland China RMB 10,000,000 - 7857% - 7643%  Agricultural production
Agricultural Development WD/ B AR BELE
(O, LTD. (*Xinxiang 10,000,000 7T
Agriculture”) @

TR LEOEERE
BRAR([FHEE e

Urumai Black Ecological PRC/Mainland China RMB 35,000,000 - 54.14% - 5267%  Manufacture and trading of
Technology CO, LTD. hE/HE R AR humic acid
(‘Urumgi Black’) ¢ # 350000007 BBERHERER

SRABREAERR
BRAT]

(IREAERE])e!

Henan Xinlianxin International PRC/Mainland China RMB 18,550,000 - 68.00% - 7643%  International business and
Business and Trade CO, FRE/ B ARHE trading
LTD. (‘Guojimaoyi’) ©* 18,550,000 7C HREmERE S

WELELEIRE S
BRAH
(TEIRE S ])e

Shanghai Yibo Water PRC/Mainland China RMB 200,000,000 - 7857% - 7643%  Technological development
Technique CO, LTD. FRE/ R El ARHE e
("Shanghai Yibo") @* 200,000,000 7T

LBSRKBERRAR
RE([ EEaR ) e
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48. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

e

ZFT A=A B FE

48. RKBERARRE (&)

228

Place of registration Nominal value of Percentage of equity interest
Name and business registered capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
£ AR AR R HMEREE ERREERER L TEXH
2023 2022
—E-= B
Direct Indirect Direct  Indirect
B# CFE3 Bk e

Jiujiang Yibo Water Technique PRC/Mainland China RMB 200,000,000 - 7857% - 7643%  Technological development
(0, LTD. (Yiujiang Yibo') ¢ B/ RE R AR UG

NLEBKERBER 200,0000007C
AR NTEE]) e

Henan Xinxing Chemical CO, PRC/Mainland China RMB 85,000,000 - 4927%  6061% - Manufacture and trading of
LTD. ("Xinxing Chemical’) * HE B AR chemical production

ARLELERER 85,000,000 70 Bl LEEER
RAN([DE(LE])*

Henan Xinlianxin Intelligent PRC/Mainland China RMB 100,000,000 - 7857% - 7643%  Manufacture and trading of
Equipment Technology FE/ R E PN intelligent equipment
(O, LTD. (‘Intelligent 100,000,000 7T SEREERRE
Equipment”) ©*

AELEDE R
ARAR([B5
Kfgl)et

Harvest International Business HK/Hongkong HKD 5,000,000 - 68.00% - 7643%  International business and
Limited (*Harvest’) * BE/ B 5000000757 trading

RHEERRAEER BREBERES
RA|([PRMEETR )

Xinxiang Ruicheng PRC/Mainland China RMB 62,500,000 - 51.00% - 51.00%  Manufacture and trading of
Technology CO, LTD. B/ RE R AEE medical intermediate
("Xinxiang Ruicheng') ** 62,500,000 7T SERIEEREPEE

MR ARBRR D BR
RAEl ([ bimas )

Xinxiang Ruinuo PRC/Mainland China RMB 60,000,000 - 51.00% - 2601%  Manufacture and trading of
Pharmaceutical CO, LTD. e/ hE A ARE medical intermediate
(*Xinxiang Ruinuo’) * 60,000,000 7T BUERIREREPREE

ki EXERAF
(T#smaa )+

Xinjiang Xinlianxin Tailan PRC/Mainland China RMB 6,000,000 - 40.07% - 3898%  Manufacture and trading of
Environmental Protection hE/ hE A ARE vehicles urea solution
Technology CO, LTD. 6,0000007C BUERREERREAR

("Xinjiang Tailan") @

MBLELRERRRR

BRAR (T#58
RE])er
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48. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

48. RKBERARRE (&)

Place of registration Nominal value of Percentage of equity interest
Name and business registered capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
£ AR AR R HMEREE ERREERER L TEXH
2023 2022
—E-= B
Direct Indirect Direct  Indirect
B# CFE3 Bk e
Jiujiang Xinlianxin Agricultural PRC/Mainland China RMB 10,000,000 - 7857% - 7643%  Agricultural development
Science and Technology B/ RE R AEE RERR
€O, LTD. (iujiang 10,000,000 7T
Agricultural’) @*
NIDELRERBAR
AR NIEE]) e
Hangzhou Xinnuo Chemical PRC/Mainland China RMB 10,000,000 - 7857% - 7643%  Trading of gas
€O, LTD. (*Hangzhou hEL/ BN ARM HeEmE
Xinnuo') @ * 10,000,000 7T
ML ITRRAR e
Henan Xinzhilian Enterprise PRC/Mainland China RMB 5,000,000 100% - - 100%  Consulting
Management CO, LTD. B /B N i
("Henan Xinzhilian") @ * 5,000,0007C
AELEHARER
[N
(DAL ER ) e
Guangdong Xinmenglan PRC/Mainland China RMB 20,000,000 - 7857% - 7643%  Manufacture and trading of
Environmental BBl N vehicles urea solution
Protection Technology 20,000,0007C BUERIREER
(0, LTD. (“Guangdong RERRK
Xinmenglan”) @#
EROBERRRE
BRAT]
((BRLBE])e
Xinjiang Xinlianxin Chemical PRC/Mainland China RMB 50,000,000 - 7857% - 7643%  Manufacture and trading of
Industry CO, LTD. B/ B ARE compound fertiliser
(‘Zhundong Xinlianxin”) © # 50,000,0007C SUERSHEEER
MELEMLIBRAR
(TERDEL e
Gansu Xinlianxin Modern PRC/Mainland China RMB 50,000,000 - 7857% - 7643%  Agricultural production
Agricultural Technology BBl R N RELEE
CO, LTD. ("Gansu 50,000,000 7T

Xinlianxin") @ #
HRELOELAREERHT

BRAT

([HELEDL])er
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48. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

48. RKBERARRE (&)

Place of registration Nominal value of Percentage of equity interest
Name and business registered capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
£ AR AR R HMEREE ERREERER L TEXH
2023 2022
—E-= B
Direct  Indirect Direct  Indirect
B# CFE3 Bk e
Meifuya Biological Technology PRC/Mainland China RMB 10,000,000 - 54.14% - 5267%  Manufacture and trading of
(Shanghai) CO, LTD. B/ RE R AEE beauty products
("Meifuya Biological’) @ 10,000,000 7 BERHERDER
EREMRR(LE)
BRAR([EXRE
ml)e
Saikete Gas Technology CO, PRC/Mainland China RMB 10,000,000 - 49.58% - 4982%  Technological development
LTD. (‘Salkete Gas) ©* hEL/ BN AR RiFI%
%T%ﬁ’é@&ﬁi(bi) AR 10,000,000 7T
RE([EAERE )
Henan Jindadi Shenleng Gas PRC/Mainland China RMB 100,000,000 - 2529% - 2541%  Manufacture and trading of
CO, LTD. ("Henan Jindadi) * R R E R AR gas
AR RIRLRE 100,000,000 7¢ HERHERR
BRERT
(DAREAH]) e
Jiangxi Blue Environmental PRC/Mainland China RMB 2,000,000 - 40.07% - 3898%  Manufacture and trading of
Protection Technology CO, FE/FRE R ARE vehicles urea solution
LTD. (Yiangyi Blue’) ©* 2,000,000 7T BUERREERRRAR
TREERRMRER
RA(DIREE ) e
Jiangxi Xinlianxin Trading CO, PRC/Mainland China RMB 5,000,000 - 7857% - 7643%  Trading of chemical
LTD. (Yiangxi Trading’ )‘M HE/ R E R ARE production
IRLELESHBRA 50000007 HELSEER
(NIRES))e
Shanghai Ruigan Biological PRC/Mainland China RMB 5,000,000 - 51.00% - 51.00%  Technological development
Technology CO, LTD. BBl AEE BUNEES
(‘Ruigan Biological’) @ * 5,000,000 7T
HEREERRERR
Al([mEEy]) et
Liaoning Xinlianxin Ecological PRC/Mainland China RMB 100,000,000 - 7857% - 7643%  Manufacture and trading of
Technology CO, LTD. R R ER ARE compound fertiliser
(‘Liaoning Xinlianxin”) © * 100,000,000 7T BUERHEREE

FEOEDERRR
BRAT
(MEELEL])
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48. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 48. MHEBLRNRE (&)
Place of registration Nominal value of Percentage of equity interest
Name and business registered capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
A% AR AR R HMEREE KAREERERDL TEXH
2023 2022
—E-= B
Direct Indirect Direct  Indirect
B# Ik Bk e

Neimenggu Xinlianxin PRC/Mainland China RMB 50,000,000 - 100% - 5125%  Manufacture and trading of
Biological Technology B/ RE R AEE furaldehyde
(0, LTD. ("Neimenggu 50,000,000 7T Bl e
Xinlianxin") @

RS LBLERIE
BRAT
(TARELEN]) @

Henan Xinhang Engineering PRC/Mainland China RMB 10,000,000 - 7857% - - Construction engineering
Technology CO, LTD. FE/ R El ARE design
("Henan Xinhang’) @ 10,000,000 7C BETRER:

Note (a)

A LERIMAE
BRR ([Ar ) e
Bt (a)

Guangxi Xinlianxin Chemicals PRC/Mainland China RMB 50,000,000 - 7857% - - Manufacture and trading of
(0, LTD. (“Guangxi B/ B ARE compound fertiliser
Xinlianxin") © * Note (b) 50,0000007C BERBERALE

ERLEMEIARAR
(TEALEL]) e HiFE
(b)

Henan Xinlianxin Talent PRC/Mainland China RMB 1,000,000 - 7857% - - Human resources services
Development CO, LTD. FRE/RE N AR ANERRH
("Talent Development”) @ ¢ 10,000,000 7T
Note (c)

AELEOAMERER
RAEN([AMER]) e b
(e

Xinxiang Shenzhou Anti- PRC/Mainland China RMB 4,000,000 - 7857% - - Anti-corrosion services
corrosion Installation CO, FE/ R E R ARE g o
LTD. ("Shenzhou Anti- 4,000,000 7T
corrosion’) ©* Note (d)

RTRNRLEAR
AR ([HNE I 1) e ff
()

Xinjiang Ruinuo PRC/Mainland China RMB 50,000,000 - 51.00% - - Manufacture and trading of
Pharmaceutical CO, LTD FRE/ Rl PN medical intermediate
("injiang Ruinuo’) . 50,000,000 7T BERIHERETRE
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WERBRMEE  ror the financiar year ended 31 December 2023 B = F = =4F+ = =+—HIHKFE

48. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 48. RHBRANRE (&)
Place of registration Nominal value of Percentage of equity interest
Name and business registered capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
£ AR AR R HMEREE KAREERERDL TEXH
2023 2022
—E_-= —EoCE
Direct Indirect Direct  Indirect
B# Ik Bk e
Jiangxi Xinlianxin Supply PRC/Mainland China RMB 10,000,000 - 68.00% - - International business and
Chain CO, LTD (iangxi RE/ R El AEE trading
Xinlianxin’) @, 10,000,000 7C BEREBLES
Note (f)

TRLELHERER
RAE(DIALED])e

Pt (1)
Xinlianxin Chemicals CO, Thailand RMB 50,000,000 - 68.00% - - International business and
LTD (Thailand) ("Xinlianxin R ARE trading
Thailand") *. 50,000,000 7C ER¥%LES
Note (g)
DEMETERAR (R
B ([DELRE ) *
Mt (g)
* The subsidiary is registered as a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise under PRC law. * Z B A R RAR R R BE 2R A S A9 A
EEERE -
e These subsidiaries are established in the PRC and registered under PRC law. e ZE MR A TR R B W AR BE R BA
R
! Not audited by Ernst & Young LLP, Singapore or another member firm of the Ernst # W IEF Ernst & Young LLP, $T AN sk &2k &
&Young global network TR BT AR At B E5TAE
RS ©
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48.

Notes:

49.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

On 13 March 2023, Henan XLX established a new subsidiary named Henan
Xinhang Engineering Technology CO., LTD. with registered capital of RMB
10,000,000. The main business of the subsidiary is construction engineering
design.

On 8 May 2023, Henan XLX established a new subsidiary named Guangxi
Xinlianxin Chemicals CO., LTD. with a registered capital of RMB 50,000,000.
The main business of the subsidiary is Manufacture and trading of compound
fertiliser.

On 16 May 2023, Henan XLX established a new subsidiary named Henan
Xinlianxin Talent Development CO.,, LTD. with a registered capital of RMB 1,000,000.
The main business of the subsidiary is human resources services.

On 20 February 2023, Intelligent Equipment acquired a new subsidiary named
Xinxiang Shenzhou Anti-corrosion Installation CO., LTD. The main business of the
subsidiary is Anti-corrosion services.

On 17 January 2023, Xinxiang Ruicheng acquired a new subsidiary named
Xinjiang Ruinuo Pharmaceutical CO,, LTD. The main business of the subsidiary is
manufacture and trading of medical intermediate.

On 7 August 2023, International Business and Trade established a new subsidiary
named Jiangxi Xinlianxin Supply Chain CO,, LTD with a registered capital of RMB
10,000,000. The main business of the subsidiary is international business and
trading.

On 18 September 2023, Harvest established a new subsidiary named Xinlianxin

Chemicals CO,, LTD (Thailand) with a registered capital of RMB 50,000,000. The
main business of the subsidiary is international business and trading.

APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the
Board of Directors on 8 March 2024.

49,

RE B AR RE (&)

R-ZEBE-_=F=ZA+=8  WELELK
SLFTHE A RDA RIS M TR TR B R
AaE s FEMEARARARE100000007T
ZHB AR E BRI ARETREGT

RZZEZ=FRANE - AR LELKIL
FHBARERLEMEIBRAA - &F
it & A B A R ¥ 500000007 ° %M B A
AINEEEBARERIEEESE -

R-ZE-_=FRA+/"8  WELELK
SEFHB AR ELNAMERERA
7] FME AR A AR 1,0000007T © %M
BARMNEEXEBAANERRE -

R-IZB-=F_A-+H BeEHEKSE
HHEARF AT BREFRA
B - ZMB AR EEEBRIIBRE o

KRB =F—HA+tH FHHHKE
P DRI e B AR AR © 5%
BRANEIEEXHREENIHEBEPRH

-

R-ZE-_=FNAtHB BEESKH
B ARLIALELHERERAR - &
it & A A AR 100000007 ° ZH B A
AINEEEBABBREKRES -

RZZZ=FNA+N\B - BETRERT
FHBARILEMEIARAE (FR) -
FEE A A A R % 50,0000007C © 3% M B
NAMEEXEBREREBRES -

#EM B ERR

EEe RN T _NMFE=A//\BILETR
TP RE o
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Five-year Financial Summary

TEMBERBE

A summary of the consolidated results and assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published

audited financial statements, is set out below.

VAN 051 AN 5% [ 10 48 25 1 B TR 4F /2 VAR

ERENEERGEHRE  DREEACT

BT REGIHERE -

Year ended 31 December

BEt-A=+—HLEE

2023 2021 2021 2020 2019
— T T ZZTZTHF ZThF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
NS ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Results E4
Revenue WA 23,475,338 23,071,897 16,977,281 10,444,722 8,928,255
Cost of sales SRR R (19,288,318) (18723015  (12,873,163) (8511,863) (7,230,435)
Gross Profit EF 4,187,020 4,348,882 4,104,118 1,932,859 1,697,820
Other income and gains HABYA Rz 298,931 187,293 169,368 198,730 160,349
Selling and distribution HEMDHEAY
expenses (618,274) (529,379) (475,975) (338,899) (272,610)
General and administrative —RITHA
expenses (1,299,158) (1,071,615) (934,618) (624,260) (661,442)
Other expenses HAnhx (40,136) (87,200) (88,589) (129,755) (16,712)
Impairment losses on financial & &l & 2B (B &
assets B (9,310) (9,806) (14,570) (5,640) (10,007)
Share of profits/(losses) of NG|
associates A, (EE) 665 4,675 1,232 (582) 2,298
Finance costs LRI (579,993) (662,193) (583,370) (401,379) (374,076)
Profit before tax FRELADER 1,939,745 2,180,657 2,177,596 631,074 525,620
Income tax expense FriSfiFS (302,451) (372/482) (406,514) (106,926) (111,557)
Profit for the year REEHER 1,637,294 1,808,175 1,771,082 524,148 414,063
I
Attributable to: PATN A AL
Owners of the parent [SYNCIEZZS PN 1,186,882 1,326,211 1,295,445 347,662 316,495
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR M A 450,412 481,964 475,637 176,486 97,568
1,637,294 1,808,175 1,771,082 524,148 414,063
I
Assets, liabilitiesandnon- ¥7%&E - 88K
controlling interests IR AR
Total assets WA 29,133,496 27,867,176 25,508,667 20,955,092 16,490,865
Total liabilities HEE (18,622,498)  (18299,348)  (17,545573)  (14,530,718)  (10,769,185)
Non-controlling interests IEEAR =S (2,823,448) (2,681,625) (2,268,238) (1,893,941) (1,486,439)
7,687,550 6,886,203 5,694,356 4,530,433 4,235,241
]
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Glossary
AR

In this annual report, unless the context states otherwise, the following
terms shall have the following meanings:

"AC" or "Audit Committee”

AGM”

“Board”

"Companies Act”

“Company”or“China XLX"

or "XLX"

“Constitution”

“Director(s)”

"EGM”

“FY2022"

“FY2023"

"Group”

"Henan XLX"

"HKD"

“Listing Rules”

Audit Committee of the Company

Annual General Meeting of the Company

The Board of Directors

The Companies Act (Chapter 50) of Singapore

China XLX Fertiliser Ltd.

Constitution of the Company
Director(s) of the Company

Extraordinary General Meeting of the
Company

The financial year ended 31 December 2022

The financial year ended 31 December 2023

The Company and its subsidiaries altogether

Henan Xinlianxin Chemical Group Co,, Ltd, a
wholly holding subsidiary of the Company

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of
Hong Kong

The Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the SEHK
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Glossary
AR

“Model Code”

“NC"or “Nomination
Committee”

“PRC" or "China”

"RC"or "Remuneration
Committee”

“RMB"

uS$u

“SEHK”

“SFO”

“SGX-ST"

“Shareholder(s)”

"XLX Chem”

Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers, Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules

Nomination Committee of the Company

The People’s Republic of China

Remuneration Committee of the Company

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

Singapore dollars

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

The Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)

Singapore Exchange Securities Trading
Limited
Shareholder(s) of the Company

Henan Xinlianxin Chemicals Group Co,, Ltd.
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